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BIOGRAPHICAL AND BIBLIOGRAPHICAL
DICTIONARY
OF THE ENGLISH CATHOLICS.

Kemeys, David Joseph, O.P., confessor of the faith,
born of honourable parentage, was probably a relative of Sir
Nicholas Kemeys, of Ceven Mably, co. Glamorgan, grandson
of David Kemeys, of the same place. Sir Nicholas was created
a baronet by Charles I. in 1642. He was colonel of a
regiment of horse, and, at the outbreak of the rebellion, was
appointed, by the king, Governor of Chepstow Castle. This
he gallantly and successfully defended against Cromwell, but
subsequently was slain during the siege by Col. Ewer. The
title became extinct on the death of the fourth baronet in
1735. John Kemeys, of Monmouthshire, who was ordained
priest at the English college at Rome in 1658, was probably
of the same family.

David Kemeys was professed at the Dominican convent of
SS. Giovanni e Paolo, at Rome, and after his ordination came
to London. Here he was chaplain to Elizabeth, Countess-
dowager of Arundel, mother of Cardinal Howard. In 1679
he was impeached by Oates as a conspirator. The perjurer,
in his narrative of the plot, asserted that Fr. Kemeys was
nominated by the Pope for the See of Bangor. On Jan. 17,
1679-80, he and several others were brought to the Old Bailey
and arraigned for “high-treason as Romish priests” Fr.
Kemeys was the first brought to the bar, but being very ill
and weak, he was remanded by Scroggs, the Lord Chief
Justice, who sent him back to Newgate, “ that the world may
not say we are grown barbarous and inhumane; we are all
contented he should be set by, Therefore let him be returned
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2 BIBLIOGRAPHICAL DICTIONARY [KEM.

back, and in the meantime you must take care that he have
that reasonable looking to as is fit for a man in his condition
to have.” His lordship then directed that he be taken to bed,
where the poor father died ten days later, Jan. 27, 1679—-80.

Palmer, Qbit. Notices, 0.S.D.; Oliver, Collections, p. 462 ; Oates, True
and Exact Narrative: The Tryals and Condemnation of L. Anderson, &c.,
p- 15 DBurke, Extinct Baronetcies.

1. “The Tryals and Condemnation of Lionel Anderson, a//as Munson,
William Russell, a/ias Napper, Charles Parris, a/ias Parry, Henry Starkey,
James Corker, and William Marshall, for High Treason as Romish Priests,
upon the statute of 27 Eliz. cap. 2. Together with the Tryal of Alexander
Lumsden, a Scotchman, and the Arraignment of David Joseph Kemish for
the same offence. At the Sessions of Oyer and Terminer in the Old Bailey,
on Saturday, Jan. 17, 1679.” Lond. 1680, fol., pp. 53, besides title.

He is several times mentioned in Oates’ “ True and Exact Narrative of
the horrid Plot and Conspiracy of the Popish Party against the Life of his
Majesty Charles I1., the Government, and the Protestant Religion ; with a
List of such Noblemen, Gentlemen, and others, as were the Conspirators,
and the Head Officers, both Civil and Military, that were to effect it.”
Lond. 1679, fol.

Kemeys, Thomas, priest, only son of John Kemeys and
his wife Jane, daughter of John Courtenay, of Tremere, in
Cornwall, Esq., was born in 1575 at Cucklington, co. Somerset.
He was sent to Oxford, where he remained nearly five years,
till his father’s death, when he went to L.ondon and spent three
years in New Inn and at St. Thomas’ Hospital. From his
own statement it appears that his belief in the Establishment
was shaken by the inconsistencies of certain Protestant books,
and that one of Dr. Harding’s works convinced him that
Protestantism was either null or made up of falsity, and that
there was no true Church other than that of Rome. After
mature consideration he was received into the Church through
the instrumentality of Fr. Wright, July 5, 1599. Fr. Rich.
Blount, S.J., then despatched him to Rome, having procured
him a letter of introduction from Edmund Morris to his relative
the Governor of Dover, and thus secured a safe passage across
the Channel. On Oct. 235, 1600, he was admitted into the
English College as an alumnus, and assumed the alias of
Clemens. On the following Aug. 5, he took the college oath,
and was ordained priest Dec. 20, 1603. On May 17, 1604,
he left Rome for England, but stayed at Douay College to
complete his theology, and on May 23, 1605, proceeded to
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the English mission. His subsequent career or the date of
his death has not been ascertained.

Foley, Records S. [, iv., vi.; Douay Diaries; Harl. Soc., Visit. of Covn-
wwall.

1. “Veritas Evangelica ; or the Gospel-Truth asserted in sixteen useful
questions, which being seriously searched into, will open the Way to find
out assuredly the True and Saving Faith of Christ, which is but One, as the
Apostle affirms, Eph. 4 : One Lord, one Faith, one Baptism. Written by
T. K. and now published by R. C. Read; Understand ; and then Censure.
Published with Allowance.” Lond., Nath. Thompson, 1687, 4to, pp. IIo,
besides Title, Epist. Ded. to the Queen, subscribed R. C. (? Robt. Charnock,
who was installed vice-president of Magdalen Coll., Oxford, by James II.
in this year). Preface, signed T. K. (? Thomas Kemeys), and Contents.

Kemp, Francis Boniface, 0.8.B., confessor of the faith,
who used the a/ias of Kipton, was a native of the diocese of
London, and most probably was connected with the family of
his name subsequently settled at Slindon, co. Sussex.

He can hardly be identical with Francis Kemp, who was
admitted a battler at the English College, Rheims, Jan. 8§,
1588, and left for Spain Sept. 17, 1590, for it was not
until Nov. 1, 1602, that he entered the English College
at Valladolid. In October of the following year he joined the
Benedictines, was professed at Montserrat, in Italy, and in
1612 he was sub-prior at St. Malo. Later he came to the
English mission, was apprehended and imprisoned in Newgate
for some time on account of his priestly character, and
eventually banished. He returned to England, however, and
seems to have laboured in Yorkshire, where, according to
Weldon, he was seized with Dom W. A. Hanson, O.S.B., by
Parliamentary troopers, and driven on foot before them in the
heat of summer tiil he fell exhausted to the ground and
expired, July 26, 1643.

In Blount’s list, published in Castlemain’s “ Catholic
Apology,” both Fr. Kemp and Fr. Hanson are stated to have
been slain in cold blood near York.

Several of the same name suffered imprisonment for the
faith in the reign of Elizabeth, and others were members of the
secular clergy, the Society of Jesus, the Benedictine convent at
Brussels, and the convent of the Blue Nuns at Paris. David
Kemp, of the diocese of Exeter, was ordained priest at Douay
in 1581, suffered imprisonment and exile, subsequently joined
the English Bridgettins, and died at their monastery at Lisbon,
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Feb. 28, 1615. John Kemp, gent., apparently of the same
family, was condemned in premunive in Cornwall, on the
occasion that Blessed Cuthbert Mayne was condemned to
death in 1577, and, according to Fox, was still in prison in
Cornwall in 1579, aged 40; Thomas Kemp, a gentleman of
position, is stated by Bridgewater to have been exiled in the
same reign; and, in 1584, Robert Kempe, student of the
Middle Temple, was taken in a search made in Chancery Lane.
George Kemp, son of John and Lucy Kemp, of London, born
in 1626, was educated at St. Omer’s, and ordained priest at
the English College, Rome, in 1651, where he used the a/ias
of Drew or Drury. He was held in great estimation amongst
his brethren, and was elected by the chapter archdeacon of
Surrey and Kent. He is probably the Mr. Kemp, afias
Osbeston (Osbaldeston), mentioned in the diary of Dr. Thomas
Cartwright, Bishop of Chester, in 1686-7. He dined with his
lordship on several occasions in company with Sir Thomas
Grosvenor, Sir Rowland Stanley, Sir James Poole, and
Mr. Massey, of Puddington, to one of whom he was perhaps
chaplain. In 1692 he resided with the Dowager Duchess of
Norfolk at The College, Yorkshire. He died in 1698.
Valladolid Diary, MS. ; Dolan, Weldon's Chron. Notes ; Castlemain, Cath.
Apology; Kirk, Biog. Collns., MS., No. 26 ; Knox, Douay Diaries; Foley,

Records S.J., vol. vi.; Hunler, Diary of Cartwright; Records of Syon
Monastery, M.S.

Kendal, Hugh, priest, first president of Sedgley Park
School, born Sept. 2, 1708, was a younger son of John Kendal,
junior, of Fulwood, near Preston, who died July 2, 1761.
After making his elementary studies at Dame Alice’s schoal,
Fernyhalgh, he was sent to Douay, where he took the college
oath in 1718. For some time after his ordination he taught
poetry and rhetoric, and at length came on the mission, though
it does not appear where he was stationed. A few weeks after
the Rev. Wm. Errington had leased Sedgley Park, Staffordshire,
from Lord Ward, and transferred the boys from the Rev. John
Hurst’s school at Betley, in the same county, Mr. Kendal was
selected to govern the new establishment, and arrived at the
Park on May 27, 1763. The school was modelled after the
plan of Twyford, and as far as practicable the same discipline
was maintained. This he would learn from his brother
Richard, if, indeed, he had not himself assisted at Stamford-
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Lordship, the successor of Twyford school. Owing to the
penal laws being still in force, and occasionally put into
execution, Mr. Kendal had many difficulties to contend with,
and great apprehensions were felt that he would not be able
to maintain his ground. Yet by his prudence and conciliatory
manner he overcame them all, and so far gained the esteem of
his landlord, Lord Dudley and Ward, that his lordship con-
descended to visit and dine with him. When complaints were
made in Parliament that Lord Ward had let his mansion for
“a popish school,” the noble viscount ably defended his con-
duct, and passed a well-merited eulogy upon the gentleman
who was placed at the head of the infant establishment. The
school flourished beyond expectation, and within seven years
the number of students was between ninety and one hundred.
During the Gordon riots, in 1780, it was greatly feared that the
school would share the fate of so many other Catholic estab-
lishments in London and elsewhere, and, indeed, threats were
thrown out to that effect. Though no mischief was done, the
alarm considerably affected the health of Mr. Kendal, whose con-
stitution, already much debilitated by hereditary attacks of gout
and other infirmities incidental to old age, could not bear the
strain of this double assault of mental and bodily affliction.
He lingered in a very weak state till the following year, and
died at the Park, July 2, 1781, aged 72.

He was highly and universally respected. On Dec. 14,
1767, he was elected canon, and later archdeacon, of the
chapter, but resigned about four years before his death on
account of his health. In the difficult task of forming and
guiding his school in those dreary days of oppression and per-
secution, he displayed conspicuous ability and prudence. He
was buried in the churchyard at Sedgley, and was succeeded
in the presidentship by his cousin, the Rev. Thomas South-
worth, whom he had called over from Douay to assist him
during the last three years of his life.

Kirk, Biog. Colins., MSS., No. 25 ; Kirk, Cath. Mag.,v. 495 ; Husenbeth,
Hist. of Sedgley Park; Gillow, Lanc. Recusants, MS.; Knox, Records of
the Eng. Caths. \.; Husenbeth, Memoirs of Parkers, MS. 1.; Sedgley
Park Annals, MS. : 0ld Chapter Records, MS.

1. Portrait, by the drawing master at Sedzley Park, Richard Paddy,
now at St. Wilfrid’s College, Cotton Hall. It represents him with calm blue
€yes, and features in which benevolence and firmness are plainly blended.
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He wears a white wig and a brown coat, the colour generally adopted by the
Catholic clergy of the period.

Kendal, George, D.D., born Sept. 14, 1698, was a younger
son of John Kendal, senior, of Fulwood, near Preston, co. Lan-
caster, of whose family some account is appended. Ie made
his rudiments at Dame Alice’s famous school at Fernyhalgh,
and thence was sent to Douay College, where he took the
college oath in 1717. After his ordination he was appointed
Professor of Philosophy in 1723, and later, having taken his
degree of D.D. at the University of Douay, taught divinity in
the college. In 1734 he came on the mission, but where first
stationed is not certain. Dr. Kirk says he was at Manchester,
but he may have confused him with his brother Henry. Upon
the death of the Rev. Thomas Anderton at Towneley Hall,
July 13, 1741, Dr. Kendal was appointed to that ancient chap-
laincy, which he resigned to take charge of the independent
mission at Ladywell, Fernyhalgh,in Aug. 1744, in place of the
Rev. John Cowban, who removed to Eshe, co. Durham. At
this time Dr. Kendal was a member of the chapter, and was
also Bishop Dicconson’s G.V. in Lancashire. Besides the
duties attendant on these offices, and the charge of the mission,
he superintended Dame Alice’s school, and also continued the
custom of his predecessors at Ladywell of boarding and pre-
paring pupils for the colleges abroad. Indeed, Fernyhalgh
previous to this, for more than a hundred years, and afterwards
until the beginning of this century, was rarely without a fair-
sized school, though it was not always directly connected with
the mission. Several autographs and inscriptions in the class-.
books, “In Usum Schole Sancta= Maria ad Fontem,” still
remain at Fernyhalgh, and attest that Dr. Kendal was the
“master” in 1749, &c. In the beginning of 1754 he was
recalled to his alma mater at Douay to teach divinity, which
he did till he was seized with a malady that impaired his intel-
lect. He was then removed to an asylum at Lille, where he
died Jan. 4, 1766, aged 67.

Dr. Kendal was elected an archdeacon of the Old Chapter,
July 14, 1736.

Gillow, Lanc. Recusants, MS.; Kirk, Biog. Collns., MSS., No. 25; West

Derby Hund, Records, MS.,; Bp. Dicconson's List, MS. ; Ushaw Collns.
MSS., vol. ii. p. 261; Old Chapter Records, MS.

1, Dr. Kendal’s office of Grand Vicar in Lancashire brought him into
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collision with the Franciscans, who complained of him in their appeal to
Propaganda in 1750. This difference between the Vicars-Apostolic and
the friars had long existed. .

The dispute is said to have been revived over the case of a Fr. Hall, O.S.F,
in 1736. It is possible he is identical with Fr. Lau. Robinson, O.S.F., who
in that year went to Biddleston, the seat of the Selbys, and was sent the
usual faculties by Dr. Robt. Carnaby, of Esh, Durham, G.V. to Bp. Williams
in the North. Against this Fr. Robinson protested, and claimed the right of
his own superior to grant them. In consequence the Vicars-Apostolic sent
Mr. Edward Dicconson, a/zas Eaton, subsequently bishop, to assist the Rev.
Lau. Mayes, their agent, at Rome, in urging the enforcement of the decree
of Propaganda of 1695, and the Brief of Innocent XII. of 1696, concerning
Regulars on the English mission.

Another case which happened in Shropshire was made a subject of griev-
ance by Bp. Stonor. The Rev. Jas. Griffith, chaplain to the Talbots at Long-
ford, near Newport, being old and infirm, obtained at his own expense the
assistance of a Carmelite named Gordon in 1732. Mr. Griffith died Feb. 23,
1734, O.S., and the Carmelites contrived to have Fr. Gordon his successor,
though Longford was a secular chaplaincy. At length, in 1742, Bp. Stonor
took advantage of some irregularities laid to Fr. Gordon’s charge and
removed him. He went to Sir John Fleetwood’s, at Newton, near Chester,
another secular chaplaincy. Fr. Gordon’s removal occasioned a dispute with
the Superior of the Carmelites, which was carried to Rome, and was one of
the causes that eventually drew from Benedict XIV. the Regulee Missionis.
Thus the Congregatione de Propaganda Fide issued a decree in 1745,
much to the distaste of Bp. M. Prichard, O.S.F., V.A-W.D., and his co-
adjutor Lau. York, O.S.B., who memorialised Propaganda in 1748. Later
in the same year Benedict XIV. issued his Brief Emanavit Nuper, which
the three secular Vicars-Apostolic, John Talbot Stonor, Benj. Petre, alzas
White, and Edw. Dicconson, a/ias Eaton, appended to a pastoral, and for-
warded a copy in a black envelope to Dom John Placid Howard, Procurator
of the province O.S.B. The triumph, however, does not appear to have been
perfect, for before the close o1 the same year, 1748, the Franciscans endea-
voured to obtain the appointment of Fr. Felix Englefield, O.S.F., brother to
Sir Harry Englefield, Bart., as coadjutor in the Northern district to Bishop
Dicconson, who haa then applied tor assistance. It was after they had failed
in tius, and Francis Petre, a/zas Fithlers, had been appointed in 1750, that
the Franciscans formulated fresh cowplaints to Propaganda, in which Dr.
Kendal was the butt. They accused him of forbidding Fr. Charles Tootell,
O.S.F., of The Hill, Goosnargh, to continue serving that mission, owing to
its proximity to Laaywell ; ot ordering Fr. Clarke, O.S.F., of Lee House, not
to assist without leave from the V. A. certain people whom at their own
request he had attended for three or four years pasi, and that if he went
there he should take great care not to give occasion of complaint to a certain
secular priest in the neighbourhood (Rev. John Moore, of Chipping Laund) ;
and, lastly, of examining a Jesuit, by proposing to him certain doubts before
giving him the usual faculties upon his being sent by his superior into Lan-
cashire. From these proceedings the authors of the memorial inferred that
the design of the bishops and their agents was to reduce the regulars into as
great straits as possible, and to oblige them to leave England, and they
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therefore demanded a revocation of the decree. In a letter to Bp. Diccon-
son, dated Dec. 22, 1750, the bishop’s agent at Rome, Mgr. Xfer. Stonor,
nephew to Bp. Stonor, gave a report of this memorial, which was to be
printed, and stated that he did not expect that the charges against Dr. Ken-
dal could be substantiated. Finally, on May 30, 1753, Benedict XIV. issued
the Bull previously alluded to, Regulee observande in Anglicanis Mis-
sionibus, ab Apostolicis Vicariis nec non a Sacerdotibus Mission-
ariis Seecularibus, ac Regularibus (given in full in Maziere Brady’s
Lpiscopal Succession, iii. 496), by which the rules of the mission were
laid down, the jurisdiction of the Vicars-Apostolic confirmed, and the privi-
lezes of the religious carefully defined. Thus, as Canon Flanagan remarks
(tIist. of the Ch. in Eng., ii. 369), an end was put to the world of dissension
and confusion which had previously existed.

2. The Kendals were substantial yeomen resident for several centuries in
Fulwood, and the neighbouring township of Ribbleton. George Kendal died
at the latter in 1582. In consequence of their staunch adherence to the faith
they suffered greatly under the penal laws. Rosamund, the wife of Robert
Kendal, of Ribbleton, yeoman, appears in the recusant rolls during the reigns
of Elizabeth, James I., and Charles I. She was the mother of William,
John and Hugh. The last was heir-at-law to his eldest brother in 1687, and
inherited a fair estate in Elston. He resided, like his brother, in Ribbleton,
and, dying in 1710, left, by Ellen his wife, several sons, Henry, John and
Richard. John settled at Fulaood, and married Catharine Tomlynson,
descended from an ancient Catholic family seated at Ribbleton, and allied
with the Ffaringtons of Ffarington Hall, in that township, the younger and
Catholic branch of the Ffaringtons of Ffarington and Worden. The clergy
had great confidence in the integrity and prudence of this John Kendal, and
in his name was vested in trust much of the missionary property in the
neighbourhood. He was convicted of recusancy with his son John and other
members of his family at the Lancaster Sessions, Jan. 13, 1716, and in 1717
registered his estate as a Catholic nonjuror. He died Oct. 30, 1722, leaving
a son and successor John ; Richard, Henry, George, the subject of this
notice, and Robert, all four priests ; Rosamund ; and Catharine, the wife of
John Kay, of Hothersall, whose daughter Catharine married Ralph South-
worth, of Broughton, and was mother of the four priests of that name. Of
the four Kendal brothers, priests, Richard, the eldest, born March 1, 1684-5,
studied his rudiments at Ladywell, Fernyhalgh, whence he proceeded to
Douay, and took the college oath in the school of rhetoric, June 24, 1704,
publicly defended his universals to the great admiration of the audience in
Aug. 1705, was ordained priest in 1709, appointed professor of philosophy
in 1710, and subsequently tavght divinity for some years, When he left the
college he was appointed chaplain to the Duke of Norfolk, and probably
resided some time at Stonyhurst, in Lancashire, the paternal estate of the
Duchess, but died at Arundel Castle, Feb. 7, 1747-8, aged 62. Henry Ken-
dal, the second brother, born June 20, 1689, also went to Douay after making
his preparatory studies at Ladywell, took the college oath Dec. 27, 1709, was
retained as a professor after his ordination, and was still there in 1725.
After he came on the mission he was for a short time chaplain at Croxdale
Hall, Durham, the seat of the Salvins. At this time his relative, the Rev.
John Kendal, zere Bayne or Baynes, was the priest at Cottam Chapel, which

| >8]
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had taken the place of the domestic chaplaincy at Cottam Hall. He was
the son of Richard Baynes, of Catforth, in Woodplumpton, who died in 1675,
and Jennet, his wife, presumably a Kendal, and was born there Nov. 30,
1653, and baptised by the Rev. John Hughes, probably at that time chaplain
at Cottam Hall. He was admitted into the English College at Rome Oct. 4,
1674, under the name of Peter Blacow, and, having been ordainei priest
April 9, 1678, left for the miss.on in Lancashire April 24, 1681. In 1703 he
fitted up a barn at Woodplumpton for a chapel and house, which eventually
became known as Cottam Chapel after the Cottam Hall estate had passed
from the Haydocks into Protestant hands. Mr. Bayne, aZias Kendal, was
buried a: Woodplumpton April 5, 1727. His will was proved by his only
brother Edmund Bayne, of Catforth, yeoman. He was succeeded in the
Cottam mission by his relative, Henry Kendal, who was there when Bishop
Williams made his visitation in Oct. 1728. How long he remained does not
appear, but he probably removed to Manchester in or before 1741, in which
year his name appears in Bishop Dicconson’s list. At this period, and for
fifty years later, the missioner at Manchester had to attend Sutton, near
Macclesfield, in Cheshire. The manor of Sutton was acquired by the Hon.
Sir Rowland Belasyse, of Smithells Hall, co. Lanc., K.B., through his mar-
riage with the heiress of the Davenports. In 1698, Sir Rowland and his son
Thomas, who succzeded his uncle and namesake as third Viscount Faucon-
berg in 1700, settled upon Oliver Tootell, of Lower Healey Hall, co. Lanc.,
gent., and Edw. Stubbs, of Sutton, yeoman, a small estate at Sutton in trust
to pay an annuity of £ towards the maintenance of the chaplain at Sutton.
Sir Rowland died at Sutton in 1699, and the annuity continued to be paid to
the priests attending the mission even to the time of the Rev. Rowland
Broomhead, who resided and died at St. Chad’s, Rook Street, M inchester,
in 1820. Part of the £500 invested in this trust estate, with the consent of
the Rev. Edw. Booth, a/ias Barlow, G.V. in Lancashire, appears to have
belonged to the secular clergy of Lancashire, and was probably applied to
the chaplaincy at Smithells Hall, an estate which came into the Belasyse
family through the marriage of Sir Rowland’s father, Henry Belasyse, M.P.
co. York, with Grace, daughter and heiress of Sir Thomas Barton, Knt.
During the illness which pr:ceded his death, Mr. Henry Kendal withdrew
from Manchester to his brother’s mission at Ladywell, and there died, Oct. 29,
1752, aged 63. Robert Kendal, the youngest of the four priests, was born
May 12, 1700, and made his rudiments at Dame Alice's school at Ferny-
halgh. He took the college oath at Douay in 1718, and after his ordination
was appointed successor to the Rev. Richard Penketh, who died at Chipping
Laund in Aug. 1721. He remained at The Laund for a considerable time ;
he was certainly there when Bishop Williams made his visitation in the
autumn of 1729. Perhaps the Rev. John Moore, who took charge of Chip-
ping Laund about 1733, was his immediate successor. Mr. Kendal then
removed to Croxteth Hall, the seat of Lord Molyneux, which up to this time
had always been a secular chaplaincy. There he appears in Bishop Diccon-
son’s list from 1741 till his death, April 19, 1746, aged 45. He probably suc-
ceeded the Rev. Richard Jameson at Croxteth, who was there in 1725.
William, fourth Viscount Molyneux, had a hunting seat at Bardsea, in the
parish of Urswick, having purchased the manor from the Andertons, of Clay-
ton, who had acquired it through marriage witih the co-heiress of Nicholas

L8
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Bardsea in the seventeenth century. It was an ancient mission, endowed
with a considerable estate, and, on the death of the chaplain in 1712, it would
seem that Mr. Jameson took charge of it. After the Stuart rising in 1715,
the Commissioners for Forfeited Estates came down upon it, and Jameson
withdrew to Croxteth, where he was in 1725. He afterwards removed to
Birchley, a chaplaincy founded by the Andertons, where he died Nov. 1, 1734
(vide vol. iii. 608, where this date is wanting). Upon the death of Caryll,
sixth Viscount Molyneux, in Nov. 1745, the title and estates were inherited
by his brother, Fr. William Molyneux, S.J., who transferred the chaplaincy
at Croxteth to the Society, and Fr. Charles Dormer, S.]., was installed in
the vacancy caused by the death of Mr. Kendal. From that time Croxteth
was served by the Jesuits.

Kendal, Richard, priest, first president of Standon-Lord-
ship School, born about 1700, was a younger son of John
Kendal, junior, of Fulwood, near Preston. After studying his
rudiments in Dame Alice’s school at Fernyhalgh, he was sent
to Douay, where he took the college oath in 1728. In due
course he was ordained priest, and came to England. It is
not said where he was first stationed upon the mission, but in
1752 he went to Standon-Lordship, Herts, the year following
the death of the last Lord Aston. The celebrated Catholic
school at Twyford, near Winchester, had been abandoned
about 1745, and none had taken its place. After the death
of Lord Aston, Aug. 20, 1751, an opportunity was presented
whereby the mansion of Standon-Lordship might be secured
on favourable terms for the purpose of supplying the much felt
want of a school in England for the education of the sons of
the Catholic nobility and gentry. Arrangements were made
with the trustees of the two Aston heiresses, and Mr. Kendal
established the school, and was appointed head master or
president by the Vicar-Apostolic of the London district. It
was formed upon the same plan as that at Twyford, and was
soon in high repute, under the able management of its ener-
getic president. In 1767 the Aston estates in this district
were sold and the school was transferred for a short period to
Hare Street, a hamlet on the Braughin road to Cambridge,
about' five miles distant. There the accommodation proved
extremely inconvenient, so that in 1769 Bishop James Talbot
purchased the house and farm at Old Hall Green, near Ware,
and prepared it for the reception of the boys. In October of
that year it was opened under the presidency of the Rev. James
Willacy, who had probably assisted Mr. Kendal at Standon-
Lordship.
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Kendal remained at Hare Street, where he had usually
students preparing themselves for Douay and other
; abroad. On Feb. 6, 1771, he was chosen dean of
ilpter, in succession to Dr. William Walton, who had
pointed coadjuto PBetre, - of,; ‘the
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compelled the monks to seek refuge in England, in 1793, he
accompanied the rest to Acton Burnell. From 1808 till his
death, he held the office of prior of the community, and
in 1810 received the titular dignity of cathedral prior of
Coventry. He had just contracted the purchase of the
Downside property in Somersetshire, the site of the present
monastery of St. Gregory, when he died at Wootton, Warwick-
shire, March 26, 1814, aged 55.

Snow, Bened. Necrology; Letter of Dame Placida Kendal, Oct. 4, 1886 ;
Oliver, Collections, p. 338 ; Tablet, vol. iii. p. 9ot ; Dolan, Downside Review,
iv. 157, 243-4 ; Weekly Reg., vol. Ixviii. p. 732.

1. An Explanation of the Douay Catechism, by Dom Peter
Kendal. MS,, at Downside.

2. Dom Peter Kendal’s brother, John, resided at Kensington, and was
well-known for his charities, and especially for his acts of kindness to the
French clergy in 1793. He, with Mr. Richard Gillow, of Ellel Grange,
co. Lancaster, built the chapel and priest’s house in Holland Street,
Kensington. He died at his residence in Kensington Square, March 2o,
1820, aged 74. By his wife, Winifred, whom he married when he was
fifty years of age, he had five children, John, James, Mary, and two
other daughters. James, born April 2, 1806, went to St. Gregory's, Down-
side, in Sept. 1818, his brother John having preceded him in 1814. He
received the habit on St. Gregory’s Day, 1824, took the religious name of
Nicholas, and in the following lyear was professed. On Sept. 24, 1831,
he was ordained priest by Bishop Baines (of the same family as the Rev.
John Baines, a//as Kendal), and, after filling various offices in the monastery,
including those of sub-prefect and sub-prior, was obliged to leave on account
of failing health. He was accordingly sent to the mission at Broadway,
Worcestershire, early in 1844, which he served till the house and church
were purchased by the Passionists. From Feb. 1850, to July 1852, he was
assistant at the mission of St. Gregory at Cheltenham, co. Gloucester, and
thence removed to Radditch, co. Warwick, where he remained until the
approach of old age counselled return to his religious home at Downside in
Nov. 1881. After two years of great suffering, he quietly passed away,
Dec. 4, 1883, aged 77. His sister Mary, born in 1803, was professed in the
Benedictine convent at Winchester in 1819. This community settled there
when their abbey at Brussels was ,confiscated by the French in 1794. In
1857 the nuns removed to East Bergholt in Suffolk, where they built a con-
ventional church and the Abbey of St. Mary. There Dame Mary Placida
Kendal died, May 31, 1887, aged 84. Her eldest brother, John, died at
Kensington in 1851, aged 47. The latter’s son John returned to the family’s
original locality, became a partner in the firm of bankers in Preston, Messrs,
Roskell, Arrowsmith & Kendal, ultimately removed to London, and there
died Sept. 30, 1892, aged_56. A younger brother, Dom Richard Gregory
Kendal, born at Bath in 1848, was educated at Downside, and made his
simple profession at the general novitiate of the Benedictines at Belmont,
co. Hereford, in 1867. He then returned to St. Gregory’s, where he was
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solemnly professed in 1870. Three years later he went to Australia, and
was ordained in 1874. He returned to Downside, and there died, Aug. 22,
1879, aged 37.

Kenny, William David, schoolmaster, was son of William
Stopford Kenny, who kept a Catholic day-school in Fitzroy
Square, London, and died Nov. 16, 1867, aged 79. His
mother, Eliza, died there, May 8, 1832. Where he was edu-
cated does not appear, but he took degrees, and in 1837
established a day and boarding-school in Wellington Road,
St. John's Wood, describing himself in his advertisements as
Dr. Kenny, L.R.C.P. After eight years he removed his school
to St. Mary’s, Richmond, Surrey, where it flourished many
years. Finally he resided at Kew Lodge, Brook Green, where
he is reported to have died.

Laity's and Cath. Directories ; Gillow, Cath. Scks. in Eng.

1. Kenny’s Grammatical Spelling Assistant, &c. Lond. 1839,
12mo.

2. Kenny’s Progressive Reading Book. Lond. 1849, 12mo.

3. The Young Catholic’s Guide in the Preparation for Confes-
sion ; for the Use of Children of both Sexes, from the age of 8 to
14 years. Altered from the French by W. D, Kenny, Esq. Lond.
1850, 18mo; “The Young Catholic’s Guide,” &c., “and Holy Commu-
nion,” 2nd edit., revised. Lond. 1868 [1867], 16mo.

4. The Student’s Classic Pamphlets: or, Periodical Brochures
of School Literature . . .. carefully revised and edited by W.
D. Kenny. [Lond. 1854, &c.] 8vo.

5. An English Grammar adapted to the Comprehension of
Young Persons. Lond. 1858, 12mo.

6. An Advanced French Reader: containing Extracts from
Approved Works of French Literature, prose and verse. With
copious notes, &c. Lond. 1862, 8vo.

7, The French Secretary : containing familiar letters on various
subjects, . . . . followed by models of letters selected from the
most celebrated French correspondents, &c. Lond. (Guildford, pr.)
1864, 8vo, forming part of Allman’s Popular Elementary Series of Works for
learning Foreign Languages.

8. First Book of Ceesar’s Commentaries. . . . . With notes.
.. .. By Dr. Kenny. Lond. 1864, 12mo.

9. Fifth Book of Virgil’s Aneid. With notes and vocabulary.
. ... By Dr. Kenny. Lond. 1863, 8vo.

10. Kenny’s Goldsmith’s Grammar of Geography, &c. Lond.
1868, 12mo.

Kenyon, Edward, priest, a native of Lancashire, was
educated and ordained priest at Douay College. His first
mission appears to have been at St. Chad’s, Rook Street,
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Manchester, where he assisted the Rev. Rowland Broomhead.
The rapid increase in the number of Catholics in Manchester
necessitated the erection of another chapel. Accordingly, Mr.
Broomhead erected St. Mary’s, in Mulberry Street, and opened
it Nov. 30, 1794. It was built by subscriptions gathered from
the Catholics, and other well-disposed persons, chiefly of the
Established Church. Towards its completion eight hundred
guineas were borrowed from the executors of Mr. Casey at five
per cent. interest, which had been bequeathed for relief of the
poor of Manchester, at the sole recommendation of the Catholic
clergy. There was an annual ground-rent on the chapel and
house, payable to John Leaf, Esq., of £49 10s. There were
no obligations attached to the incumbent, who was to obtain his
support from the benches. Mr. Kenyon was appointed the
first pastor, and remained there till Mr. John Francis Butler,
of Pleasington Hall, near Blackburn, who had formed a strong
attachment to him at Douay College, invited him to take
charge, with the permission of the bishop, of the new chapel,
called Pleasington Priory, which he commenced to erect at a
cost of £20,000 in 1816. It was opened with great cere-
mony on Aug. 24, 13819. Mr. Kenyon preached on the
occasions of the laying of the foundation stone and the
opening. The Priory was erected by Mr. Butler in gratitude
for a recovery from dropsy. In 1821 Mr. Butler married
Julia, daughter of Mr. Francis Rush, a well-known merchant in
Manchester, but died without issue in the same year, aged 47.
By his will he left his estate to the bishop for ecclesi-
astical purposes, but the will was contested by the testator’s
sister, Mary Anne Butler, and the bishop found it prudent,
under the existing state of the law and the circumstances of
the times, to relinquish his claim, and accept a small farm
as a compromise.  Miss Butler afterwards devised Pleasington
to her relative, Mr. John Bowdon, who, in 1841, assumed the
surname of Butler as a prefix to that of Bowdon. Mr. Butler’s
widow took the veil in the convent at Orrell Mount, near
Wigan, where a community of French Benedictines settled in
1821, and of which Dom Thos. Anselm Kenyon, O.S.B.,, was
chaplain from 1827 to 1834. In 1828 Mr. Kenyon left
Pleasington, and went to assist Mr. James Sharples, subse-
quently bishop, at St. Alban’s, Blackburn. He seems to
have retired from the mission in 1830 on account of failing
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health, but when the ancient mission of Singleton was re-
opened, he was appointed to that charge, and remained there
from Aug. 27, 1831, till March 30, 1834, when he was seized
with the palsy, and retired to Liverpool. There he died at an
advanced age, Oct. 13, 1837.

The Kenyons were staunch Catholics of the yeomanry class.
In the recusant rolls they appear as residents in Kenyon-with-
Lowton, Sutton, and Warrington. Edward Kenyon went to
the English college at Rheims in 1587, and was ordained
priest at Douay some six years later. Margaret and Helen
Kenyon were professed in the English Benedictine convent at
Cambray in 1632, and, in more recent times, Dom Thos.
Anselm Kenyon, O.S.B,, was professed at Lambspring in 1787.
He was born at Warrington in 1770, and was cousin to the
subject of this notice. After his ordination in 1794, he taught
in his monastery for some years. In 1801 he came to the
mission, and was at Scarisbrick for a short time in 1802.
In the following year he returned to Lambspring, where
he remained till 1826. He then returned to England,
and was chaplain to the Benedictine nuns at Orrell Mount,
from 1827 till 1834. In the latter year he went to Chelten-
ham, and thence to Beckford, where he stayed till 1840.
From that year till his death, May 28, 1850, aged 79, he was
at Stanbrook.

Geo. Leo Haydock, MSS. ; Gillow, Lanc. Recusants, MS.,; Laity’s Dirvec-
tories; Oliver, Collections, p. 339 ; Snow, Bened. Necrology ; Knox, Records
of the Eng. Caths. i.; West Derby Hundyed Records, M.S.

1. “The Holy Bible,” &c., Manchester, Oswald Syers, 1811-13, sm. fol.
Some of the Manchester priests, under the impression that Thomas Haydock
had abandoned his project of publishing the Bible, advised Mr. Syers to
print an edition. Mr. Kenyon and the Rev. Thomas Sadler undertook to
revise it, and Bishop William Gibson, V.A. of the Northern district approved
the scheme. It came out in parts, but was of such indifferent execution that
it was speedily eclipsed by Haydock’s Bible, which commenced shortly after-
wards. Indeed, long before the first part was issued in April 1811, Haydock
was able to write to his brother George, under date Jan. 23, 1811, ¢ Man-
chester rival looks very blue.”

2. A Sermon preached at the Collegiate Chapel, Mulberry
Street, Manchester, on Sunday within the octave of All Saints,
1818. Manchester, 1816, sm. 8vo. It was this, or a sermon delivered on
All Souls, that obtained him great repute as a preacher. It was considered
the finest sermon that had been preached in Manchester, and for many years
afterwards was referred to with admiration.
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3. A Sermon preached by the Rev. Edward Kenyon, on the
opening of Pleasington Priory ; and dedicated by permission to
the Rt. Rev. Dr. Smith, the officiating Bishop on that occasion,
and coadjutor to the Vicar Apostolic of the Northern District,
August the 24th, 1819. Blackburn, R. Wood, sm. 8vo., pp. 16 inclusive
of title.

The foundation stone of Pleasington Priory was laid by Mr. Butler, June 6,
1816. Mr. Kenyon also preached on that occasion, and a summary of his
sermon is given in the Orthodox Journal, iv. 290 seq.

4. In 1829 the “ Blackburn Auxiliary to the British Society for Promoting
the Religious Principles of the Reformation,” addressed a challenge to Mr.
Kenyon and Mr. Sharples to meet them in a public discussion. A long
correspondence ensued, printed in the Cath. Miscellany, new series, 1830,
pp- 28-35, which resuited in the invitation being declined.

Keogh, Edward Stephen, Oratorian, born in 1833, was
educated at St. Edmund’s College, Herts, where he was the
favourite pupil of the late Dr. W. G. Ward. At the age of
twenty-one he joined the London Oratory, and was ordained
priest at St. Edmund’s College, March 7, 1857. Then com-
menced his long career of literary and beneficent activity.
Always foremost in every movement to advance Catholic
interests, Fr. Keogh was most zealous in his support of educa-
tion, and tireless in his devotion to the service of the poor and
the sick. He was a distinguished and thoroughly trained theolo-
gian, and his advice for many years was constantly sought by
the editors of the leading Catholic reviews. Indeed, he was
eminently a man who inspired confidence, and the unvarying
kindness with which, whenever any good cause was to be
served, he placed his time and knowledge at the service of
others, led many to seek the advantage of his advice and
‘judgment. Among his literary labours must be reckoned the
not very grateful one of censor. He acted in this capacity to
many Catholic writers—e ., in the case of the authors of the
Catholic Dictionary, and to the works of Mr. Edw. Healey
Thompson. But it would give a very imperfect idea of the many
calls made upon Fr. Keogh's time if it was allowed to be supposed
that it was only on points of literary or theological interest that
he was consulted. He was known to possess a sound judgment
and a good heart, and so ecclesiastics and laymen alike brought
him their difficulties and troubles. It was owing to his efforts
that the beautiful Lady-altar erected in the Oratory church was
secured and brought from Italy. He was also the sole founder
of St. Raphael’s Hospital for Catholic men, the only institution

L
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of its kind in London. He had been in failing health for some
time before his last illness, which was thought to have been
hastened through his devotion to the task of compiling the lives
of the recently beatified English martyrs, and his death took
place at the London Oratory, Oct. 29, 1887, aged 53.

His death was not only a loss to his confréres, but was
deeply felt by a large circle, for he had won the high esteem
of all who knew him by the example of his truly edifying
life. He was interred in the cemetery of the Oratory, St.
Mary’s, Sydenham Hill, where he rests with the many Fathers
who have passed to their reward.

Tablet, vol. Ixx. p. 741 ; Cath. Times, Nov. 4, 1887 ; Cath. Dir., 1858,
p. 261.

1. A Few Specimens of ‘‘Scientific History >’ from “Janus.”
By Edward Stephen Keogh, Priest of the Oratory. Lond., Long-
mans, 1870, 8vo, pp. 31I.

Fr. Keogh had a special gift for historical criticism, and this pamphlet
did memorable service in exposing some of the most insidious of the now
forgotten calumnies of * Janus.” This anonymous work, entitled “The
Pope and the Council,” Lond., 1869, originally appeared in Germany on the
eve of the Vatican Council, the professed purpose of its authors being to
deter the Council from making any declaration of the infallibility of the
Pope.

’E “The Letters and Memorials of William Cardinal Allen,” forming
vol. ii. of “ Records of the English Catholics under the Penal Laws,” Lond.,
1882, 4to, were partly edited by Fr. Keogh, and it was he who completed
and prepared it for the press after the death of Fr. Thos. Fris. Knox, D.D.

3. Under the initials “ E. S. K.,” he contributed to the Zwblet a2 remark-
able series of papers in defence of Fénelon. That journal was also indebted
to Fr. Keogh for his wise and kind counsel in most of the controversies in
which it had been engaged for some years previous to his decease, and his
advice was similarly sought by Dr. W. G. Ward during his troubled time as
Editor of the Dublin Review.

4. “Lives of the English Martyrs declared Blessed by Pope Leo XIII.
on Dec. 29, 1886. By Fathers of the Congregation of the London Oratory,”
was the work on which he was engaged and left half completed at the time
of his death.

Keon, Miles Gerald, colonial secretary and author, only
son of Miles Gerald Keon, of Keon Brook, co. Leitrim, Esq.,
and the Countess Magawly, was born in 1821 in a castle
belonging to his father, in Tipperary, on the banks of the
Shannon.

Being left an orphan at the tender age of four years, he was
committed to the care of his grandmother, the Countess
Magawly. On the death of that venerable lady not long

MOL. V. B
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afterwards, at Temora, he was left by her to the charge of her
only son, Count Magawly, sometime regent of the duchies of
Parma, Placentia, and Guastalla, and afterwards Prime Minister
to the Empress Maria Theresa. By him he was sent to Stony-
hurst College, March 27, 1832, where his career was passed
with marked distinction.

After quitting college he spent some years in France and
Algeria. In 1843 he came to London and commenced to
eat his terms as a law-student at Gray’s Inn, but soon aban-
doned all thought of preparing himself for the bar,and adopted
the profession of a man of letters. At first he entered the
arena of Irish politics, and published a pamphlet on the repeal
movement in 1843, which does not appear to have excited
much comment. He was not long, however, in making his
mark in journalism and in the magazines. His first hit was
a chivalrous vindication of his old masters, the Jesuits, in the
pages of the Oxford and Cambridge Review, which brought his
name prominently before the public. In April, 1846, he
became editor of Dolman’s Magazine, to which he had
previously contributed. He announced his intention in a
long letter to the Zablet (vii. 202) in which he gave an in-
teresting review of the Catholic writers of the day. After
issuing the November number he resigned the editorial chair
in order, as he announced, to devote more time to the com-
pletion of an historical work on which he was engaged. This
was presumably the “ History of the Jesuits.” Possibly he was
also influenced by his marriage with Anne de la Pierre, second
daughter of Major Hawkes, late of her Majesty’s 21st Light
Dragoons, which took place at the Sardinian Embassy Chapel,
Nov. 21, 1846. Shortly afterwards he published a brief but
striking monograph on St. Alexis. While rendering eminent
services to the cause of religion in this way, and by contribu-
tions to the Dublin Review, he did not shrink from the fold of
politics. He became associated with the leaders of the
“Young England” party, and, securing an appointment on
the Morning Post, which he continued to hold for twelve years,
wrote up their cause with the greatest vigour and success.
When Lord Lytton discovered who the writer of these articles
was, he wrote to him, expressing his great admiration, and
invited him at the same time to visit him at Knebworth and
meet some literary and scientific celebrities. =~ Thus com-
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menced the close friendship between the two men—a friendship
that stood the young Irishman in good stead, and remained
unbroken to the very last.

During the chief part of his active literary life in London—
as his position was that rather of free lance of the press than
of one whose responsibilities were fixed and distinctive—
Keon’s labours were curiously discursive in their character.
To ‘“ Cassell’s Educational Course,” for example, he contributed
a little volume entitled, “Lessons in French.” One critic
speaks of it as “ being, without exaggeration, an elementary
masterpiece.” Reference is particularly made to this little
work, as it throws a strong side-light upon one of the chief
features of its author’s character—his devouring zeal for pro-
moting the well-being of his fellow-men.

In 1850 he was sent on a political mission to St. Peters-
burg, and from thence wrote “A Letter on the Greek
Question,” then perplexing the minds of statesmen. This
long and able letter has since been reprinted. At the time it
formed the basis of one of the most eloquent speeches delivered
by Lord Stanley in the House. It was owing, no doubt, to
the political knowledge displayed in it of the relations between
England and Russia that Keon was subsequently invited to
write the “ History of the Crimean War,” for the /Z/ustrated
London News.

In 1856 he went to Moscow as correspondent of the Morning
Post, on the occasion of the Emperor Alexander’s coronation.
Many pleasing glimpses of his life at this period are given in
“Voyage en Russie,” by the eminent French geographer and
geologist, M. Boucher de Perthes. In the early part of 1838,
a soi-disant London agent offered him the editorship of the
Bengal Hurkaru, a daily paper published at Calcutta. Keon
named the matter to his friend, Charles Kent, who urged him
not to pledge himself to any agreement to go to Calcutta till
he had seen him again, as he had learnt that the agent was
utterly unreliable. Disregarding this advice, Keon hurriedly
left for Calcutta, and upon his arrival found the whole agree-
ment repudiated by the proprietor of the paper, and another
editor installed in his place. It was not likely that, with his
experience in matters political, and with his literary ability,
Keon would be long without occupation. At Malta, on his
way back to England, he received the news of his appointment
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to the colonial secretaryship at Bermuda. The nomination
came through Lord Lytton—then at the head of the Colonial
Office—who gladly availed himself of his short term of power
to repay the long and faithful services of his friend to the
Conservative cause.

His career at Bermuda was of necessity less eventful than
his life in London, as he no longer had to contend in the
struggle for existence, but was enabled to enjoy the advantages
of an assured position. He held the post of chief secretary to
the governor during the last sixteen years of his life, giving
universal satisfaction, and entering heart and soul into every
movement that could benefit the colony. He became
thoroughly master of the practical working of the different
colonial institutions, and to him fell the work of carrying into
effect the administrative acts of various successive governors.

At first he felt keenly the separation from all his literary com-
panionships, but found consolation in constant correspondence
with many of his old associates, notably with Lord Lytton.
At one time he was anxious to secure a home appointment
under Government, but was dissuaded by the great novelist.
The lectures which he delivered in Bermuda on “ Government :
its Source, its Form, and its Means,” obtained more than an
insular reputation. He received tempting offers from the
United States and Canada to undertake a lecturing tour, in
the wake of Charles Dickens. These he was obliged to refuse,
as he felt that, Irishman and Catholic as he was, the lectures
would be attended chiefly by Irishmen, and, as Fenianism was
at that time rampant, enemies at home might easily mis-
construe his action. Under any circumstances, it would have
been a false and perilous position for a paid British functionary.
He twice, however, made visits to the States, first in search of
health, and secondly to spend a week with his old Stonyhurst
classfellow, the Hon. E. L. Lowe, Governor of Maryland. In
1866 he gave to the world the classic Christian romance,
“Dion and the Sybils,” with which his name is most generally
associated. In 1869 he obtained leave of absence, and
hastened back to England to accept a long-standing invitation
to Knebworth. He took the opportunity to revisit Stonyhurst,
and later on fulfilled the dearest wish of his heart, setting foot
in the Eternal City for the first time. He was presented to
Pius IX, by the Archbishop of Halifax, and was received with
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marked distinction by the Holy Father, who welcomed him as
an elegant writer and successful author. His Holiness, more-
over, gave him a valuable souvenir of the interview. Return-
ing to his island home, Keon spent the last five years of his
life in the close discharge of his duty, without the occurrence
of any noteworthy event. He continued to devote his leisure
moments to literature, and at the time of his death had half
finished another novel, “ The Modern Pro-Consul,” in which,
here and there, portraitures of his Stonyhurst masters and
schoolfellows were introduced.

He died in Bermuda, the last male descendant of his ancient
family, June 3, 18735, aged 54.

Mr. Hatt, in his memoir entitled “ A Colonial Secretary,”
from which thé foregoing sketch is, with permission, mainly
extracted, says: “ That Keon was a man who had something
in him and about him greater and nobler than the legacy of
his writings would indicate, is shown by the power he had of
attaching to himself and keeping the friendship of such men as
Lord Lytton, Lord Strangford, and Charles Kent. The last
named is the sole survivor of the little band of litterateurs who
won their spurs together in the second half of the century. He
describes his connection with Keon thus touchingly: ¢ He and
I regarded each other with a brother’s affection. Neither of us
had a more intimate friend in the world. Our intimacy, which
remained unbroken to the last, began when we were contribut-
ing to Dolman's Magazine, before he had as yet assumed the
editorship. What first attracted me to him was his fervour in
religion and his really marvellous brilliancy in conversation.
As a conversationalist he was at his best and brightest.””

He was evidently of an impulsive nature, and easily carried
away by his intense religious zeal, as shown in some of his
letters to the press. He wrote with spirit and dash, displaying
much erudition, a style eminently suited for his lighter com-
positions, but perhaps rather too romantic for his more serious
subjects.

J. B. Hatt, Stonyhurst Mag. ii. 203, 254 ; Tablet, iv. 532, vi. 725, 743,
vil. 772, xIvi. 483 Dolman's Mag., ii. 498 5 Letters of Charles Kent.

1. The Irish Revolution; or, What can the Repealers do?
And what shall be the New Constitution ? By Miles Gerald
Keon, Esq., Dublin, Brown, 1843, 8vo.

The most important feature in this not ill-written pamphlet is a recom-
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et de la famille,” and partly by the author !
Jesuit history. So brilliantly was it writt€'!
credited to Mr. Keon’s cousin, the Hon
Strangford, who was known to be a cont
so resolutely championing the cause of
any rate nominal, organ of the two gre:d
little stir in the literary world. A stormy
and leading articles were written about
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written at the request of the editor of th¢
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whom he reproached with “ breaking do"
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stated that “for the future no one will ¢
Oxford and Cambridge Review who is 1
English Catholic Church, and a mem]
Review seeks to represent.” In the corr€
Mr. Keon addressed two letters to the €
editor of the Review knew his religion &
requested him to write the article.

3. The Life and Times of the Rol
is annexed, An Account of the Mist
by the Rev. Hardinge Ivers, and ¢
attempt at religious persecution-
Hon. G. S. Smythe, and the New ¢
Keon. Lond. (Derby, pr.), Richardsor!

The work thus singularly dedicated !
first two, the life of St. Alexis, occupyi' T“n |
originally as an introduction to the accotifii ¢/ & H—G——
It commences with a caustic attack, well-merited, but out of place, on the
author and publisher of “The Mysteries of London.” The “life” is well
and touchingly told, its incidents strongly depicted, and its moral enforced
as if felt by the writer. The personal sketch of the saint and his death is
very striking. The work displays considerable erudition and research, but
some of the historical doubts and difficulties raised are not so satisfactorily
disposed of as the author imagines. In its review of the work, Dolmarn's
Magasine accused the author of error in stating that St. Alexis probably
enjoyed the prayer of contemplation or of quiet. The heresy of the quietists,
and the semi-quietists, has been condemned by Innocent XI. and Innocent
XI11., as blasphemous, rash, and pernicious. Mr. Keon at once disclaimed the
error, and subsequently sent a communication on the subject to the Zablet,
viii. 616.

The life of St. Alexis subsequently became the subject of Cardina
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Wiseman’s beautiful drama, “The Hidden Gem,” composed expressly for
the jubilee of St. Cuthbert’s College, Ushaw, in 1858.

At this time Mr. Keon resided at Kentish Town, and took a very active
part in the establishment of the mission and the erection of the church.
A public procession through the streets and other external displays courted
the hostility of Protestants, and in consequence led to the proceedings and
correspondence in the press narrated by Mr. Keon. He reprints his letters
to the public journals on this subject. Much of the latter part of the work
might have been omitted with advantage.

4. Lessons in French. Lond., 1851, 12mo, forming part of “ Cassell’s
Educational Course.”

Mr. Hatt remarks that Keon’s early experiences in France had made him
a master of the language, even in its subtlest zzances, and eminently well
fitted to discharge the duty of instructor. At this period, the year of the
first and greatest of the so-called ‘world-fairs,” England swarmed with
French mechanics. Keon saw here a splendid opportunity of destroying
many ancient prejudices and adding his mite to the hive-like fund of know-
ledge-diffusing agencies. In the wall of separation between two immense
communities, he struck an opening and set up a gate of sociability. His
book was planned for the millions. For nine months he worked eight and
nine hours a day at this labour of love, adapting his “ Lessons” down to the
capacity of the audience he was seeking after. Nor was he content to sit
idle after its appearance ; through his publishers he proclaimed prizes, open
exclusively to the working classes ; he drew up test exercises, judged the
performances, and made the awards amongst hundreds of competitors. A
tamous man of letters (whom the public voice had hailed as First Minister
of Education, when there was talk of establishing that office) pronounced
this work to be, of its kind, the ablest and most philanthropic that had
appeared in the nineteenth century. The work afterwards got into extensive
use as a text-book in the United States and Canada.

s. Harding, the Money-Spinner. New York, 1857, 8vo; Lond.,
Bentley, 1879, 8vo, 3 vols.

This novel originally appeared in the London Journal. Possibly, Keon
never would have attempted to write a novel had it not been for Lord
Lytion. He was led to it in this way. While visiting his lordship one
morning, the conversation was interrupted by the appearance of the pro-
prietor of the London Journal, Mr. Stiff, then the ruler of many destinies,
who had called for the purpose of inducing the author of “The Caxtons,” to
contribute a novel to his journal. Lytton was obliged to decline, but in-
troduced Keon as a substitute for him, and Mr. Stiff gladly availed himself
of the great author’s recommendation.

6. Dion and the Sibyls ; A Romance of the First Century. By
M. G. Keon. Lond, 1866, 8vo, 2 vols. ; New York, 1871, 8vo.

The characteristic of this classic Christian novel is the profuse use made
by the author of historical personages. It is well written, and an exciting
story, but the magnificence of the personages introduced give it an air of
ambition and pageantry with which the author could have afforded to dis-
pense (Z%he Month, v. 94). Lord Lytton wrote, “1 have read Dion with
much pleasure and sincere admiration of its many beauties of design and
composition. It is not to be judged as a novel, but rather as a picture of a



24 BIBLIOGRAPHICAL DICTIONARY [KER.

particular epoch, partly fancy, partly historical, and reminds me more of
German fiction than English.”

7. Government, its Source, its Form, and its Means. Lond.
8vo, being a publication after the author’s death of his lectures delivered in
Bermuda.

8. Poems, scattered in various places, which his widow is at present
engaged in collecting for publication. When at Stonyhurst, in 1838, at the
age of sixteen, he wrote a brilliant Grand Academy Ode,  On the Accession
of Queen Victoria to the Throne,” which has been reprinted in the Queen’s
jubilee number of the Stonyhurst Magazine, No. xxxii., June, 1887. Another
of his poems, “ Beauty and Glory,” appeared in Dolmar's Magasine, iv. 428.

9. “History of the Crimean War,” published in the /lustrated London
News.

10. Miscellaneous Articles. In 1845 and 1846 he gave the result of
his experiences abroad in a series of papers which appeared in Colburn’s
United Service Magazine, under the title of “ The Late Struggles of Abd-ei-
Kader, and the Campaign of Isly”” He also wrote an anonymous article on
“George Canning,” in the Oaford and Cambridge Review in 1845. He
contributed to the Dublin Review, the Morning Post, &c.

In Dolmar’s Magazine, ii. 311-3109, he wrote a story entitled “ Notre Dame
des Victoires.” With the number for April, 1846, he succeeded Mr. John
Richard Digby Beste as the second editor of the Magazine, and issued his
editorial address “ To the Catholics of Great Britain and Ireland, and the
unprejudiced public,” vol. iii. 313-319. He commenced, iii. 164-174, “ The
Catholic Man of Letters in London; a History of Nowadays, inscribed to
the New Generation,” which continued pp. 239-256, 387-397, to vol. iv.
470-5. “The Expediency of Transferring the Holy See to Leeds,” appeared
ii. 585-609 ; “ Pope Gregory XVI. and the Conversion of England,” iv. 72—
74 ; and “ The Holy Week at Oscott,” v. 67-74, 244-252.

He resigned the charge of the Aagasine into the hands of the Rev.
Edward Price, its third and last editor, who commenced his duties with the
number for Dec. 1846.

11. When the excitement raised by his article “ On the Jesuits” in the
Oxford and Cambridge Rev. in 1845 had died out, Longmans announced as in
preparation “ A History of the Jesuits, Literary, Social, and Political, from
the time of Ignatius Loyola to the present day. By Miles Gerald Keon.”
But this work, if completed, was never published.

He also left at his death, as already mentioned, a half-finished novel
entitled, “ The Modern Pro-Consul.”

12. Portrait, a rough sketch by F. Irwin, from a photograph by Liébert,
Stonyhurst Magasine, ii. 258.

Kershaw, John, Right Rev. Mgr.,, born at Liverpool,
Dec. 24, 1816, was brought up a Unitarian, the religion of his
parents—his mother being a Miss Wilkinson—and apprenticed
to a chemist, a relative of the same persuasion, named Preston,
in his native city. One Sunday evening, in 1837, being then
in his twenty-first year, he and a few companions were passing
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a Catholic Church in Liverpool, when they noticed that a
sermon was to be preached on the doctrine of transubstantia-
tion by the Rev. T. M. McDonnell, and out of curiosity they de-
cided to hear it. So clear and convincing were the arguments
given by the preacher, and they produced such an effect upon
young Kershaw, that he resolved to change his religion. Upon
his return home, he mentioned the subject to his mother and
sisters at the tea table, and a discussion ensued, which ended in a
complete victory for the young proselyte, who used the preacher’s
arguments. In a few days he gave up business, and shortly
afterwards went to study for the church at Ushaw College.

Some five years later an outbreak of the students, occasioned,
it was contended, by certain changes in the course made by the
prefect of studies, the late Very Rev. Ralph Provost Platt, D.D,,
brought about the resignation of that professor, and at the same
time it was thought advisable that Mr. Kershaw, who was
censor at the time, should also withdraw from the College.
Thus he went to Puddington, in Cheshire, the mission of the
Rev. Richard Gillow, formerly professor of divinity at Ushaw,
under whom he finished his course of theology, and was then
ordained priest at Liverpool by Dr. Brown, vicar Apostolic of
the Lancashire district, in 1843. He was appointed to
establish a new mission at Neston and Parkgate, Cheshire,
which he left in Aug. 1844, for the mission of All Saints,
Barton-on-Irwell, with the attached domestic chaplaincy at
Trafford Park, in succession to the Rev. John Hill. At that
time the boundaries of the mission included districts now
covered by several missions, both in Lancashire and Cheshire.
In 1852 he was appointed a canon of Salford, and in 1872,
upon the death of Bishop Turner, his name was one of the
three sent by the chapter to Rome for the vacant See. In
1379 the dignity of domestic prelate to his Holiness was con-
ferred upon him. After a period of nearly forty-six years of
zealous labour at Barton, he died rather suddenly at his
presbytery, May 31, 1890, aged 7 3.

Mgr. Kershaw not only took a leading part in the affairs of
the diocese of which he was a canon, but also exerted himself
in most movements tending to the welfare of the general
public, and especially was an earnest advocate of denomi-
national education and temperance reform. In 1886 he was
elected a poor-law guardian for the urban ward of the town-
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ship of Barton, and was re-clected in 1889 at the head of the
poll. At the time of his decease he was chairman of the
Barton school attendance committee, and was very widely
respected by all denominations. His funeral was attended by
the Bishops of Salford and Liverpool, over one hundred priests,
besides seven or eight neighbouring Protestant vicars, the local
board of guardians, and other persons of note.

He was a man of considerable mental culture, an able plat-
form speaker, and a fair preacher.

Manchester Guardian, June 2 and 5, 1890 ; Manckester Courier, June 2,
1890 ; Zablet, Ixxv. go4; Weekly Reg., lxxxi. 713; Cath. News, June 7
and 14, 18g0.

1. By a decree of the sacred congregation of propaganda, dated Sept. 14,
1863, the five bishops interested in St. Cuthbert’s College, Ushaw, upon
June 23, 1864, commissioned the very Rev. James Canon Fisher, Canon
Kershaw, and the Rev. John Glover, to report to the sacred congregation
upon the property,revenues,and rights of the said college,as well as upon other
matters connected with it. The powers of the commission were disputed,
and the president and other authorities of the college, with the approval of
Bishop Hogarth, met it with strenuous opposition. By the withdrawal of
Mr. Glover, the college’s friend, it was hoped that the commission would be
invalidated, but after appeals to Rome the two remaining commissioners
were ordered to proceed with the inquiry. Hence it was not till April 7,
1868, that their voluminous report was addressed to Cardinal Barnabo.
Canon Kershaw executed most of the laborious part of this important report,
and his original drafts are now in the episcopal archives of Salford.

2. Papers read at the Manchester Academia of the Catholic Religion—
“On English Literature,” Jan. 18 and March 14 ; “Influence of the Clergy
and Religious on Mental Culture in England during the Middle Ages,”
Oct. 24, 1876, printed as a supplement to the 7Zabdles, folio, Dec. 22, 1877,
pp. 10; “Romance and Minstrel Poetry,” Jan. 23; ‘“Chaucer and his
Contemporaries,” Dec. 1877 ; and “ King Arthur,” Feb. 5, 1878.

3. Portrait, wretched block in the Cat/. Times, June 6, 1890, p. 5.

Kerne, Charles, priest, whose name was more correctly
Carne, was for some time chaplain to the Monington family of
Sarnesfield, near Weobly, co. Hereford. He was probably
brother to Francis Carne, of Bath, gent., a Catholic nonjuror,
in 1717, who died in 1721. Fr. Francis Carne, S.],, born in
Somersetshire, in 1686, was very likely his nephew. During
the excitement caused by Oates’ plot, Mr. Kerne was seized at
Sarnesfield, and arraigned for being a priest, at the Hereford
Assizes, Aug. 4, 1679. Scroggs, the Chief Justice, presided
at the trial. The evidence against him was of the flimsy
kind usual in such cases, and Mr. Kerne had little difficulty
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in rebutting it. Nevertheless his acquittal was more likely
due to the fact of his having taken the vaths of allegiance and
supremacy. Bro. Foley prints a letter of his to Mrs. Eliz.
Sheldon, begging for intercession, not only for Mr. Kemble,
who was already sentenced to death, but also for himself, then
awaiting his trial in Hereford gaol. After his release Mr.
Kerne returned to Sarnesfield, where he was living in 1702,
and probably continued till his death in 1712.

Mr. Kerne was a member of the chapter, to which he was
elected June 6, 1698.

Tryal of Charles Kerne; Dodd, Ch. Hist., lil. 303 ; Foley, Records S.J.,
v. 908 ; Payne, Eng. Cath. Nonjurors, and Records of the English Caths.;
Gillote, Hist. of Missions, MS.; Old Chapter Records, MSS.

1. “The Trial, Conviction, and Condemnation of Andrew Brommich and
William Atkins, for being Romish Priests, before the Right Hon. the Lord
Chief Justice Scroggs, at the Summer Assizes at Stafford, held there for the
County of Stafford, where they received sentence of death accordingly.
Together with the Tryal of Charles Kerne, at Hereford Assizes last, for
being a Romish Priest.” Lond. 1679, fol., pp. zo.

Kerne’s trial commences on p. 13 and ends on p. 20. It was also published
separately.

Keyes, or Kaye, Robert, conspirator, was the son of
Edward Kaye, a Protestant clergyman, of Staveley, co. Derby,
who was fourth son of John Kaye, of Woodsome, co. York,
Esq. (by Dorothy, dau. of Robert Maleverer, of Wodersome),
from whom the Yorkshire baronets of that name are lineally
descended. His mother was Anne, daughter of Sir Robert
Tyrwhitt, of Kettleby, co. Lincoln, a Catholic gentleman of
great possessions in that county, who raised and led two
hundred and fifty of his tenantry with the army sent against
the northern insurgents in the 13th Elizabeth. Though his
father is said to have founded the family of Kaye, of Glatton,
co. Hunts, and Robert Keyes himself is described as of
that place, it is evident he was but in indigent circumstances,
for previous to the Gunpowder Plot he had been, with his
family, for some time an inmate in the mansion of Lord
Mordaunt, at Turvey, co. Beds, and his wife, Christiana, was
employed in bringing up the children of that nobleman.
She was the daughter of Wm. Cooper, and relict of Thomas
Groome. Lord Mordaunt’s intimacy with Keyes was a cir-
cumstance afterwards strongly pressed against his lordship in
‘the Star Chamber, as indicating his privity to the plot.
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In the early part of 1604, Catesby and his associates had
matured their plans, and taken a house at Lambeth for the
purpose of collecting the combustibles and other materials
necessary for their proposed design of blowing up the Par-
liament House. It was necessary that some one should have
the custody of the house, and at Catesby’s suggestion it was
committed to Robert Keyes, who, after taking an oath of
secrecy, was received into the number of conspirators, shortly
before Midsummer. Fr. John Gerard, in his “ Narrative of
the Gunpowder Plot,” describes him as “a grave and sober
man, and of great wit and sufficiency, as I have heard divers
say, that were well acquainted with him. His virtue and
valour were the chiefest things wherein they could expect
assistance from him ; for otherwise his means were not great,
but in those two, by report, he had great measure. More the
pity that such men, so worthy to be esteemed, should lose
themselves in such a labyrinth of erring courses.” After the
discovery of the plot Keyes was arrested in Warwickshire,
Nov. g, 1605. He had not accompanied the rebels on their
march from Dunchurch to Holbeach, but was probably on his
way to join them when he was apprehended. He was immedi-
ately sent to Sir Richard Walsh, the Sheriff of Worcestershire,
who had pursued and captured the conspirators at Holbeach,
and with them was soon afterwards conveyed to the Tower.

On Monday, Jan. 27, 1606, Keyes and his co-conspirators,
Robert and Thomas Winter, Guy Fawkes, John Grant,
Ambrose Rookwood, and Thomas Bates, were tried at West-
minster Hall before a special commission. All the prisoners
pleaded not guilty, which excited some surprise, as each of
them had previously confessed the principal facts charged in
the indictment. Fawkes, however, explained that neither he
nor any of his companions meant to deny that which had
been confessed by them, and which their conduct had rendered
notorious throughout the realm. “But this indictment,”
added he, “contains many other matters, which- are not true,
and which we ought not to countenance by our assent or
silence. It is true that all of us were actors in this plot of
powder, but it is not true that the holy fathers were privy to it,
as mentioned in the charge. We never opened the matter to
them.” When it came to the turn of the prisoners to answer
why sentence should not be pronounced against them, “ Mr.
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Keyes,” says Fr. Gerard, “did speak but few words, but such
as did make show of great spirit. He affirmed that the perse-
cution was such before they undertook this business, and
himself had his goeds seized with such violence, that to live in
such misery seemed worse than death, and therefore to free
both himself and others, he was glad of this occasion.” The
prisoners, after their condemnation and judgment, were sent
back to the Tower. On the following Friday, Keyes, Thomas
Winter, Ambrose, Rookwood, and Guy Fawkes, were drawn
upon hurdles to the old palace in Westminster, opposite to the
Parliament House, the place appointed for execution. On the
scaffold Keyes showed no sign of fear, said little, and mounted
the ladder firmly. When ready he relaxed his hold, lest the
hangman should take him unprepared, and slipped from the
ladder, but the swing broke the halter, and falling to the ground
he was “quickly drawn to the block and there divided into
four quarters,” Jan. 31, 1606.

His son Henry, of Glatton, co. Hunts, Esq., who returned
a pedigree at the visitation of that county in 1613, married
Susanna, daughter of John Loftis, of Lutton, co. Northampton,
and had two sons, John and Robert, the eldest being aged
three in that year.

Jardine, Gunpowder Plot; Morris, Condition of Catholics; Dodd, Ch.
Hist. A\ ; Foster, Visit. of Yorks.; Ellis, Camden’s Visit. of Hunts.

1. “The Arraignment and Execution of the late Traitors (Digby, . . . .
Keyes), &c.” Harl. Miscel. iii.

“ A Discourse of the Manner of the Discovery of the Gunpowder Plot.”
Lond. 1606, 4to. Printed by the king’s printer, and published by authority
of the Government, was ascribed to the pen of the king, and hence became
known as the “ King’s Book.” It was not only profusely dispersed in England,
but was sent, together with the king’s speech on opening the Parliament, to
the ambassadors at foreign courts, translated into several languages, and
circulated with the utmost diligence in every part of Europe. Jardine attri-
butes it to the pen of Sir Francis Bacon, and says that it is a narrative of no
historical value, but merely a Court version of the transaction, given to the
world for the express purpose of leading the public mind in a particular
direction. It was republished by Thos. Barlow, Bishop of Lincoln, with the
object of stirring up animosity at the time of the Oates Plot, under the
title, “ The Gunpowder Treason,” with a discourse of the manner of its dis-
covery . . . . and . . . . a preface touching that horrible conspiracy. Lond.
1679, 4to.

“ Warhafftige unnd eygentliche beschreibung der allerschrecklichsten und
grawsamsten verrdtheren so jemals erhort worden, wieder die Konigliche
Maiestit,” &c. Frankfurt, 1606, 4to, with plates by De Bry.
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“ An Answer to several Scandalous Papers scattered abroad, under the
colour of a Catholic Admonition.” Lond. 1606, fol. and 4to, by Robt. Cecil,
Earl of Salisbury.

“The Romish Spider, with his Web of Treason, Woven and Broken :
together with the severall uses that the World and Church shall make there-
of” Lond. 1606, 4to, 3 pts., by a fanatical Puritan divine named Thomas
Cooper, who wrote other valueless works on the same subject.

Until within recent times the Gunpowder Plot has been an inexhaustible
theme for all sorts of writers to vent their animosity against Catholics. Any
works of historical value will be found noticed under names connected with
the Plot, ide John Grant, &c., and also under those taking part in the con-
troversy respecting the Oath of Allegiance.

Keynes, George, sen., Father, S.J., born in May 1553,
was the son of John Keynes, of Compton-Pauncefoot, co.
Somerset, Esq., and his wife Jane Welch. Several members
of this ancient Catholic family entered the Society, and their
biographies will be found in Bro. Foley’s “Collectanea S.J.”
Edward and Humphrey Keynes were arrested with Fr. Cam-
pion at Lyford, in 1581, and Edward was exiled. A youth
of the same family, Edward Keynes, was admitted at St.
Alban’s, Valladolid, Nov. 26, 1608, but died in the College
@EENO 600"

George Keynes studied for some time under a tutor at home,
then spent two years in public schools, and a year and a
quarter at Oxford. He afterwards lived for twelve years in
the family of an English nobleman, and during that time
delivered private controversial lectures. Subsequently he went
over to Tournay, was admitted into the Society Aug. 29,
1593, and commenced his noviceship there on the following
oth Sept. After completing his two years’ probation, he went
to St. Omer’s College to study moral theology, Sept. 15, 1595.
There he died in 1611.

In a letter from Fr. Robt. Drury to Fr. Thos. Owen, dated
Posna, March 9, 1612, he is called “a most prudent and
virtuous man, and a favourite of all.” In another letter from
Fr. Wm. Baldwin to Fr. R. Persons, dated May 20, 1609, he
is recommended to be sent to Paris, “in that he is a man not
noted, and hath the French tongue, having lived there.”

Foley, Records S.J., vols. v. and vii. ; Oliver, Collectanca S.J.; Valladolid
Diary, MS. ; Bridgewater, Concertatio, f. 407.

1. The Roman Martyrologe set forth by the Command of Pope
Gregory XIII., and reviewed by the authority of Urban VIII.
Translated out of Latin into English, by G. K., of the Society of
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Jesus. S. Omer’s, 1627, very sm. 8vo, front. by De Jode; “ The Second
Edition, in which are added divers Saints, put into the Calender since the
former Impression.” S. Omer’s, Thomas Gevbels, 1667, very sm. 8vo, title,
Decretum, &c., and Epistle, 8ff., pp. 376, Moveable Feasts and Prayers, 2ff.

Oliver erroneously attributes this posthumous work to Geo. Keynes, jun.,
S.J., who was not born at the time of its publication. Neither Alegambe nor
Southwell mention it in their editions of Ribadeneira’s Bzl Script. Soc.
According to Fr. Morris it was Fr. Keynes who gave the approbation dated
St. Omer, June 23, 1608, to the Rev. John Wilson’s “ English Martyrologe,”
printed in 1608, but it does not appear in that edition. Wilson had the care
of the press established at St. Omer’s College by Fr. Persons. It was pro-
bably he who edited “ The Roman Martyrologe” from the MS. by Fr,
Keynes.

Keynes John, Father, S.]J., son of Edw. Keynes, of Comp-
ton-Pauncefoot, co. Somerset, gent., and his wife, Anne Brett,
was born in 1624. He studied his humanities at St. Omer’s
College, whence he proceeded to the English College at
Valladolid, and was admitted under the a/ias of Newport, in
1642, taking the usual oath to serve the secular mission in
England. Several of his relations adopted the same a/zas, and
one, Charles Keynes, also entered St. Alban’s under that name
in 1660, was admitted to the Society in 1663, and died at
Liege in 1673. His sister Elizabeth married John Ewens, of
Luddon, co. Somerset, gent.,, and was the mother of Fr.
Maurice Ewens, a/ias Newport and Keynes, S.]., and Matthew
Ewens, a/tas Keynes, a student in orders at the English
College at Rome, who afterwards went to Douay on account
of his health, and eventually died at Paris.

St. Alban’s at this period was governed by the Jesuits, and
Fr. John Barbian was young Keynes’ master in arts. His
brilliant parts induced the professors to obtain for him a
release from his vow, and after completing logic he was
admitted at Villagarcia into the Society’s Province of Castile,
July 30, 1645. There he finished his course with great
applause, and publicly professed, with like credit for himself
and his brethren in the province. In 1660 he was professor
of theology in St. Ambrose’s College. He taught philosophy
at Compostella, and theology for nine years at Valladolid,
Salamanca, and Pampeluna. In 1672 he joined the English
province, and was appointed prefect of studies at Liége, but
obtained permission to devote himself to the care of the
English and Irish soldiers in Flanders, whilst the plague was
raging among them. In this service he caught the distemper,
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and was sent to England for the recovery of his health. At
the time of the Oates’ plot he was rector in London, and the
contrivers purposed to make him a victim, but happily he
succeeded in effecting his escape to the Continent, and was
made rector of Lieége College in 1680. On July 4, 1684, he
was declared provincial, an office which he filled with singular
ability, prudence, and credit, till his resignation, Aug. 22,
1689. During the brief reign of James II. his Majesty
granted the Savoy Hospital for the purpose of a Jesuit college,
and on May 24, 1687, Fr. Keynes and a number of professors
entered into possession. The provincial had also established
a smaller college in the heart of the city, situated near the
residence of the Bavarian Ambassador, which was opened on
Lady Day, 1688. Both of these schools were speedily filled
with pupils, and the handsome chapels attached to them were
thronged to excess. But the Orange usurpation brought with
it their destruction, and Fr. Keynes, retiring to the Continent,
died at Watten, May 15, 1697, aged 73.

He was a man of superior merit, learned as a theologian,
and powerful as a controversialist, besides being endowed with
the faculties of organisation and government.

Valladolid Diary, MS. ; Southwell, Bibl. Scrip. S.J., p. 466 ; Oliver, Col-
lectanea S.J.; Harl. Soc., Visit. of Somerset, 1623 ; De Backer, Bibl. des
Ecriv. S.J.; Foley, Records S.J., vol. vii.

1. Dr. Stillingfleet against Dr. Stillingfleet ; showing forth his
palpable contradictions of himself. Lond. 1671, 4to.

Stillingfleet was the foremost Protestant champion in the long controver-
sial war which raged between the divines of the Catholic Church in England
and those of the Establishment. His pen was ever eager to attack any
Catholic doctrine ; consequently he frequently found his charges untenable,
and whilst endeavouring to extricate himself fell into self-contradiction.
Amongst other things he published “A Discourse concerning the Idolatry
practised in the Church of Rome, and the hazard of salvation in it ; wherein
a particular account is given of the fanaticisms and divisions of that Church,”
Lond. 1671, 8vo. This elicited Fr. Keynes’ reply, and it was also refuted by
Fr. J. V. Canes, O.S.F,, in his “rg xafohwkg, or, An Account given
to a Catholick Friend of Dr. Stillingfleet’s late book against the Roman
Church. Together with a short Postil upon his Text. In three letters, by
J. V. C.,” Bruges, 1672, 12mo, preface (signed 25 June, 1672, J.C.), title, &c.,
8 fi., To the Reader, 1 f, pp. 80, 42, 32, and 102, the last signed J. V. C.
(see vol. i. p. 393); by Dom H. P. S. Cressy, 0.S.B. (see vol. i. p. 596) ; by
Dr. T. Godden (see vol. ii. pp. 504-5) ; and by Ino. Sergeant, A. Woodhead,
and J. Warner, S.J. The last was the author of “Stillingfleet still against
Stillingfleet,” erroneously attributed to Fr. Keynes by Southwell (B7/.



KIC.:] OF THE ENGLISH CATHOLICS. 33

Seript. S.J.), and followed by Wood and Dodd. Stillingfleet rejoined with
“The new way of Answering examined ; in reply to two Treatises entitled :
¢ Stillingfleet,” and ¢ Stillingfleet’s Principles considered,” Lond., 1672, 8vo,
and “ An Answer to Several Treatises occasioned by a book entitled, A Dis-
course, &c.,” 1673.

Edmund Ellis, 2 nonjuring divine, also replied with “ Epistola ad authorem
libelli cujusdam : cui titulus, Stillingfleet against Stillingfleet.” Southwell
says Fr. Keynes published an appendix to his work, which may be the
following :

2. “ Some Generall Observations upon Dr. Stillingfleet’s Book and way of
Writing. With a Vindication of St. Ignatius Loyola and his followers the
Jesuits from the foul aspersions he haslately cast upon them, in his discourse
concerning the Idolatry, &c. In Four Letters written to A. B.,” 1672, 4to,
pp- 1ii.—69.

3. A Rational Compendious way to Convince, without any dis-
pute, all persons whatsoever, Dissenting from the True Religion,
by J. K. 1674, 12mo, pp. 124 ; “A New Edition. By the Rev. I. Keynes,
0.S.].” Lond., Keating Brown & Co., 1813, 32mo, pp. 148 ; Lond., T. Jones,
1848, 32mo, pp. 148. Translated into Latin, ¢ Regula credendorum ceu
Methodus Polemica ad omnes omnino homines a vera Religione,” Leodii,
1684, 12mo ; into French, “ Le Guide des Croyans, ou Methode Polemique
du R. P. Jean Keynes, Theologian de la Compagnie de Jesus: pour con-
vaincre, clairement, solidement, et en peu de mots, tous ceux qui sont
éloignez de la veritable Religion. Traduite de ’Anglois en Francois, par
M. Gonneau. Revue, corrigée, et augmentée, sur la Traduction Latine qui
en a este fait depuis peu de temps, par le meme auteur,” St. Omer, 1688, 8vo.

This little treatise was highly appreciated in its day, being well-calculated
to enlighten the intelligent inquirer after truth. * Itisa concise and masterly
refutation of error, and a logical exponent of the truth of Catholicity” (Deo/-
mait's Mag., vii. 375).

4. Florus Anglo-Bavaricus, seu Historia Fundationis Collegii
Anglorum Soc. Jesu Leodii sub Maximiliano et Maria Bavarise
Ducibus ad heec tempora gesta sunt complectens, et in nupera
procella contra Catholicos ac preesertim Patres Societatis Jesu
in Anglia a Tito Oate excitata, paucis exponens. Leodii, 1685, 4to,
pp. 205 ; idem, large paper, and partly in different type.

This rare work, principally though not entirely compiled by Fr. Keynes,
is largely drawn from the Annual Letters of the province.

Rickham, John, sergeant of Royal Artillery, thrown from
his horse whilst at drill on Woolwich Common, Oct. 28, 1881,
aged 33.

Redman, Funeral Sevmon.

1. “The Funeral Sermon of Sergeant John Kickham, of the Fifth Brigade
of Royal Artillery. Preachedin St. Peter’s Church, Woolwich, Nov. 6, 1881,
by the Rev. J. Redman, D.D.” Lond., Burns & Oates, 1881, 12mo, pp. 16,
third thousand.

An interesting example of a Catholic soldier’s funeral, illustrating the good
results to be obtained from missions to soldiers. The author, in collabora-

MO IV, @
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tion with the Rev. the Lord Archibald Douglas, compiled “ The Soldier's
Companion to the Spiritual Exercises,” in 1878.

Killick, William, Father, S.J., probably of Scotch an-
cestry, was educated at St. Omer’s College, and on Sept. 7,
1689, entered the novitiate at Watten, and passed through the
usual course. Bro. Foley omits him from his “ Collectanea S.].,”
without assigning any reason. Dr. Oliver says he died in Mary-
land during the month of Aug. 1720.

Oliver, Collections S.J.; Anath, Poetica.

1. Anathemata Poetica, &c., Audomari, 1688, 4to (see vol. ii. p. 524),
composed by Guliel. Killick and Jacobus Gooden, poeticians at St. Omer’s
College.

King, George Vincent, O.P., bishop, born at Becca, a
little village near Hazlewood, Yorkshire, April 16, 1837, was
the eldest son of George King, and his wife Isabella, daughter
of Wm. Maltus, of the same county, and sister of Fr. James
Austin Maltus, O.P. At the age of twelve he was sent to the
Dominican school at Hinckley, co. Leicester. In 1850 the
friars established a convent at Woodchester, co. Gloucester, and
among its earliest students was the future bishop. There he
pursued his studies in philosophy and theology, received the
habit June 22, 1853, and made his solemn profession in June,
1854. He afterwards proceeded to the University of Louvain,
where he graduated B.D., July 9, 1860. In the same year he
returned to England, and was ordained priest at Nottingham
by Bishop Roskell. Subsequently he went to the convent of
his order at Quercia, near Viterbo, for the highest theological
courses, and took the degree of D.D. In 1862 he returned to
Woodchester, and served Woodchester Park, the seat of Wm.
Leigh, Esq, and the mission at Nympsfield for about eight
years. He was elected sub-prior of Woodchester in 18635, and
prior in the following year, and again for another triennium in
1869. In 1870 he was elected provincial of the order in
England, re-elected in 1874, and a third time in 1878, so that
he occupied this responsible office for twelve years. In 1873
he was at the provincial synod of Westminster. From July,
1882, to Nov. 1885, he served the chaplaincy at Prudhoe Hall,
near Newcastle-on-Tyne, the seat of Mrs. Liddell. By briefs
of Sept. 11, 1885, Fr. King was appointed titular Bishop of
Juliopolis, and coadjutor, with the right of succession, to
Dr. Gonin, Archbishop of Port-of-Spain, Trinidad, who had
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formerly been prior of Woodchester. The bishop-elect was
consecrated at Woodchester on the following Dec. §, by the
Hon. and R. R. Dr. Clifford, Bishop of Clifton, assisted by
Dr. Hedley, O.S.B,, and Dr. Riddell, Bishops of Newport-and-
Menevia and Northampton. In the last week in February, his
lordship started for Louvain, to give holy orders to some Eng-
lish students, intending to proceed thence to Rome. He was,
however, taken ill on his journey, and a few hours after his
arrival at the convent of his order at Louvain he collapsed
suddenly, and died, presumably of heart disease, Feb. 26, 1886,
aged 48.

Dr. King was an eloquent preacher, a good administrator,
and the fortunate possessor of an amiable and gentle disposition,
which endeared him to rich and poor alike. He was interred
at Parc, which belongs to the Premonstratentian Order.

Tablet, vol. Ixvi. p. 383 ; Weekly Reg., vol. Ixxii. p. 743, vol. Ixxiii. p. 307 ;
Cath. Times, March 5, 1886 ; Payne, Hist. of Fam. of. Malthus.

King, Robert, Bishop of Oxford, descended from an
ancient Devonshire family, was professed in the Cistercian
Abbey of Rewley, in the suburbs of Oxford. In 1506 he was
admitted B.D., and in Feb. 1518, took his degree of D.D. He
was Abbot of Bruerne, a monastery of his order in Oxfordshire,
in 1515, and afterwards was made Abbot of Thame in the
same county. On Jan. 7, 1527, he was appointed Suffragan
Bishop of Lincoln, with the See of Rheon 7n partibus infidelinm,
in the province of Constantinople, and on Nov. 28, 1537, he
was collated to the prebend of Biggleswade, co. Bedford, in the
cathedral church of Lincoln. When it was decided to dis-
solve Oseney Abbey, near Oxford, another house of his order,
Bishop King was appointed abbot-commendatory thereof, and
thus had the unenviable distinction of being the last abbot of
three Cistercian monasteries. In 1542 Henry VIII. changed
Oseney Abbey into the cathedral church of Christ and the
Blessed Virgin, and created the See of Oxford, to which King
was raised in September of that year, with his palace at
Gloucester Hall, the dean and chapter being lodged in Oseney
Abbey. This arrangement continued till 1546, when the con-
ventual church of St. Fridewide in Oxford, which had been
re-established as Cardinal College, and was then known as
King’s College, or King Henry VIIL.’s College, was made the
cathedral church under the title of Christ Church. In the
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beginning of Edward VI.s reign a recital of the erection of the
See was made, but Gloucester Hall was omitted and retained
by the Crown, so that it does not appear where the bishop
resided, and it is said that his revenues were so small as to be
scarcely sufficient for the due maintenance of his dignity.

When Mary ascended the throne, Bishop King submitted
himself to the Holy See, and, according to Maziere Brady,
received from Cardinal Pole, on Feb. 23, 15535, absolution, con-
firmation, and dispensation, though his name does not occur in
the Consistorial Acts of 1554 and 1555. He did not assist
at any consecrations enumerated by Professor Stubbs in his
“Registrum,” He was then very advanced in years, and took
little part in public affairs, living in peace till his death, Dec. 4,
1557

He was buried near the high altar of his church at Oxford,
under a marble monument with a canopy supported by pillars,
which was afterwards removed to one of the aisles. At a later
period the sons of his grand-nephew, Dr. John King, Bishop of
London, erected a stained glass window to his memory, in
which he was represented in his episcopal robes, with mitre
and crosier, and the ruins of Oseney Abbey in the background.
Queen Mary nominated Thomas Goldwell, Bishop of St. Asaph,
to the vacant See of Oxford, and by writ of Nov. 9, 1558,
granted him custody of the temporalities, but the Queen’s
death, eight days later, and the change of religion by Elizabeth,
prevented the completion of this appointment by the Holy See,
and thus King must be considered the only Catholic Bishop of
Oxford. His grand-nephew, Dr. John King, Bishop of London,
was currently reported at the time of his death to have been
reconciled to the Church. This matter will be found treated
under the notice of George Muskett’s “ Bishop of London: His
Legacy.”

Wood, Athen® Oxon., ed. 1691, vol. i. p. 585 ; Dodd, Ch. Hist., vol. i
P- 490 ; Dugdale, Monasticon, ed. 1846, vol. v. pp. 403, 496, vol. vi. p. 248 ;
Brady, Episc. Succ., vol. i. pp. 69, 115.

Kinsman, Edward, priest, for some time was at St. John’s
College, Louvain. He and his brother “ W.” translated the
lives of the Saints from the Spanish of Fr. Alfonso de
Villegas, O.P., and published it at Douay in 1610-14. Gee,
in his “ Foot out of the Snare,” says that he was in or about
London in 1623. Dr. Oliver questions if he is not identical
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with Fr. Edw. Dawson, S.J. (27de vol. ii. p. 32), who translated
Fr. P. Ribadeneira’s “ Lives of the Saints,” Douay, 1615, but
if he is correct in stating that Fr. Dawson was an only son the
suggestion falls to the ground. In other respects, the little
that is known about Kinsman bears considerable resemblance
to the facts related in Dawson’s life. Both are stated by Gee
to have been in London about the same time.

A namesake of Edward Kinsman, probably a nephew, and a
native of London, was ordained priest at Douay College,
Oct. 24, 1627. He was apparently living at St. Omer’s in
1663, and assisted in that year at the election of the Lady
Abbess Caryll, O.S.B., of Dunkirk. Perhaps FF. Bernard and
Michael Kinsman, S.J., born in London in 1611 and 1614,
were his younger brothers.

Lieut. Thomas Kinsman, who appears in the list of Catholics
who lost their lives in defence of their Sovereign, was slain at
Lincoln during the civil wars.

Oliver, Collections S.].; Gee, Foot out of the Snare; Foley, Records S./J.,
vol. vil.; Douay Diaries ; Castlemain, Cath. Apols

I. The Lives of Saints, gathered out of . . . . Peter Ribadeneyra
....D. Alfonsus Villegas and other authenticall authors.
Translated out of Italian into English, and conferred with the
Spanish. By W. and E. Kin, B. Doway, 1610-14, 2 vols, 8vo ; 76/d.,
1615, 8vo; (Douay ?), 1623, 8vo, pp. xxxii-160-326, 1st Pte. “With an
appendix prefixed of the Saints lately canonized and beatified by Paulus V.
and Gregory XV. By E. Kinsman, Gent.”; “ An Appendix of the Saints
lately Canonized and Beatified by Paule the fifth and Gregorie the
Fifteenth,” Doway, H. Taylor, 1624, 12mo; 1628, 4to; 1630, 4to; “Lives
of the Saints, written in Spanishe by the R. F. Alfonso Villegas : faithfully
translated into Englishe; with the lives of sundrie other saints out of F.
Ribadeneira, Surius, &c. With the Lives of St. Patrick, S. Brigid, and S.
Columba, Patrons of Ireland, adorned with many brasen pictures” [Douay],
John Cousturier, 1636, 4to, pp. 945, approb. 1 f,, and appendix 179 ff. For
various editions by Villegas and Ribadeneira, vide E. Dawson (vol. ii. p. 32,
No. 2), J. Heigham (vol. iii. p. 258, No. 11), and Wm Petre.

Kirk, John, D.D., born April 13, 1760, was the son of
William Kirk (born in 1710), of Acton Burnell, co. Salop, and
his wife, Mary Fielding, both Catholics. On April 25, 1770,
his father placed him at Sedgley Park School, which had only
been established seven years. In 1771 the Rev. Thomas
Hartley succeeded the Rev. Joseph Syers as chaplain at the
Park, and it was he who inspired the youth with the desire to
go to the English College at Rome. His early inclination to
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the ecclesiastical state, united with his talents and proficiency
in every branch of elementary knowledge, had already recom-
mended him to his superiors, who now decided to gratify his
wish. On Feb. 8, 1773, he left the Park for Rome, and on
his voyage accidentally fell overboard, but was saved from
drowning by the intrepidity of the second mate, who jumped
into the sea and rescued him. On the following June 5 he
was admitted into the College by Cardinal Corsini, under the
rectorship of Fr. Wm. Hothersall, and had the distinction of
being the last scholar received by the fathers of the English
Province, S.J., who had administered the College ostensibly for
the secular mission since the year 1579. In the August fol-
lowing young Kirk’s arrival at Rome the Society was suppressed
by Clement XIV.,, and the English College was placed under
the administration of Italian secular priests, Mgr. Foggini,
Abate Magnani and Abaté Felice. This arrangement was
deeply deplored by the English secular clergy, for whom the
college was originally founded. English students naturally
declined to place themselves under foreigners, and all the
efforts of the clergy to obtain the restoration of the government
proving of no avail, the college dwindled, until its final suppres-
sion by the French army under Berthier in 1798. Twenty
years latet the appeals of the English clergy were conceded
by Pius VII,, and the college was restored under the rectorship
of the Rev. Robert Gradwell, March 8, 1818.

On Sept. 22, 1776, Mr. Kirk took the college oath, began
philosophy Nov. 10, and had the honour of delivering an
oration before the Pope on St. Stephen’s Day, Dec. 26, 1776.
Many circumstances show that his talents and application were
justly appreciated at the college, and that he had become a
favourite with his superiors. It was owing to the friendship of
the then rector, who, during his course of philosophy, kindly
permitted him access to the private library, that he first became
acquainted with Dodd’s works, and especially his “ Church
History.” This he read with avidity, and thereby acquired
that decided taste and particular bent of study which gave tone
and character to his literary pursuits in after-life.

What the “perils of the sea” had well-nigh effected in 1773,
a malignant fever more nearly accomplished in 1782, when, in
the midst of his divinity course, his life was despaired of by
the physicians. In a letter, dated Rome, July 10, 1782, Fr.
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John Thorpe, ex-Jesuit, says: ‘“ Mr. Kirk, the most promising
youth of the English College, received the vzaticum yesterday.”
After his recovery he resumed his studies, one of his masters
for a short time being the eminent Mgr. Dominico Testa, and
on June 14, 1783, received sub-deacon’s orders, the diaconate
on June 5, 1784, and on the following Dec. 18 was ordained
priest by Cardinal Corsini, the protector of the English College,
in the private chapel of his palace at the Longara. He said
his first Mass on Dec. 21, the Feast of St. Thomas the Apostle,
on the sixty-seventh anniversary of which he passed to his
eternal home. On May 31, 1785, he left the college, and after
a fortnight’s stay with Sig. Bottieri, formerly his professor of
philosophy in the English College, and then principal of Ferdi-
nando College in the University of Pisa, he proceeded through
France by Paris and Douay, and landed at Dover on Aug. 17.
Fr. Thorpe, in a letter dated June 1785, thus comments upon
him : “ This modest, devout priest, and well disposed to main-
tain that character, has left Rome for England.” He brought
with him some valuable papers relating to the affairs of the
English Catholics, which he had fortunately rescued from
destruction, and these he afterwards gave to the Rev. Joseph
Berington.

His first missionary appointment was in Shropshire, at
Aldenham Hall, the seat of Sir Richard Acton, to whom he was
personally introduced on Sept. 28 by his bishop, the Right Rev.
and Hon. Dr. Thomas Talbot. Sir Richard was a convert,
and though the chaplaincy had existed for over twenty years
the congregation attached to it only amounted to six persons.
Mr. Kirk’s services, therefore, were soon required for a more
important position, and on Dec. 17, in the same year, he was
recalled by his bishop, and appointed chaplain at Sedgley Park,
where he succeeded the Rev. John Roe, and arrived Jan. 24,
1786. In this position, and also in that of vice-president, he
assisted the Rev. Thomas Southworth, who, in 1781, had suc-
ceeded his relative, the Rev. Hugh Kendal, in the presidency
of that celebrated school. The valuable services which Mr.
Kirk rendered to Sedgley Park at this period were afterwards
more substantially confirmed and extended when he returned a
second time to conduct the establishment in the capacity of
president. Meanwhile, on the removal of the Rev. Robert
Tindall to Kilvington Hall, Yorkshire, the seat of the Meynells,
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Mr. Kirk was appointed to his mission at Pipe Hall, near
Lichfield, belonging to the Weld family, and then tenanted by
Mr. Clement Weetman. This manor passed with the daughter
and heiress of Walter Heveningham to Sir James Simeon, of
Chilworth, Bart.,, in 1691, and on the death of his son, Sir
Edward, of Aston, in 1768, was inherited by his nephew,
Thomas Weld, a younger son of Humphrey Weld, of Lulworth
Castle. Previously there was no resident chaplain, the mission
being attended from Bellamore, but in 1768 the Rev. Robert
Tindall, who had just arrived from Rome, was placed here, and
on Feb. 23, 1788, was succeeded by Mr. Kirk. The charge
of the congregation about Tamworth, which hitherto had been
attended from Oscott, was now added to the mission at Pipe
Hall. Under Mr. Kirk's direction a new sanctuary was added
to the chapel, and other arrangements were made so as to
accommodate the tenants and labourers on Mr. Weld’s estate,
and about a dozen Catholics from Lichfield.

In July, 1792, the Rev. Arthur Vaughan died at Harvington
Hall, Worcestershire, and Bishop Talbot selected Mr. Kirk for
that ancient chaplaincy. This appointment was eminently
suitable to his taste, for it was the glory of Harvington to have
been served by an unbroken line of literary chaplains from the
reign of James II., and, above all, it was here that Hugh
Tootell, alzas Dodd, wrote his “ Church History,” the continua-
tion of which was the absorbing interest of Mr. Kirk's life.
However, circumstances intervened which prevented this appoint-
ment from being fulfilled. Had it been otherwise, it is probable
that the treasures of the mission, including registers and other
MSS., would never have been allowed to remain forgotten and
neglected in the secret chamber until destroyed by the deplor-
able fire of 1818. After Mr. Vaughan’s death it was decided
to make certain alterations for Mr. Kirk’s accommodation, and,
meanwhile, the bishop instructed him to exchange places with
the Rev. Charles Clements, and to resume the chaplaincy at
Sedgley Park, where he arrived Dec. 18, 1792. A few months
later he was informed by a letter from Dr. Talbot that
Mr. Southworth appeared to have insuperable objections to
remaining president, and that it was his lordship’s earnest wish,
as well as that of his coadjutor, Dr. Charles Berington, to sub-
stitute Mr. Kirk in his place. They begged him not to object
to such an arrangement, as the public good seemed to make it
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necessary. This was wholly unexpected by Mr. Kirk, and
caused him much surprise and regret. He did not deem it
proper, however, to oppose his own wishes and feelings, and
therefore consented on condition that Mr. Southworth should
remain at the Park as chaplain and vice-president. To this
Mr. Southworth agreed, and on April 27, 1793, a mutual ex-
change of office was made. During his presidentship at Sedgley,
Mr. Kirk made several improvements and additions to the house,
and the school greatly benefited in piety, discipline, comfort,
and efficiency under his government. In 17935 Bishop Talbot
was succeeded by his coadjutor, Dr. Charles Berington, as
vicar apostolic of the Midland district. On the death of the
Rev. John Wright, at Longbirch, in July, 1797, Bishop
Berington, knowing Mr. Kirk’s aptitude for business, requested
him to join him in the double capacity of chaplain and secretary,
with the charge of the congregation at Longbirch. Mr. Kirk
readily assented to this proposal, for in reality he had been
anxious for some time to be relieved from the heavy duties of
his position as president. Mr. Southworth was induced to
resume the office, and Mr. Kirk left the Park on Nov. 11, 1797.
In the following June, Bishop Berington, in returning from
Sedgley Park, accompanied by Mr. Kirk, was seized with
apoplexy, on the road from Wolverhampton to Longbirch, and
died in the arms of his secretary. Mr. Kirk remained alone at
Longbirch till the appointment of Dr. Gregory Stapleton to the
Midland vicariate, in March, 1801. The new bishop brought
with him to Longbirch his friend, the Rev. Thomas Walsh, then
in deacon’s orders, as his secretary, and proposed to Mr. Kirk
that, as the Pipe Hall estate had been sold by the Weld family,
and the chapel closed during his absence, he should erect a new
one in Lichfield for the Catholics of the district, including his
former congregation. He accordingly undertook the charge
with spirits brighter than his prospects, which were not very
encouraging. His successor at Pipe Hall, Mr. Clements, had
not stayed very long, and had resigned the mission to
Fr. Isaac Anselm Millward, O.S.F., during whose time the
estate had been sold, a Protestant had succeeded the Catholic
tenant at the Hall, and the chapel had been closed. The be-
longings of the chapel, however, with £200 in money, had been
made over by the late proprietor to Mr. Thomas Hugh Clifford,
subsequently Sir T. H. Clifford-Constable, Bart., of Tixall, for
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the benefit of the mission. When Mr. Kirk arrived at L.ichfield,
Oct. 9, 1801, he found the congregation in possession of a
chapel in"an old house which had been purchased by Mr. Clifford
with the sum derived from Pipe Hall and about 4480 more
which Mr. Kirk had collected. By throwing two rooms into
one a chapel was formed sufficiently capacious, and, as he used
facetiously to add, sufficiently warm, to hold the congregation,
the sanctuary being immediately above the oven of the baker,
who was the tenant of the house. In this “upper-chamber,”
oddly enough situated at the corner of Breadmarket Street and
Bore Street, his entire congregations of Pipe Hall and Lichfield
used to be stowed, or rather stewed, every Sunday and holiday.
But above that little oven there subsisted a small portion of
warm vigorous leaven, which penetrated through a considerable
mass, and produced, in due time, two distinct and healthy con-
gregations, the one at Lichfield itself, and the other at Hopwas
and Tamworth.

Bishop Stapleton settled upon the new mission a sum of £60
a year, which had been left at his disposal, and Mr. Kirk now
set himself to the arduous undertaking of building a chapel and
presbytery. In 1802 he purchased a plot of freehold land in
a convenient situation for the Pipe Hall, Hopwas, and Lichfield
congregations, which then became permanently united. Many
of the Catholic nobility and gentry assisted with contributions,
for even then Mr. Kirk was well known and greatly respected,
and he was enabled to build a convenient chapel and dwelling-
house, which was opened Nov. 11, 1803. It was the first
Catholic chapel erected in Lichfield since the unhappy change
of religion. It was afterwards refronted and considerably
enlarged, and came out, at its re-opening Sept. 23, 1834, the
neat little Norman church of St. Cross.

For some years Mr. Kirk received into his house private
pupils, as a means of augmenting his limited income ; and these
were young men of distinguished Catholic families. But all
his spare time was devoted to literary pursuits, chiefly to the
collection of materials for the continuation of Dodd’s “ Church
History.” He began this collection at Rome, and for over
forty years zealously continued it, till he had amassed papers
which filled more than fifty folio and quarto volumes.

He was also one of the five editors of the Cat/holic Magazine,
established in 1831, and the most active, next to the Rev.
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T.M. M‘Donnell. But in addition to these labours he was the
judicious administrator of various ecclesiastical funds, more
particularly of that known as “ Johnson’s Fund.” He was an
able financier, and under his administration, during a long series
of years, the funds were greatly improved.

When Mr. Kirk was placed at Lichfield, the district of Tam-
worth was also committed to his care, though it was occasionally
served from Oscott. The only place where they could hear
Mass at that time was at Coton, in the house of Mr. Birch, a
basket-maker, whose brother, the Rev. Joseph Birch, died presi-
dent of Sedgley Park in 1821. In early times a chaplaincy
had been maintained by the Comberfords, an ancient family
seated at Comberford Hall, two miles from Tamworth, and also
at Wednesbury, both in the county of Stafford. When that
family became extinct in 1671, the congregation was deprived
of a resident pastor, and from that time received spiritual assist-
ance from Oscott, twelve miles distant, Mass being said after
the sale of the estate in the house of Mr. Crowley, a weaver.
In 1788, as previously mentioned, Tamworth was united to the
Pipe Hall mission, under Mr. Kirk. After the chapel there
was closed, the Catholics of this district were annexed to the
new mission at Lichfield, and had the benefit once a month of
Mass in an apartment in Mr. Birch’s house in the village of
Coton, one mile from Tamworth. In 1815 Mr. Birch died,
and his house being let to a Protestant, Mr. Kirk erected a roorm
24 ft. by 12 ft., in a garden left him by Mr. Birch, and at the
end of a house with which it was made to communicate. The
chapel then consisted of this room, and of the brew-house,
kitchen, and parlour of the adjoining house. It was solemnly
opened on Aug. 15, 1815. Five years later, this house was
also let to a Protestant, and the congregation was restricted to
the room in the garden. In 1826, the Rev. James Kelly was
sent to assist Mr. Kirk in this mission, but he had to lodge at
Fazeley, three miles from Coton, till the erection of a new
chapel. In 1829 Mr. Kirk purchased from Sir Robert Peel a
freehold site in Tamworth, and built a commodious chapel, in
the Grecian style, from designs by Mr. Joseph Potter, with an
excellent presbytery, at a total cost of £2294, which was almost
met by subscriptions. The chapel was opened on June 24,
1830, and the mission was then placed under the sole charge
of Mr. Kelly, who retained it till his death, March 19, 1876.
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To these proofs of his zeal for religion and activity as a
missionary must be added the interest he took in every-
thing concerning the venerable establishment at Sedgley Park,
which he frequently visited and benefited in no small degree in
various ways. He was also greatly attached to the college at
Oscott, of which, indeed, he was the actual originator, for it
was at his suggestion that Bishop Thomas Talbot placed
Dr. John Bew there, in 1794, to educate a few students for the
church. It was a very humble beginning, but led to the
establishment of Oscott as a college two years later. When,
after forty years, the success of this foundation necessitated
the erection of more commodious buildings, and land was
purchased for this purpose at a distance of two miles from the
old college, Mr. Kirk, with his well-known zeal and thorough
knowledge of every requisite for such an establishment, con-
ceived and drew out a complete plan for a new college, which
was adopted, sanctioned by the bishop, Dr. Walsh, and carried
out by the architect, Mr. Joseph Potter, with the exception of
the chapel, which was completed and decorated by the elder
Pugin. Thus was Mr. Kirk instrumental in the establishment
of the new college, as he had been of the old. The erection
was commenced in the year 1835, and the opening took place
in the summer of 1838.

As a well-merited compliment for his many useful labours,
Dr. Wiseman, who was then president of Oscott, obtained for
Mr. Kirk the degree of D.D. The diploma, granted by
Gregory XVI., was dated Nov. g, 1841, and he was formerly
installed in the degree in the chapel at Oscott College. He
had been for many years a member of the old chapter of
England, which was dissolved by the constitution of its
original erection by Dr. Bishop, when the hierarchy was re-
established in England in 1850, and chapters were canonically
erected in the several new dioceses.

In 1841, Dr. Kirk bad passed his 81st year, and it was
high time for him to be assisted in his missionary labours.
Accordingly the Rev. Joseph Parke, who, like himself, had
begun his sacerdotal career at Aldenham, was sent to reside
with him at Lichfield. The venerable old man was liable to
frequent attacks of gout, especially in the hands, so that he
could not use his pen, which to him was a serious deprivation.
To the very last his faculties were clear, and his memory
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distinctly retentive.  Though his frame was impaired by
infirmity, it was not shattered, and thus he closed his protracted
pilgrimage, at his residence attached to St. Cross, Lichfield,
Dec. 21, 1851, aged 91.

In person Dr. Kirk was a fine tall man. His physical
frame and mental faculties were freely and favourably
developed, and he was possessed of a sound mind in a sound
body. He wrote ably and readily upon many subjects, for he
was an accomplished scholar. Besides a good knowledge of
French, Latin, and Greek, he was so well versed in Hebrew,
that when he quitted the English College at Rome, he had
permission from the Pope to recite the psalms of his breviary
in that language. But though an able writer, Dr. Kirk was
no orator. He had a partial impediment in his speech, which
made it difficult for him to avoid an unpleasant hesitation in
some words, and thus he never attempted to preach, but
confined himself to reading. It was the wish of the bishop
and clergy to have brought his remains to the cathedral church
at Birmingham, but at the desire of his relatives he was
interred in the vault which he had specially prepared for
himself in his chapel at Lichfield.

Kirk, Autobiography, MS., Weedall, Memoir ; Husenbeth, Memoirs of
Parkers, MS., vol. i. pp. 84-110; Cath. Miscel., N.S., p. 334 ; Cath. Mag.,
ii. 147, v. cliv. ; Weekly Reg., vol. 1xv. 249.

1. Journal of a Student in the English College at Rome, from
July 6th, 1773, to the middle of 1779. MS., by John Kirk, now at
Oscott College.

2. The Faith of Catholics, confirmed by Scripture, and attested
by the Fathers of the first five centuries of the Church. Lond.,
Jos. Booker, 1813, 8vo, with ded. to the Caths. of the United Kingdom,
signed by the Rev. Joseph Berington and the Rev. John Kirk, Nov. 23,
1812 ; 2nd edit.,, much improved and enlarged by Mr. Kirk, “ The Faith of
Catholics on certain points of Controversy, confirmed by Scripture, &c.”
Lond., Booker, 1830, 8vo, pp. lviii-462, preface signed John Kirk, Lichfield,
June 5, 1830; 3rd ed. revised and greatly enlarged by the Rev. James
Waterworthy M.A., Lond.,, Dolman, 1846, 3 vols., 8vo; with additions by
Mgr. Capel, New York, 1885, 3 vols., 8vo, with frontispiece. Latin transla-
tion, 1844 (see vol. 1. p. 194).

Berington was the real author of this work, though Kirk revised and
verified all the passages, made additions, and corrected the proofs. The
second edition was not only enlarged by Kirk, but freed from the objections
of Dr. Milner and others. Speaking of the work Mgr. Weedall says it
stamps his character, and will commend his memory to the gratitude of
Catholic posterity for supplying a recognised deficiency in popular con-
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troversy. . . . . “The work is now familiar to every Catholic, and has been
freely referred to, and specially made use of, by almost every controversial
writer and preacher since its publication, and is deservedly considered one
of the most useful and learned works of modern times.”

It was attacked by the Rev. J. Graham, an Irish parson, by the Rev.
Wm. Kearn, rector of Nunnington, and in 1840 by R. T P. Pope (vide
vol. i. p. 194). The Rev. James Waterworth aunnihilated the second in his
“ Examination,” 1834, which will be treated under that notice, as likewise
under his library edition of “ The Faith of Catholics.”

3. Roman Catholic Principles in reference to God and the
King. First published in the year 1680. To which is preftxed
an Inquiry respecting the Editions and the Author of that
valuable Traect, by J. Kirk. Lond., Jos. Booker, 1815, 8vo, pp. 94.

This remarkable treatise by Dom James Maurus Corker, O.S.B., was
first published anonymously under the title, “ Roman-Catholic Principles,
in reference to God and the King, explained in a letter to a friend, and now
made public, to show the connection between the said Principles and the
late Popish Plot. By a well-wisher of his country.” Lond., 1680, 12mo,
and two other editions of it, at least, were published in that year. It was
reprinted in “Stafford’s Memoires” in 1681 and 1682. Six editions were
published before 1684, and six were published by the Rev. John Gother in
the years 16846 at the end of his “ Papist misrepresented and represented.”
Bishop Wm. Coppinger (of Cloyne and Ross) gave at least twelve editions
of the “ Principles,” first in his * Exposition,” and afterwards in his “True
Piety,” Eleven or twelve more appeared between 1748 and 1813, when it
was incorporated in the “ Faith of Caths.” ; it was reprinted in “ The Pam-
phleteer,” vol. xiii., 1819 ; and under the title of “The Catholic Eirenicon,
in friendly response to Dr. Pusey,” Lond., 1865, 8vo. Charles Butler printed
it in his “ Confessions of Faith,” and again with an historical account of the
tract in his ¢ Hist. Memoirs,” 3rd edit., 1822, p. 493.

In a charge to his clergy, dated April 30, 1813, Bp. Milner took exception
to the accuracy of the “ Principles” as resuscitated by Mr. Berington in
his “ Reflections addressed to the Rev. John Hawkins,” in 1785, and again
as to their exposition in “ The Faith of Catholics,” in 1813. In consequence,
Kirk published his edition, accompanied with notes, pointing out some of the
variations in point of doctrine, no less than of language, which are manifest
in the different editions of the “ Principles.”” Still, Dr. Milner declined to
approve them, and denounced them in another charge dated Oct. 14, 1819,
which he inserted in the Appendix to his “ Supplementary Memoirs,” 1820,
pp- 263-78. He would not admit that the authorship of the “ Principles ”
had been proved, or that they had received the sanction of Gother, and
maintained that they had been rejected by Bishops James and Thos. Talbot,
Matt. Gibson, and Hay. With all his respect for Dr. Kirk, Dr. Milner
would have preferred the adoption of a more authoritative formula, such as
“The Creed of Pope Pius IV.,” or Bossuet’s “ Exposition.” Charles Butler
replied to the bishop in his “ Hist. Memoirs,” 1822, vol. iii. pp. 493-516.

4. Collections for the Continuation of Dodd’s Church History
of England. MSS.

Dr. Kirk’s acquaintance with Dodd’s ¢ History” commenced during his
course of philosophy at the English College, Rome, about 1778. He gives
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the origin of his life-long researches in these words: ‘Fr. Constable’s
¢ Specimen of Amendments,” gave me the first information that such a work
was in existence. For reasons best known to the superiors, this work was
placed in the public library of the college, to which the students in divinity
and philosophy had access : while the ¢ History’ itself was confined to the
private library of the rector. It was there that I discovered it, when attend-
ing his lectures on Scripture, &c. ; and, at my earnest request, he lent me
the work, which, being an Italian, he could not himself read, and allowed
me to keep till I quitted the college. Soon after I discovered, in the public
library, many valuable and original letters of Cardinal Allen, Fr. Persons,
Drs. Stapleton, Barrett, and Worthington, Sir Fris. Englefield and others.
These I copied. They fill a folio volume of 200 pages ; and many of them
would form a valuable supplement to Dodd. I had also many opportunities
while at college of seeing and copying more recent papers; and ever since
my return to England, in 1785, have carefully collected whatever fell in my
way regarding Catholic affairs, and that might be available to the projected
continuation.”

Referring to this collection in a correspondence in 1876 with the present
writer, the late Fr. Knox, of The Oratory, said—*“ Dr. Kirk was un-
fortunately a very inexact copyist, and his transcripts are not be relied
upon.”

By degrees Dr. Kirk’s collection became considerable, and in 1814 he
mentioned his purpose to Mr. Smelt and the Abbé Paul M’Pherson, who
highly approved the design and promised their assistance. In Dec. of that
year he issued a circular “Address to the Catholic Public,” in which he
solicited the assistance of others, yet, with the exception of the gentlemen
already named, Bishop Gradwell, Dom Richard Marsh, O.S.B, and a few
others, he “met with no coadjutor or friendly pen” to help him. Within
the next four years he visited the colleges at Ushaw, Ampleforth, and Down-
side ; Lancashire, Burton Constable twice, Oxford twice, and London twice ;
and in every excursion added largely to his collection. His next work was
to arrange and bind up in volumes these loose and almost numberless letters
and documents, and to give them proper titles for the purpose of reference.
These amounted to sixty-two or more folio and quarto vols., many of them of
great thickness. Some of them were his own property, but by far the greater
number were entrusted to him by the bishops, presidents of the colleges,
and private owners. The latter he restored, and the former assigned to
Canon Tierney:when that able historian undertook to republish and continue
Dodd’s “ Church History?” after the task had been abandoned by Dr. Kirk.
These important volumes, and the progress he had made in his design, are
described in his “ Letter to the Rev. Joseph Berington, respecting the Con-
tinuation of Dodd’s ¢ Church History of England,’” dated Lichfield, Sept.,
1826, Cath. Miscel., vol. vi. pp. 250-263, written in response to Mr.
Berington's letter of March 2, 1825. This elicited a reply from Canon
Tierney—* Letter to the Rev. J. K. respecting his Continuation, &c.,”
dated Arundel, Oct. 1826, 76:d., pp. 328-333, in which Dr. Kirk’s waste of
time in copying a large body of unnecessary papers is deprecated, and his
fears of dissensions through the opposition of the Jesuits dispersed. Dr.
Kirk, whilst repudiating prejudice against them, had complained of their
refusal to allow him to make use of documents in their possession. This
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was to be regretted as Dr. Kirk wished his history to be impartial, which
could not be so if he only saw one side of the various questions at issue.

It was not till about 1818 or 1819 that he commenced his transcripts in
folio vols. for the continuation of Dodd, of which he gives the following
list :—

Vol i. pp. 534. “Records of the Reign of William and Mary.” Art. 1.
Records of James II. and of the {Court of St. Germain. Art. 2. Records or
Acts of Parl. Art. 3. Records of Card. Howard, and of the Institute, a
society of secular priests living together in common, founded by Barthol.
Holtzhauser, a German priest, in 1644 ; much patronised by Card. Howard,
who recommended its adoption, as did also the president or procurator of it,
to the clergy in England. Art. 4. Records of Vicars Apostolic. Art. 5.
Records of VV. AA. and Benedictines. Art. 6. Records of the Dean and
Chapter. Art. 7. Records of Douay Coll. Art. 8. Records of Gregorio
Panzani. Art. 9. Records Miscellaneous.

Vol. ii. pp. 438, and vol. iii. pp. 488. “Records of the Reign of Queen
Anne.” Art. 1. Records of Parl. Art. 2, Records of the Court of St. Ger-
main and of Jacobitism. Art. 3. Records of Vicars Apostolic. Art. 4.
Records of Charges against, with the Defence of the VV. AA. and Clergy of
England. Art. 5. Records of Douay Coll,, and of Dr. Hawarden. Art. 6.
Records of Dr. Short. Art. 7. Records of the Eng. Coll. in Rome. Art. 8.
Records of the Eng, Colleges at Madrid, Seville, and Lisbon. Art. 9. Re-
cords of Rev. John Rivers, Lord Rivers. Art. 10. Records Miscel.

Vol. iv. pp. 462, and vol. v. pp. 528. * Records of the Reign of George 1.”
Art, 1. Records of Jacobitism. Art. 2. Records of Penal L.aws and of Nego-
ciations for their Relaxation. Art. 3. Records of Bishop Giffard. Art. 4.
Records of Vicars Apostolic. Art. 5. Records of Chapter. Art. 6. Records
of Douay Coll. and of Dr. Hawarden. Art. 7. Records of the Eng. Coll. in
Rome. Art. 8. Records of Regulars.

Vol. vi., &c., over 500 pp. “ Records of the Reign of George IL.” Art. 1.
Records of Jacobitism. Art. 2. Records of Penal Laws and of Negociations
for their Relaxation. Art. 3. Records of Vicars Apostolic. Art. 4, Records
of Douay Coll. Art. 5. Records of the Eng. Coll. in Rome. Art. 6. Records
of the College or Residence of S. Lucar. Art. 7. Records of Bp. Challoner.
Art. 8. Records of Regulars, Art.9. Records Miscel.

This volume only brings the records down to 1737.

In copying these records he extracted everything that seemed deserving
of notice in the lives of the persons whose names occurred in them. Thus,
with the help of sundry collections made for him by Dr. Gradwell, and of
the obituaries of the clergy and others, besides the alphabetical list of Jesuits,
he compiled at least the outlines of a copious biography of Catholics, which
may be described as :—

“ Biographical Collections of the English Catholics,” 4 bundles, sm. 8vo,
under the heads of Peers, Barts., Clergy, and Gentry, subdivided into fifty-
four parts, now in the Archiepiscopal Archives of Westminster.

They are almost exclusively confined to the period between the Revolution
of 1688 and the first quarter of this century, with some few as late as 1840.
Partial duplicates of these collections, in Dr. Kirk’s hand, were given by his
nephew, Mr. Thomas Kirk, to the College of St. Francis Xavier, Liverpool.
Generally speaking, the lives are imperfect, and constant reference without
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extract is made to other authorities. The bibliographical portion has
received scant attention, and, indeed, would leave one to suppose that the
writer had not concerned himself about it. In his reply to Canon Tierney,
Cath. Miscel., vol. vi. p. 405, he says, that in the ‘“biographical part,” he
did not receive that assistance from his brethren which he had confidently
anticipated in his ¢ Address.”

5. The Literary Life of the Rev. John SerJeant Written by
himself in Paris, 1700, at the request of the Duke of Perth. Lond.
1816. 8vo.

This originally appeared in detached parts in the Catkolicon, vols. ii.
and iii., edited by Dr. Kirk, who prefixes an introductory letter to the work.
Vide Serjeant, John.

6. About 1794, at the request of his friend, Sir T. H. Clifford-Constable,
Dr. Kirk undertook to decipher, copy, and prepare for publication, *“ The
State Papers and Letters of Sir Ralph Sadler,” which were edited by Mr.
Arthur Clifford, with due acknowledgment to Dr. Kirk, and pub. at Lond.
1809, 2 vols., 4to, zide vol. i. p. 507.

“ Gother’s Prayers for Sundays and Festivals,” with an “ Appendix,” Wol-
verhampton, 1800, 8vo, an abridgment made by the Rev. Jos. Berington, at
the request of his cousin, Bp. Chas. Berington, with a preface and additional
psalms and prayers, was edited by Dr. Kirk and the Rev. John Carter, vide
vol. i. pp. 194, 412. The Rev. W. Croskell passed another edition through
the press (York, A. Bartholoman, 1810, 12mo, pp. vi-429 ; 76. n.d., 16mo) ;
and a fourth edition appeared at Newcastle-upon-Tyne (Wm. Heaton, 1mzo,
pp- 421). The “Appendix” was afterwards printed separately, of the same
size as the “ Garden of the Soul,” and was usually bound up with it.

In the Oct. number of the Cath. Miscel., 1828, Kirk suggested the plan of
printing the “ Children’s First Catechism,” in its two parts of belief and prac-
tice, and of circulating it, as being better calculated to remove prejudices
than tracts of a controversial character. This was afterwards done.

He was also a frequent contributor to the Catholic periodicals of his day.
His memoir of the Rev. Hugh Tootell, Catholicon, 1817, vol. iv. p. 121, is
of especial value. When the Catholic Magasine was commenced in Feb.
1831, he was the most active of the five editors after the Rev. T. M. McDon-
nell, and when that gentleman resigned, on account of the opposition of some
of the proprietors of the journal, Dr. Kirk also seceded. His contributions
to periodicals, being generally anonymous, are now difficult to distinguish,
but the following may be mentioned :—Catk. Mag., vol. ii. pp. 476-90,
“Dame Alice and Ladywell,” a most interesting article ; vol. iii. pp. 30-4,
301-2, “ List of Rev. Parkers,” a valuable record ; vol. v.,a series of historical
accounts, with lithographic illustrations, of the “ Catholic Chapels in Stafford-
shire,” pp. 301-324, 385-396, 427-431, 494-8, 582-4, 659-64 ; vol. vi. 100-3.
Lond. and Dub. Orthodox Fournal, vol. iii. p. 81, “Sedgley Park School,”
with view.

A letter written by Dr. Kirk in 1829, accompanying the return of the
original Annales Collegzz Angl. de Urbe, to Blshop Gradwell at his house,
Castle Street, Holborn, is also deserving of notice, and has been the subject
of comment in recent times. It deals with what he terms “the maladminis-
tration of the College by the Padri,” as regards the interests of the secular
clergy, for whose benefit the college was founded and nominally maintained.

VOL. IV. : D
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A mutilated copy of this letter was printed in a review of Bro. Foley’s “ Diary
of the Eng. Coll, Rome,” forming vol. vi. of his “ Records S.].,” Tablct,
vol. Ivi. p. 235. This elicited a correction from Fr. T. F. Knox, D.D., of The
Oratory, #67d. p. 311, to which the reviewer replied in a second notice, zb7d.
p- 494. It is remarkable that, whereas Dr. Kirk shows 1465 students were
admitted into the college from 1578 to 1773, Bro. Foley, in his English trans-
lation from the transcript of the Annals in the Public Record Office, only
gives 1328. Dr. Kirk frequently refers with feeling to the subject of this
letter in his ¢ Bibliographical Collections,” and also notes it in his letter in
the Cath. Miscel., vol. vi. p.255. It should also be recorded that Dr. Kirk
left a copy made by himself of all the inscriptions remaining on the monu-
ments in the church of the English College in 1785.

7. “Memoir of the Rev. John Kirk, D.D., of Lichfield.” By the very
Rev. Mgr. Weedall, D.D. Catholic Directory 1853, pp. 129-136, with

portrait ; reprinted from Z%e Zabdlet and The Cath. Standard, Jan. 24,
1852.

It is justly described by Dr. Husenbeth, ¢ Hist. of Sedgley Park,” p. 59,
as “a beautiful and feeling memoir.”

8. Portrait. “ Rev. John Kirk, D.D. Born April 13, 1760, died Dec. 21,
1851, in the ninety-second year of his age.” Deere, engr., 8vo, pub. in the

Cath. Directory, 1853. The original painting, an admirable likeness, by
Mackey, was formerly at Sedgley Park.

Kirkby, Luke, priest and martyr, beatified by papal decree
on the Feast of St. Thomas of Canterbury, Dec. 29, 1886, was
a member of the ancient Kirkby family of Lancashire, where he
was born in 1548. Raissius makes him a native of the
bishopric of Durham, and others place his birth at Richmond,
in Yorkshire; but the testimony of the Douay diary, in favour
of Lancashire, is the most reliable. The Kirkbys, lords of the
manor of Kirkby Ireleth, in the hundred of Lonsdale, also
possessed property in Yorkshire, and indeed returned an
imperfect pedigree at the visitation of that county in 1564.
They appear as recusants so late as the reign of Charles I,
and probably lost the faith about that period, when they began
to intermarry with Protestant families.

Bishop Challoner says that Luke Kirkby took his degree of
M.A. at one of the universities, but this requires confirmation.
In 1576 he was admitted into the English College at Douay,
was ordained priest at Cambray in Sept. 1577, and in the
following May left Douay for the English Mission. It was
not long, however, before he returned to his a/ma mater, mean-
while removed to Rheims, where he arrived on July 15, 1578,
and in the following month proceeded to Rome to continue
his studies in the new English College. There he took the

)
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oath, April 23, 1579, upon the charge of the college being
handed over to the Jesuits, and remained until the following
spring. At the instance of Dr. Allen, the Jesuits were induced
to engage in the English Mission, and it was decided to send
FT. Persons and Campion forthwith. They started from Rome
on April 18, 1580, accompanied by a number of students from
the English College, amongst whom was Fr. Kirkby. Before
setting out on their perilous undertaking they visited His
Holiness the Sovereign Pontiff, and received from him his
blessing and funds for the journey. They travelled on foot,
vid Bologna, Milan, Turin, Monte Cenis, and Geneva, to
Rheims, where they arrived on May 31, and there the mission-
aries divided. On June 16, Fr. Kirkby, in company with
Dr. Matthew Fox and Fr. Wm. Hartley, set out from the
college on foot, v7z¢ Douay, for Dunkirk, whence he sailed to
England. He was arrested, however, almost immediately, and
committed to the Marshalsea or some other prison in London,
whence he was transferred to the Tower with other priests on
Dec. 5, 1580. Fivedays later he was subjected to the horrible
instrument of torture called the ‘ Scavenger’s Daughter,” which
he endured for over an hour. At length, on Nov. 14, 1581,
he was taken to Westminster Hall, with Campion and others,
and arraigned before the grand jury, under a trumped-up
indictment of plotting the death of the Queen, and other
traitorous conspiracy. Their trial came on six days later, the
presiding judge being Chief Justice Wray. Munday, Elliot,
and Sledd, three notorious informers, were the chief accusers.
It was a predetermined matter that all were to be condemned.
The jury, which had been carefully packed, with William Lee,
an informer and a fanatic, as foreman, withdrew for nearly an
hour before they brought in their verdict of “ Guilty.” The
consultation, however, was a mere blind to put a decent veil on
a foregone conclusion ; but it did not avail to deceive the public,
who in ballads accused the jury of undue haste:
“They pack’d a jury that cried guilty straight.
You bloody jury, Lee and all th’ eleven,

Take heed your verdict, which was given in haste,
Do not exclude you from the joys of heaven.”

The martyrs were then taken back to their various prisons,
and heavily ironed, but for some reason or other Fr. Kirkby’s
execution, with that of some of the other priests, was deferred
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for six months. About seven o’clock on the fatal morning he
issued from the Tower, lying upon a hurdle, and was drawn to
Tyburn with FF. William Filbie, Laurence Johnson alias Rich-
ardson, and Thomas Cottam. As soon as Fr. Filbie had been
flung from the ladder, Fr. Kirkby was brought from his hurdle
to witness his execution and butchery. Upon being lifted
into the cart he commenced to address the assembled multi-
tude, but was soon interrupted by Charke, the fanatical minister.
He then made a solemn protestation of his innocency, and
seeing his accuser, the infamous Munday, present, he desired
that he might be brought forward to say what he could. This
being done, Fr. Kirkby refuted his testimony and exposed the
character of the man. Thereupon he engaged in a long con-
troversy with the ministers and others, during which the sheriff,
Martin, informed him that he had authority to stay the
execution if he would renounce his religion. But the holy
martyr resolutely declined to deny his faith, and so the cart
was hurriedly drawn away, leaving him hanging till he
was dead, when the usual butchery followed, May 30, 1582,
aged 33.

A lengthy report of his trial is printed in Simpson’s Life
of Edmund Campion; and Dr. Bridgewater, in 1588, gives
an account by an eye-witness of what occurred at his exe-
cution, and a copy of a letter written by the martyr on Jan.
10, 1582.

Bridgewater, Concerfatio, ed. 1594, ff. 85, 91 seq., 408 ; Sanders, De
Schism. Angl., ed. 1586, p. 464 et Appx. ; Douay Diaries,; Foley, Records
S. J Vi. 5 Pollini, I’ Hist. Eccles. della Rivoluz. & Inghil., p. 601 ; Challoner,
Memoirs, ed. 1741, 1. 90; Dodd, Ch. Hist.,ii. 126 ; Simpson, Edm. Campion,
p. 281 seq.; Hist. del Glor. Mart., ed. 1583, p. 141.

1. “A Breefe and true reporte of the Execution of certaine Traytours at
Tiborne, the xxviij. and xxx. dayes of Maye, 1582. Gathered by A. M., who
was there present. Honos alit artes. The names of them executed on
Monday, the xxviii. of Maye—Thomas Foord, John Shert, Robert Johnson.
The names of those executed on Wednesday, the xxx. of Maye—William
Filbie, Luke Kirbie, Lawrance Richardson, Thomas Cottom. Lond., Wm.
Wright, 1582, sm. 4to, ff. 10, B.L., Ded. to the sheriff, Richard Martin ;
Lond., Charlewood, 4to; repr. 1852, at the end of Ant. Munday’s “John
2 Kent and John & Cumber,” edited by J. P. Collier, Skakespeare Soc. ;
repr., with interesting article on the author, Anthony Munday, pamphleteer
and priest-catcher, by Dom Hen. Norbert Birt, O.S.B., Downside Review,
X. 215-236.

Kirkby, William, royalist, born 1621, was the eldest son
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and heir of Thomas Kirkby, of Upper Rawcliffe Hall, co.
Lancaster, Esq, by Anne, daughter of John Langtree, of
Swarbreck Hall, in Weeton, gent., younger son of Edward
Langtree, of Langtree Hall and Swarbreck Hall, co. Lancaster,
Esq. Upon the outbreak of the civil wars Mr. Kirkby became
a gentleman-volunteer in the royal army, and was slain with
his two younger brothers, Thomas and Edward, in a skirmish
with the Parliamentarians, at Rawcliffe, about 1643 or 1644.

The manor of Upper Rawcliffe passed with the heiress of
the Southworths to the Urswicks of Urswick, from whom it
was conveyed in like manner to a younger son of Sir Richard
Kirkby, of Kirkby Ireleth, in whose descendants it remained
until the family was totally ruined by its strenuous espousal of
the royal cause in the time of Charles I., and extinguished by
the tragic death of the three sons of the last heir male as related
above. The estate was purchased by Thomas Westby, of Burn
Hall, Esq., for his eldest son by his second wife, Major George
Westby, whose descendant, J. T. Fazakerley-Westby, of Mow-
breck Hall, Esq., disposed of it in 1857.

The Kirkbys were staunch to their faith, and were allied
to most of the leading Catholic families of the county.
Upper Rawcliffe Hall, subsequently called White Hall to dis-
tinguish it from the seat of the Butlers in Out Rawcliffe, was
until recently an erection of the early part of the seventeenth
century. Situated on the banks of the Wyre, and approached
through a handsome gateway, its whitewashed walls, broken
by mullioned windows and two projecting bays on the north-
west front, presented an antique appearance. It contained a
secret chamber, used as a chapel in the days of persecution,
with the usual ingeniously contrived places of concealment for
priests. White Hall is now a farm-house, greatly modernised,
and possessing little to denote its ancient history.

Gillow, Lanc. Recusants, MS.; Castlemain, Cath. Apology,; Harland,
Baines Hist. of Lanc., vol. 1i. ; England’s Black Tribunal, ed. 1747, p. 370.

Kirkman, Richard, priest and martyr, beatified by papal
decree on the Feast of St. Thomas of Canterbury, Dec. 29,
1886, born at Addingham, in the West Riding of Yorkshire,
belonged to a family of some position in that place, and having
received a good education, determined to devote his services to
his distressed co-religionists. For this purpose he went in
1577 to the English College at Douay to study for the priest«
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hood. Thence, in 1578, he was transferred with the rest of
the college to Rheims, where he was ordained priest in the
following spring, and on Aug. 3, 1579, left for the English
mission. He appears to have found a retreat at Scrivelsby
Hall, co. Lincoln, with Robert Dymoke, Esq., champion of
England, but this good man was cited to appear before the bishop
of the diocese for recusancy, thrown into prison at Lincoln, and
died a holy confessor in 1580. In consequence, Fr. Kirkman
had to fly from Scrivelsby, and henceforward pursued his minis-
trations in various places in Northumberland. On Aug. 8,
1582, whilst travelling through Yorkshire, he was stopped
about two miles from Wakefield and was brought before a
neighbouring justice, Francis Wortley, of Wortley, a member of
the Council of the North, and one of the most active persecutors
of recusants. Wortley, dissatisfied with Fr. Kirkman’s
answers, and probably suspicious of his character, announced
his intention to send him and his servant to prison as vagrants
and dangerous fellows. Foreseeing the inevitable result, Fr.
Kirkman thought it best to acknowledge what he was, and to
leave the issue to Providence. Accordingly, calling for a pen,
he wrote that he was a Catholic priest. After this Wortley
ceased to question him, but ordered his baggage to be searched,
in which a chalice and other things necessary for Mass were
found. Fr. Kirkman and his servant were then committed to
the castle at York. On their journey they rested a night at
Tadcaster, where they had to lie on the bare floor. The next
day they arrived in York, and the assizes having just com-
menced, Fr. Kirkman was straightway brought to the bar.
After examination, an indictment was drawn up against him,
and a jury impannelled, who brought him in guilty of high
treason, first, for being a priest of the Seminary of Douay or
Rheims, and secondly, for persuading the Queen’s subjects to the
Catholic religion. He was then carried to gaol, where he was
again examined by Justice Wortley and Justice Mainwaring,
the former of whom, unable to extort from him what was
wanted, flew into a passion, and calling him papist and traitor,
loaded him with abuse. To this the blessed martyr calmly
replied : “You might, sir, with the same justice, charge the
Apostles also with being traitors, for they taught the same
doctrine that I now teach, and did the same things for which
you condemn me.” After this he was again brought to the
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bar to receive sentence, which was pronounced in the usual
form. With wonderful calmness and modesty, the martyr
thereupon addressed the judge, and begged that he would con-
sider well what he did ; that he looked upon himself as a
wretched sinner, infinitely unworthy of so great an honour as
that of martyrdom. Misunderstanding his language, the judge
replied that the sentence pronounced upon him was agreeable
to what the law directed in such cases, and that he had now
nothing else to do but to prepare himself for death. The con-
fessor again begged him to consider his unworthiness of so
great a favour, whereupon the judge warmly replied that his
wickedness had well deserved that kind of death. *“It must
then be so,” responded the martyr, “and I must be honoured
with so sublime a dignity. Good God ! how unworthy am I of
it! But since it is Thy holy will, Thy holy will be done on
earth as it is in heaven.” And with that he began with a loud
voice that hymn of joy and thanksgiving, 7e Dewum laudamus.

Four days before his execution the martyr was sent for by
the high sheriff and two ministers. What passed between
them was kept private; nor had the Catholics any opportunity
of learning it from the martyr himself, for from that time he
was kept in a dungeon by himself, waiting patiently and pre-
paring himself for his passage into eternity. At length he was
pinioned, placed on a hurdle, and drawn with his fellow-
collegian and martyr to the place of execution outside the city
of York. There he remained absorbed in silent prayer till his
companion had been executed, when, upon the call of the
officers, he cheerfully mounted the ladder, and commenced an
exhortation to the vast crowd which had assembled to witness
the executions. But he was interrupted and ordered to desist,
and so, mounting higher up the ladder, and raising his eyes
towards heaven as he pronounced those words of the royal
prophet, Hew milii! quia incolatus meus prolongatus est: habi-
tavi cum habitantibus Cedar, multum incola fuit anima mea !
he was flung off the ladder, and yielded his soul to his Creator,
Aug. 22, 1582,

His brother, John Kirkman, of Addingham, gent,, suffered a
long imprisonment for his faith in the castle and in Ousebridge
Kidcote, York, in and about 1590—1. His daughter Alice
married Christopher Danby of Knaresborough, gent., about
1584.
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Bridgewater, Concertatio, ed. 1594, ff. 100, 293, 409, 417 ; Sanders, De
Schism. Angl., ed. 1585, f. 192 ; Douay Diaries ; Dodd, Ch. Hist., ii. 126 ;
Challoner, Memoirs, ed. 1741, 1. 113 ; Pollini, ’Hist. Fccles. della Rivol.
& Inghil., p. 627 ; Hist. del Glorioso Mart., ed. 1583, p. 204.

Kirton, John, M.D., of a good family, and nephew to Sir
Thomas Hawkins, knt., of Nash, in Kent, studied and took his
degree at the University of Padua, and was incorporated at
Oxford in the latter end of 1632. He returned, however, to
Italy, and became physician to the famous Sir Robert Dudley,
titular Duke of Northumberland, whom he assisted in his
experiments in chemistry, and probably in the compilation of
his “ Catholicon.” Immediately after the duke’s death he went
to Rome, where he stayed some time. The pilgrim-book of
the English College states that he dined there on Dec. 29,
1649, as likewise on two other occasions in the following
spring. The remainder of his life was spent at Florence,
where he was held in high repute as a physician, and had a
large practice, till his death in June 1673, aged 70 or more.

He was probably of the same family as Thomas Kirton,
priest, who was deprived of his benefice and exiled under
Elizabeth. He succeeded Edward Taylor in the wardenship
of the English Hospice at Rome, and apparently died during
his tenure of office, some few years before the hospice was con-
verted into the English College in 1579.

Wood, Athene Oxon., ed. 1661, vols. i. and ii. ; Foley, Records S.J.;
Sanders, De Visib., ed. 1592, p. 672 ; Tierney, Dodd’s Ch. Hist., vol. ii.
p. 169.

1. Dissertatio . . . . de primus viis et earum duobus morbis
peculiaribus, . . . . v/, de Diarrheea et Ventriculorum Infantum
Putrefactione. Lugduni Batav(orum), 1720, 4to.

Kitchen, Anthony, Bishop of Llandaff, born 1477, was
professed under the name of Dunstan in the Benedictine abbey
of Westminster. He studied at Gloucester Hall, now Wor-
cester College, Oxford, which was originally founded as a
Benedictine novitiate and dedicated to St. Benedict. He
graduated at Oxford, B.D. in 15235, and D.D. in 1538. God-
win, in his De Praesulibus, claims him as an alwmnus of
Cambridge University. In 1526 he was elected prior of the
students of his order at St. Benedict’s, and in 1530 he became
abbot of Eynsham, Oxford. As abbot he subscribed to the
King’s supremacy in 1534, and to the Articles of 1536. On
the dissolution of the lesser monasteries, he, with eight of his
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brethren, surrendered his abbey on Dec. 4, 1539, and received
a pension of £133 6s. 82, with the promise of a benefice.
Kitchen was a temporiser of the worst description, accepted a
royal chaplaincy, and in 1545 was schismatically appointed to
the See of Llandaff. The oath he took on his confirmation
contains the fullest possible renunciation of the Papal supre-
macy. He clung to his bishopric through all changes, did
homage to Mary at her coronation, and obtained dispensation,
and was the only one of the hierarchy who took the oath of
supremacy to Elizabeth, although he had dissented in the
House of Lords from all the acts of restitution and reforma-
tion. He was therefore included in the Queen’s commission of
Sept. 9, 1559, for the consecration of Parker, but as the other
bishops declined to perform the command, it was essential for
the continuity of the Anglican episcopacy that Kitchen should
be joined in a second commission for the same purpose, with
the only available schismatical and uncanonically consecrated
bishops, who at the time had neither legal possession of any
English See nor lawful part or jurisdiction in the existing hier-
archy. But Kitchen, at the last moment, refused to act, it is
thought at the persuasion of Bonuer, and it is beyond contro-
versy that Parker was not consecrated by bishops of English
Sees, and that, moreover, the rite used in his consecration—in
Dec. 1559—was not then the legal rite ordered by the statutes
of the realm. The ceremony was performed under circum-
stances of such obscurity and mystery as to lend colour to the
Nag’s Head story, when the great controversy as to the validity
of English ordinations was raised during the early years of the
seventeenth century. It is now generally supposed that the
story arose from the fact of Kitchen’s presence at the dinner
given at the Nag’s Head tavern on the day of Parker’s confir-
mation, on which occasion the otherwise weak-kneed Bishop of
Llandaff was in vain importuned by the nominated bishops to
undertake their consecration. At the time, Parker’s consecra-
tors—Barlow, Scory, Coverdale, and Hodgeskyn—were not
possessed of the power to create even a simple priest for any
parish in any diocese in England, much less to create an arch-
bishop. Hence, it is indisputable that the spiritual jurisdiction
of Anglican Protestant bishops is not derived from the Church,
but from the lay-ruler of the State.

It has been the fashion with some writers to accuse Kitchen
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of the spoliation of his already impoverished See, through the
alienation of many of its manors and the disposal of others on
long leases. Enderbie (“ Cambria Triumphans,” ii.,, Bk. II.)
says: “He is called Kitchen, though he might rather have
been called Schullian: yet, indeed, he made his church a
kitchen, and like a schullian swept all away, leaving poor daff
without Jan or land.” Browne Willis, however, in a note in
the Cole MSS. from a copy of his “Surrey,” in qualification of
his own statements taken from Godwin’s “De Prasulibus,”
says: “I cannot find that Kitchen alienated anything in per-
petuity from Llandaff, unless it might be Llandaff Place in the
Strand ”; and with regard to this special alienation it would
appear that Kitchen may be acquitted of voluntary action, for
the following passage occurs in Fuller’s “ Church History " :
“ The palace of the Bishop of Llandaff and two other bishops’
palaces were taken by the Protector Somerset to make room
for the building of Somerset House in the Strand,” which, by-
the-way, Parker in 1564 begged Cecil to restore. Again,
Browne Willis makes the following remark in a note on Bishop
Blethin, the next bishop but one in succession: “The ruin of
this bishopric is, as I learn from hence, to be attributed to
Bishop Blethin, as well as to Bishop Kitchen, who, to provide
for his children, sold and alienated the lands to that degree
that he is reported to have done it as much, if not more, injury
than Bishop Kitchen himself” Finally, Professor Freeman
(“ Llandaff Cathedral”) considers that Kitchen “did no more,
though he probably carried the work to a greater extent, than
many bishops who had come down to posterity with much
better reputation.” Anyhow, he does not appear to have been
charged, like most of Elizabeth’s bishops, with incontinence.
The old man died before the destruction of the old religion was
generally made apparent, Oct. 31, 1563, aged 86.

He was buried in the parish church of Matherne, Mon-
mouthshire. A namesake, and probably a member of the
same family, Anthony Kitchen, was at the English College at

Rheims in 1582 and 1583, during which period he paid a
short visit to Rome.

Dodd, Ch. Hist., \. ; Brady, Episc. Succ., 1., \i., iil. ; Bridgett, Story of the
Cath. Hierarchy Deposed ; Wood, Athen. Oxon.,i.; Shaw, Dict. of Nal.
Biog.; Dugdale, Mon. Angl., iii. ; Strype, Annals, Memorials, and Lives
of Parker and Cranmer.
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1. For the controversy on the subject of the Validity of Anglican Ordina-
tions, vzde under Ant. Champney, i. 464, No. 4 ; E. E. Estcourt, ii. 180, No. 2 ;
T. Fitzherbert, ii. 287, Nos. 6 and 7 ; H. Fitzsimon,ii. 289, No. 1 ; M. Kellison,
iii. 681, No. 2 ; J. Lewgar, iv., Nos. 2 and 3; J. Lingard, N. Sanders, &c.

Kitchen, Richard, confessor of the faith, a native of
Derbyshire, and a good, honest, and firm Catholic layman, was
imprisoned, on account of his faith, in Derby gaol, where he
died after five years’ detention, probably in 1588.

Foley, Records S. J., vol. iii.

Kite, John, Archbishop of Thebes and Bishop of Carlisle,
a native of London, was educated at Eton, and elected thence
to King’s College, Cambridge. After his ordination he rose in
favour at the Court of Henry VII., and still more rapidly under
the reign of his successor, Henry VIII., owing it is said to
Wolsey’s patronage. In 1510 he resigned his benefice of
Harlington, Middlesex, and was promoted to the prebend of
Stratton in the church of Sarum. Soon afterwards he became
prebendary of Credington, in the diocese of Exeter, and rector
of St. Stephen's, Walbrook, in the diocese of L.ondon. He was
also subdean of the Royal Chapel.

In 1513 he was advanced by Leo X. to the Archbishopric of
Armagh, vacant by the death of Octavian de Palatio, his
appointment being made in the consistory of Oct. 24, and the
temporalities of the See granted to him on May 20, 1514. In
1518, Henry VIII. sent him on an embassy to Spain ; and in
1520 he was one of the deputy-commissioners of the Jewel
Office. In the following year he resigned the See of Armagh,
and was translated to Carlisle, being also provided with the
titular Archbishopric of Thebes. The consistorial act is dated
July 12, 1521. It is noteworthy that in it he is appointed
successor in the See of Carlisle to Roger Leyburne, who died
in 1508, the appointment of John Penny, who died at the end
of 1519 or beginning of 1520, being ignored. The temporal-
ities of the See were restored to Archbishop Kite on Nov. 11,
1521. In 1524 and 1526 he was in commission to treat for
peace with Scotland. He died at Stepney, London, June 19,
1537.

In his will, dated the day before his death, he desired to be
buried near to his father in St. Margaret's, Westminster, but
for some reason he was interred in the chancel of Stepney
Church, under a marble monument with a long inscription.
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He was famous for his hospitality, and expended a large sum
on the restoration and extension of Rose Castle, the episcopal
seat of the Bishops of Carlisle. Bale, an unreliable authority,
charges him with incontinency.

Cooper, Athene Cantab., i.; Dodd, Ch. Hist., i.; Wood, Athene Oxon.,
ed. 1691, i. ; Brady, Episc. Succ., 1. and iii.

Knaresborough, John, priest, was born Dec. 4, 1672, at
Ferensby, in the parish of Farnham, two miles north of Knares-
borough, co. York. His ancestors had resided there from an
early period, and were possessed of considerable property, as
appears from their composition for recusancy in 1708. Peter
Knaresborough, yeoman, was committed to York Castle on
Jan. 25, 1590, for refusing to attend Protestant service, and
his man, Richard Lambert, for the same reason was sent to the
Ousebridge Kidcote. They had been taken in bishopric, and
afterwards purchased their release. On May 30, 1592, the
Northern Commissioners, under the presidency of the Arch-
bishop, “did commit Peter Knaresburgh for his obstinate
refusing to go to church, to the custody of Richard Qucaly,
guousque . . . . . to be kept prisoner in Qusebridge donec, &c.”
In 1594 he was again indicted at the Lent assizes, holden at
York, for harbouring and receiving seminaries. On March 28,
1596, Richard Knaresborough, of the diocese of York, was
admitted into the English College at Valladolid, and afterwards
proceeded to another college in Spain, where he was ordained
priest, and thence came to the English mission. His brother
Robert was also admitted at Valladolid, but left to join the
Benedictines, and died before his ordination. In 1604, Walter
Knaresborough, of Ferensby, with Mary his wife, and Richard
and Alice their children, were returned as recusants of six
years’ standing.

John Knaresborough was sent to Douay, made his profession
of faith in 1690, and on Sept. 16, 1691, was admitted an
alumnus. In Oct. 1694 he began to teach classics, and about
four years later was sent to the English Mission with the
character, praestant? ingenio preditus. Dr. Kirk gives Feb. 12,
1699, as the date of his leaving the college, but this must be
incorrect, unless the discrepancy is due to style, for on July 13,
1698, he and twenty-nine clergymen of the North engaged in
the presence of Bishop Smith and his vicar-general to leave to
the Church what they acquired by their functions. It is said
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that for some time he served the mission in Lancashire, and
then settled in Yorkshire. Most probably he was for some
time chaplain at Burton Constable. In 1704 he is found at
York, where he seems to have remained till his death, Nov. 9,
1724.

He was a zealous missioner and a learned and persevering
collector of Catholic history and biography.

Kirk, Biog. Collns. MSS., No. 25 ; Douay Diaries; Valladolid Diary
MS. ; Morris, Troubles, Third Series ; Foley, Records S. J., vol. iil. ; Peacock,
Yorkshire Papists.

1. Sufferings of Catholics, MSS. 8vo.

This work was of great use to Dodd in his “ Church History,” who added
some marginal notes,and to Challoner in his “Memoirs of Missionary Priests,”
considerable parts of which are copied from it. The entire work is supposed
to have embraced several additional volumes to the five which were sold to
Lord Herries at the sale of the Burton Constable MSS., June 24, 188g. It
is supposed that Dodd, or his uncle the Rev. Christopher Tootell, borrowed
some of the volumes from Cuthbert Constable, Esq., and left them at
Fernyhalgh, Lancashire, where Dr. Kirk fancied he had seen them. The
work professes to contain the lives of all who suffered from 1573 to 1654,
with general histories of the reigns. Yet in the five vols. extant are wanting
the lives of all who suffered in Elizabeth’s reign. Vol. i. contains an account
of the laws enacted against Catholics, lists of bishops, deans, archdeacons,
heads of colleges, &c., deprived 1 Eliz.; priests and laymen who suffered
death, imprisonment, fines, or banishment for religious matters; and con-
cludes with Goodwine’s Sermons. Vols. ii. to v. contain accounts of the
various martyrs.

2. “Sufferings of Catholicks. Collection of Papers respecting the
Sufferings of various Catholics, the earliest dated 1537, and also of Pro-
testant Martyrs under Queen Mary,” MS.| 4to, also titlle as catalogued at
the Burton Constable sale.

At the end are various autograph letters, dying speeches, and other
documents, including T. Tweng’s Dying Speech, written with his own hand,
Oct. 23, 1680, endorsed by Sir Myles Stapylton; dying speech of John
Kemble, in the handwriting of the Rev. Fris. Fitter ; letter of John Danby
respecting Fr. Postgaite ; autograph letters of Rev. Rob. Jefferson, Rev.
Edw. Coyney, Rev. Thos. Roydon, Rev. Jno. Martin wers Brian Orrell,
Rev. Christopher Tootell, J. Yates, Rev. Jno. Elston a/lias Phillips, T.
Metcalf, Chas. Eyston, H. Preston, Ralph Thoresby, Cuth. Tunstall, M.
Metcalf, E. Haslam, C. Tanckred, &c. Also a copy of Dodd’s Flores
Cleri Anglo-Catholici, and the Obligation of Ralph Baine, recusant, to pay
456 as compounder for one half-year’s rent.

3. Sufferings of Catholicks, MS., folio, in the Burton Constable
sale.

In this volume are the rough drafts of Mr. Knaresborough's Lives of the
Martyrs, from Cuthbert Mayne to Campion, Sherwin, &c., inclusively. It
also contains drafts of the author’s letters, many autograph letters, a review
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of the state of the British nation, dated Jan. 14 to May 15, 1710, regard-
ing Catholic affairs, selections out of divers authors about the English
schism, &ec.

Knatchbull, Elizabeth Lucy, Abbess, O.S.B., born in
15835, was the daughter of Reginald Knatchbull, of the ancient
family seated at Mersham Hatch in Kent, who succeeded his
father-in-law in the governorship of Dover Castle. Her mother,
Elizabeth, was the daughter of William Crispe, an officer in
high esteem with Queen Mary, who resigned his command of
Dover Castle in the reign of Elizabeth rather than conform to
the new religion.

In 1611, Elizabeth Knatchbull was professed at the English
Benedictine monastery at Brussels, and took the religious name
of Lucy. Some ten years later, dissensions broke out in the
community, which resulted in the establishment of another
convent at Ghent. The idea of this foundation originated with
four of the religious— Lucy Knatchbull, Eugenia Poulton,
Magdalen Digby, and Mary Roper, Canon Tierney, citing the
life of Lucy Knatchbull, by Sir Toby Matthews, S.J., says that
these ladies, dissatisfied with the government of their house
under the Lady Mary Percy, and anxious to escape from the
disputes which had constantly divided the community, had for
some time meditated a separation. After two years of consul-
tation as to the best method of proceeding, they addressed the
Archbishop of Mechlin on the subject, representing to him the
inconvenience arising from the increased number of the estab-
lishment, and requesting his concurrence in the foundation of
an additional house. His Grace entered into their plan, and
undertook to communicate with the Abbess on the means of
carrying it into execution. But the Abbess, though she ac-
knowledged the utility of the design, was unwilling to part
with the ladies from whom it had emanated. Four others were
named to carry on the proposed work, and these the Abbess
insisted on appointing. It was only with much difficulty, and
after long and earnest negotiation, that the originators of the
scheme were ultimately successful in obtaining the cominission
for themselves. The Archbishop theu secured the protection of
the civil and ecclesiastical authorities of Ghent for the proposed
colony, and a small house in that city was taken (Dec. 13,
1623), and preparations made for their reception. On Jan. 16,
1624, the four religious, with two novices, under the superin-
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tendence of Lucy Knatchbull, left Brussels for their new
habitation. They were destitute of all provision, having taken
with them nothing but their clothes and bedding, and wholly
relying on Divine Providence for support. A few days later
the suffrages of the nuns were taken, and Dame Lucy Knatch-
bull was unanimously chosen abbess. On the following
March 21, the Feast of St. Benedict, she was solemnly blessed
and installed in her new office. In the following month the
community was joined by two other ladies, one of whom,
Mary Knatchbull, was niece to the abbess, and before the end
of the year the house numbered no less than two-and-twenty *
inmates, This rapid increase naturally relieved the poverty of
the establishment, but it also necessitated more extensive
accommodation. A piece of ground near the Benedictine
abbey of St. Peter was at length purchased, and a house and
church were erected, of which the community took possession,
Aug. 5, 1628. On the anniversary of this event the abbess
departed this life, and her tomb at Ghent bore the following
inscription : “ The venerable Abbess, the Lady Lucy, in the
world called Mrs. Elizabeth Knatchbull, died at Ghent on the
sth August 1629, the 45th year of her age, the 19th of her
profession, the 6th of her superiority.”

Her eldest brother, John Knatchbull, a/zas Norton, born in
1571, was ordained priest at the English College at Seville,
and subsequently took his degree of D.D. in one of the Conti-
nental universities. He was passionately attached to the
Society, and through the influence of Fr. Persons was intro-
duced into Douay College as one of the two assistants to the
president, Dr. Thos. Worthington. Previous to his appointment
Dr. Norton, by which name he was generally known, repaired
to Rome, and was entertained in the English College for twenty
days, from May 20, 1609. He arrived at Douay on Nov. 9
in that year, and assumed the vice-presidency and chair of
divinity. His appointment, and that of his conf7ére, Dr.
Singleton, was regarded by the secular clergy as part of a
design of the Jesuists to obtain possession of the college.
When Dr. Worthington’s removal was being agitated, strong
interest was made to have Dr. Norton installed in the presi-
dency, but this was defeated, and Dr. Matt. Kellison was
elected in 1613. Dr. Norton, however, continued as vice-
president till Oct. 29, 1616, when he left the college, and
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retired to the English Benedictine convent at Brussels. In
1618 he entered the Society at Louvain, and in 1621 he was
again residing at Brussels, as procurator of the English pro-
vince S.J. In 1625 he was rector of the English house at
Ghent; and in 1628 he was procurator at Madrid, and also
confessor to Queen Isabella de Bourbon. He died at Madrid
some time previous to 1632.

His younger brother, Thomas, was admitted into the English
College at Valladolid, Mar. 7, 1596, and studied for some years
with the intention of being a priest. When the heir to the
Knatchbull estate, however, took orders in Spain, the younger
brother was requested by his parents to return home, and in
consequence he left St. Alban's College, Nov. 9, 1600. Two
of his daughters joined the community at Ghent.

Tierney, Dodd’s Ch. Hist., iv. p. 104 seq., v. 3, 32-45, Ixxxi., cxxxviii. ;
Dolan, Weldon's Chron. Notes,; Foley, Records S.J., iii. ; Valladolid Diary,
MS. ; Dodd, Ch. Hist., ii. 384.

1. Spiritual Works, MSS., being accounts of her soul, her prayer and
supernatural favours, &c., of which are extant only long extracts, very strik-
ing, and almost in the style of S. Teresa.

2. “A Relation of the holy and happy Life and Death of the Lady Lucie
Knatchbull, Abbess ; and of her foundinge the English Monastery of Bene-
dictins at Gant ; together with some notice which is given of her Religious
there, concerning both their persons, and particular Devotions and Perfec-
tions ; as also of divers blessings wherewith they have been enriched from
Heaven. This Relation consists of Two Parts.” MS., 8vo, pp. 304, ded. to
Lady Mary Knatchbull (fourth Abbess),and dated Jan 1, 1652 ; endorsed “Our
Foundations by Sir Tobie Mathews, S. Jesus” ; in the possession of the re-
presentatives of the Benedictine Community at Ghent, now settled at St.-
Mary’s Abbey, Oulton, near Stone, co. Stafford.

3. A view and historical account of Mersham Hatch will be found in
Jones’ Views, Lond., n.d., 4to.

Knatchbull, Mary, Abbess O.S.B., daughter of Reginald
Knatchbull the younger, of Kent, was professed at Ghent by
her aunt, the Lady Abbess Lucy Knatchbull, in 1628. Dodd
says “she was a lady of uncommon penetration, prudence, and
zeal ; and no less sedulous and indefatigable in the application
of her talents.” Upon the death of Abbess Mary Roper, in
1650, Dame Mary Knatchbull was installed fourth abbess.
Within two years, in 1652, she sent six of her religious to
commence a new convent at Boulogne. The foundation was
principally accomplished through the munificence of Sir
Richard Foster, treasurer to the Queen Dowager, who
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bestowed upon the community 20,000 livres. The abbess
herself says that she was “ greatly assisted in the foundation of
the Boulogne convent by Monsieur Vincent, whose power and
credit were exerted in her behalf” The Rev. Wm. Vincent
was the first chaplain regularly appointed to the Ghent convent.
He remained there from his arrival in April 1624, till his
death, Feb. 23, 1660, aged 84. He was indeed a most kind
and valuable friend to the Ghent community, and presented it
with the sum of 6000 florins. The Boulogne filiation subse-
quently rémoved to Pontoise.

During their exile, both Charles II. and his brother James
received frequent hospitality from the community at Ghent,
and the abbess otherwise rendered service to the royal cause.
Matters of the highest concern, relating to the restoration,
passed through her hands, and were managed with singular
prudence. The king subsequently acknowledged his obliga-
tions in a letter to the abbess, and made some presents to the
community, with great promises of support and assistance.
Finding, however, that his majesty did nothing further, the
lady abbess, by the advice of her friends, and with the consent
of the bishop, left Ghent in Oct. 1661, to surprise the king by
a personal visit. His majesty received her with great favour,
and assigned her £3000, besides which she received many
valuable presents. She, moreover, obtained consent to establish
a new convent in the town of Dunkirk, then in possession of
the English. Having obtained this sanction she sent twelve of
her community to Dunkirk on May 8, 1662, to found the new
abbey.

Meanwhile the abbess was contemplating the establishment
of a community of Irish Benedictine nuns, With this in view
she sent a colony from Ghent to Ipres, where another abbey
was founded on May 22, 1665. It was not, however, till the
year 1633 that she invited some of the Irish religious,
professed in various monasteries of the English congregation,
to the abbey at Ipres, which from that time became an Irish
establishment.

James II., who had been converted at Ghent, had no sooner
succeeded to the throne than he began to meditate the removal
of the convent to this country. On Jan. 20, 1685-6, his
majesty addressed a letter to the abbess. He referred to his

intention “to have your cloister, our darling monastery, the
VOL. 1V. B
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first in my kingdom. Then you shall find I will not only
make good my brother’s promises, but add new favours.” In
this the good abbess was disappointed, for she lived to see the
revolution and his majesty once more an exile. Her govern-
ment of the abbey lasted for forty-six years, till her death on
March 6, 1696, aged 87.

Dodd, Ch. Hist., iii. 496 ; Tierney's Dodd, iv. 105 seq. ; Foley, Records S.].,
ili. ; Dolan, Weldon’s Chron. Notes; Husenbeth, Notices of Eng. Colleges,
&=c., p. 65 seg.

Knatchbull, Mary, Abbess, O.S.B., was grandniece of the
Lady Abbess Lucy Knatchbull, and succeeded as eighth abbess
of the monastery at Ghent on the death of Dame Scholastica
Gerard in 1711. She died in office in 1727, and was suc-
ceeded by Dame Cecilia Tyldesley.

Several other members of this family were religious at Ghent.
Dame Margaret Paula Knatchbull, sister to the fourth and
niece of the first abbess, was professed in 1627, and was alive
in 1672, the date of her death being lost. They were cousins
to Dame Margaret Knatchbull, professed at Ghent Nov. 28,
1627, died in 1636, and her sister Mary, professed July 2,
1626, died at the convent in 1624. The latter were daughters
of Thomas Knatchbull, who at one time studied for the priest-
hood at Valladolid.

Authorities as in preceding notice.

1. Relation of the Establishment of the Benedictine Dames at
Ghent, by the Lady Abbess Mary Knatchbull, MS., 1718, belonging
to the Old Chapter archives. The history is brought down to the date
of the MS.

2. “ Constitutions ” of the community, printed.

Knatchbull, Robert, Father, S.J., was born Sept. 2, 1716,
in Maryland, where two or more younger sons of the Mersham
Hatch family seem to have settled. The elder branch had
apostatised, and had received the reward of a baronetcy in 1641.
After studying his humanities at St. Omer’s College, Robert
Knatchbull entered the novitiate at Watten, Sept. 7, 1735.
On Feb. 2, 1753, he was raised to the degree of a professed
father. Dr. Oliver says that he was appointed to the chaplaincy
at Brough Hall, Yorks, the seat of Sir Henry Lawson, Bart.,
in Aug. 1748. This is apparently a mistake for 1758, at
which date the first extant register opens. He was certainly
not there, between 1741 and 1752, during Bishop Dicconson’s

—
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administration of the Northern Vicariate. He left Brough in
consequence of the threats of the vicar of the parish, who was
annoyed by his baptising the infant daughter of a Catholic,
residing at Catterick, on March 22, 1765. He then withdrew
to Ghent, and from August in that year till the suppression of
the Society in 1773, he was rector of that college and also
master of novices. After the suppression he returned to York-
shire, and became chaplain at Walton Hall, the seat of the
Waterton family, where he died Sept. 16, 1782, aged 66.

Oliver, Collections S.J.; St. Mary's Convent, York, p. 176 ; Bp. Diccon-
son's MS.

1. Spiritual Considerations, MSS., belonging to the Bar Convent,
York. They consist of four sets of considerations for renovation of vows,
eight on the Love of God, and fourteen on the religious virtues.

Knight, Sir Arnold James, M.D., born May 17, 1789,
was the youngest son of Alexander Knight, of Sixhills Grange,
and Catharine, daughter of Wm. Caley, of Grimoldby Hall,
both in the county of Lincoln. The Knights were an ancient
Lincolnshire family, seated at Snarford, Revesby, and Sixhills,
and never lost the faith. Sir Arnold’s father, when a boy,
about 1750, was sent to the Franciscan school at Edgbaston,
near Birmingham, whence he proceeded to St. Omer’s College.
There, as customary in the times of the penal laws, he took his
mother’s name, she being of the ancient Catholic family of Anne,
of Frickley in Yorkshire, where indeed the boy was probably
born, for his father tenanted the Hall in and previous to 1741,
the Annes having removed to Burghwallis. In consequence of
this alias, young Knight was nicknamed Miss Nancy by the
boys at St. Omer, and, not liking this, he obtained permission
to use the name of his grandmother, who was a Miss Plumpton,
of Plumpton Hall, Yorkshire.

As a boy, Arnold Knight had the advantage of the teaching
of the chaplain at Sixhills Grange, the Rev. James Simbkiss, a
man of profound learning and great scientific knowledge. In
1799 he was sent with his elder brother to the same Franciscan
school where his father had made his preliminary studies, but
which in the meantime, in 1785, had been transferred to Bad-
desley Green. After some time he was recalled home, and for
a short period studied under Mr. Simkiss. In Aug. 1805,
he was sent to Oscott College, being, as he said, backward in
Latin and Greek, but, thanks to Mr. Simkiss, superior to most
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in scientific knowledge. With his great love, however, of the
classics, which he retained through life, he soon became pro-
ficient in this part of his studies. ~His good conduct and great
abilities made his superiors desirous of his studying for the
Church, but after much consideration and advice he decided in
favour of medicine, for which he had a strong inclination, per-
haps from the circumstance of his godfather, Mr. Shuttleworth,
being eminent in that profession. He therefore left Oscott in
June, 1808, and was sent to the University of Edinburgh, then
the first school of medicine in the kingdom. After three
sessions, on June 11, 1811, he applied to be examined for his
degree, which he passed with high honours and was admitted
doctor of medicine. Being too young to commence practice,
and, like everybody, being enthusiastic about the war, he
obtained a commission as surgeon in his county regiment of
militia, the South Lincoln, under Colonel Sibthorpe, brother of
the Rev. Richard Waldo Sibthorpe, who became a Catholic
priest, and was an intimate friend of his. He served during
three years in England, Scotland, and Ireland, and though his
brother-officers were very anti-Catholic, he always received the
greatest kindness and was never made to feel uncomfortable on
account of his religion. As he remarks, “ Society was then
more tolerant than the laws ; after emancipation, the laws were
more tolerant than society.” At the close of the war he had
to choose between joining the regular army or private practice.
Hearing through his friend, Mr. Bagshawe, the eldest brother
of Henry Bagshawe, Q.C., the father of the present bishop
of Nottingham, that there was only one physician in Sheffield,
he decided to go there, although he knew no one but Mr. Bag-
shawe and an elderly relative, Mr. Sayles, of Brightside, the
representative of a Catholic family, which still retained the
property entered as Sayle’s Fields in Doomsday Book. He
soon, however, became known as an able physician, and in
spite of the prejudice against his religion, his able and refined
manners made him a welcome guest in the society of the
neighbourhood, and his practice was assured.

At this time there was but a very small congregation at
Sheffield, under the care of the Rev. Richard Rimmer, and
Mass was said in a small room over a shop. Dr. Knight took
great interest in the welfare of the mission. He soon found
himself forced to spend much time in answering the almost
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daily attacks on his religion, and by letters, pamphlets, and
speeches, was the means of removing prejudices, and teaching
the justice of the Catholic claims, of which, through the mis-
representations of centuries, the English people knew so little.
He soon, therefore, became known amongst the Catholic body
as a fearless defender of the faith. At the election of Lord
Morpeth at Wakefield, Dr. Knight was chosen to second him
and speak on Catholic Emancipation. His friend, Charles
Waterton, the eminent naturalist, who was present, described
how the doctor came to the front of the hustings and said,
“ Gentlemen, I am a Roman Catholic ” ; and then, boldly facing
the people, awaited a hearing which was considered doubtful.
For a moment there was a lull, then a tremendous cheer ; the
love of pluck and fair play of the sturdy Yorkshiremen pre-
vailed, and, as Mr. Waterton said, for the first time since the
so-called Reformation, a Catholic addressed twenty-thousand
people, pleading as a Catholic for Catholic rights. His power-
ful arguments and splendid oratory told admirably, and
Catholic Emancipation was a step the nearer. After the
passing of the Act in 1829, Dr. Knight was made a magistrate
for the West Riding of Yorkshire, an office that hitherto
Catholics could not hold.

In 1833 Dr. Knight was suffering {from overwork and went
to Rome. He was presented to Gregory XVI, and became
intimate with Dr. Wiseman, Cardinal Weld, and other dis-
tinguished residents and visitors. After a year spent there
and in other capitals of Europe, he returned home with
renewed health and vigour. . He was always prominent in all
political measures having for their object the improvement,
social and physical, of the people. By his writings and
speeches he ably advocated the Bills for reform, for protection
of life in dangerous employments, and for the health of towns,
in which he was encouraged by Lords Morpeth and Normanby,
and by others famous for their philanthropy and social
position. With regard to the last question, the people gene-
rally knew and cared little for it, and it required much of his
valuable time to teach them its vast importance to themselves.
After many years of opposition in Parliament, he had the
satisfaction of seeing the Bill passed, and time has proved the
wisdom of one of the most enlightened measures for the health,
happiness, lengthening of life, and social regeneration of
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England that have ever become law. In reward for these
services her Majesty was pleased to bestow on him the
honour of knighthood, at the levée held at St. James’s Palace,
March 31, 1841.

In 1843, finding his hearing impaired, and being most
scrupulous in his ideas of professional duty, Sir Arnold felt he
could not continue his extensive and lucrative practice, and
sooner than curtail it and cause inconvenience to his patients,
he decided to quit Sheffield and practise as a consulting
physician in Liverpool, where several of his sons were settled.
No sooner had his resolve become known than all classes
united in expressions of goodwill and regret. He was enter-
tained at dinner by the gentry and leading inhabitants of
Sheffield ; by the medical profession, who presented him with
an address and a service of plate ; by the Catholics, and by the
mechanics of Sheffield at a largely attended soirée, where he
was also presented with an address. The local press joined in
the general acclamation, and in the words of his life-long friend,
Montgomery, the poet, expressed at the public dinner, Sheffield
agreed in the opinion that Sir Arnold had deservedly earned
the farewell verdict, “ Well done, thou good and faithful
servant.”

Sir Arnold took up his residence in Abercromby Square,
Liverpool. During the eight years spent there he became a
leader amongst Catholics, supporting their cause in public and
private; and on the re-establishment of the hierarchy, he did
much to explain the true meaning of the Act, and the mistaken
legislation of Lord John Russell, thus contributing towards
allaying the excitement which had arisen amongst Protestants.
Sir Arnold continued to help in all matters benefiting the
health, morality, and progress in education of the people. He
was pressed to accept the commission of the peace for the
borough of Liverpool, but he felt himself compelled to decline
the honour. In conjunction with Lord Howard of Glossop,
he exerted himself to promote a commercial spirit amongst the
sons of the Catholic higher classes, as a useful opening in life
for themselves, and as a means of securing for their body a
place in that middle class, in which, through the oppression of
the penal laws and the effects of prejudice, Catholics were but
- thinly represented. In 1851, when Sir Arnold quitted Liver-
pool, the local members of his profession passed a resolution
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expressing regret at his retirement, and elected him a corre-
sponding member of their institute.

The next four years were spent by him in France, Belgium,
and Italy, with great benefit to his health. On his return to
England in 1856, he settled for a time at Nottingham, having
a high opinion of its healthy situation. Whilst there he kept
up a large correspondence on the questions of the day with
many who were glad to avail themselves of his learning, keen
judgment, and wide experience. At the wish of his family,
in 1864, he removed to The Priory, Little Malvern, where he
had the advantage of a church adjoining the house. Here he
resided in the enjoyment of good health and a clear intellect
till his death, Jan. 12, 1871, aged 81.

Sir Arnold had through life taken as his model the great Sir
Thomas More, recently beatified, whom he revered as one of
England’s noblest men and most saintly martyrs. Like Sir
Thomas, he had the simplicity of a child, a deep sense of
truth and justice, with a wonderful power of attraction, and
of inculcating knowledge. Professionally he was regarded as
a man of great ability and practical knowledge. In cases of
hydrophobia perhaps no man in England had a larger expe-
rience. As a public speaker Sir Arnold had few equals. With
a noble aspect, clear and powerful voice, a determined, yet
courteous manner, and great command of language, he was
able to convince and interest his hearers, who felt his arguments
were the result of deep thought and sincerity of purpose. Asa
Catholic he was a profoundly obedient son of the Church, and as
an Englishman he was an ardent lover of his country. In early
life he had taken much interest in the funeral question, having
a horror of the heathenism and vulgarity which then prevailed,
and the ruin which so often followed the extravagance thought
necessary to the honouring of the dead, and shortly before
his death he drew up minute instructions for his own funeral,
including even the form of his monument and the inscription.

By his wife, Harriet Isabella, daughter of Thomas Milnes-
Smith, of Dunston Hall, Derbyshire, whom he married in
1822, and who survived him and died at The Priory, Aug. 29,
1880, aged 82, Sir Arnold had seven sons and four daughters,
of whom three became priests and three nuns. The eldest
son, Lieut.-Col. Arnold More Knight, originally of the 16th
Lancers, and afterwards of the 7th Dragoon Guards, died
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July 27, 1891, aged 69. Other sons are the . Right Rev.
Edmund Knight, Bishop of Shrewsbury, Fr. Thos. Milnes
Knight, S.J., Fr. Arthur Geo. Knight, S.]J., and Lt.-Col. Alex.
T. Knight, of Alton.

The Oscotian, iv. 30, v. 259-286; Orthodox Journal, xii. 238 ; Tablet,
xxxvil. 117, lvi. 304.

1. His literary work consisted chiefly of contributions to the medical jour-
nals of the day, lectures on professional subjects, and addresses of a partly
political character, having reference principally to Catholic Emancipation and
kindred topics.

In 1836 Sir Arnold delivered a lecture at the Mechanics’ Institution, Shef-
field, on Popular Education, Amusements, and Religious Observances,
printed in the Siefield Iris of Oct. 4. This lecture elicited a philippic in
the Skeffield Mercury of Oct. 1, to which Andrews, the editor of the London
and Dublin Orthodox Journal replied in his issue of Oct. 15. Occasionally
he addressed the Zuélet ind other Catholic journals.

2. The family of Knight is of great antiquity in Lincolnshire, and has given
many sons and daughters to the Church. There was formerly a monument
in St. Mark’s, Lincoln, inscribed with the arms of the family, to the memory
of Thomas Knight, mercator, Lincoln, who died June 24, 1423, also to Alice
his wife, and to Alexander Knight, who died Dec. 19, 1458. John Knight,
of Lincolnshire, was ordained priest at Douay College, April 7, 1601, and
matriculated at the University of Douay, April 1, 1602. Dom James Dunstan
Knight, O S.B., born at Revesby, Lincolnshire, in 1714, was professed at
Lambspring, April 15, 1732, sent to the English mission in the Benedictine
south province, and was at Little Malvern, Worcester, from 1766 to his death,
Jan. 6, 1787, having received the titular dignity of cathedral prior of Roches-
ter in 1777. His brother, Dom Francis Benedict Knight, O.S.B., born at
Revesby in 1716, was also professed at Lambspring, May 31, 1733, and died
there Feb. 15, 1743. William Knight, gent., died March 16, 1716, aged 82,
and was buried at Lubbenham, co. Leicester, a third part of which rectory
belonged to the Knight family. His son, Wm. Knight, who registered his
estate as a Catholic nonjuror in 1717, is said to have leased Kingerby Old
Hall in Lincolnshire from Sir Marmaduke Constable in 1702, and maintained
the chaplaincy there till his death about 1726. By his second wife, Lucy
Jennings, of York, whose sister Mary married Joseph Langdale, of Selby,
gent., he had an only surviving son, Fr. Richard Knight, a/Zas Thorold, S.].,
born at Kingerby, July 24, 1720. This holy man served the mission at
Richmond, Yorks, from 1743 for many years, and was still there in 1761.
Subsequently he removed to Lincoln, re-established the mission, and erected
a chapel, which he served for many years. He also built a chapel at Market
Rasen in 1782, to take the place of the old chaplaincy at Kingerby. He died
at Lincoln, Dec. 6, 1793, aged 73, having settled his estates upon his only sister
Lucy (educated at York Bar convent), who became the wife of Sir Thos.
Rokewood Gage, of Hengrave, Bart. '

Amongst the nuns of the family may be mentioned Dorothy Knight, the
last Cistercian prioress of Swine Abbey in Yorkshire, who received a pension
at the dissolution of her convent, Sept. 9, 1539, and was still alive in 1553.
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Sir Arnold Knight’s aunt, Clare Knight, was the last but one Lady Abbess
of the Benedictine Abbey at Cambrai. She was born in 1740, and installed
abbess of iier monastery in 1792, but died Oct. 30 of the same year. Her
sister, Dame Anne Joseph Knight, was likewise professed there, suffered
imprisonment during the French revolution 1793-3, came with the commu-
nity to Abbot’s Salford, Warwick, and there died March 2, 1813. Other
members of the family were in the same convent. Sir Arnold’s sister Lucy
entered the visitation convent at Shepton Mallet, where she received the
babit and name of Mary Baptist, May 8, 1816, and in May, 1817, took per-
petual vows. There she died, April 7, 1824, aged 32.

Several ladies of the family appear in the school register at York Bar
convent between 1713 and the beginning of this century.

At various periods the family maintained chaplaincies at Frickley, Yorks,
and at Kingerby Hall and Sixhills Grange in Lincolnshire. The history of
that at Kingerby, and of the two missions which sprang from it, 1s as
follows : Wm. Knight maintained the chaplaincy at Kingerby from 1702
to the time of his death, about 1726. His widow, Mrs. Lucy Knight, was
cousin to the provincial of the Dominicans, Fr. Thos. Worthington, O.P.,
whose mother was a Plumpton, of Plumpton Hall, Yorks. She thus obtained
Fr. Jno. Raymund Greene, O.P., for her chaplain, from 1726 to 1730. It
is probable that her son, Fr. Rich. Knight, S.J., served the mission from
about 1739 to 1743, when Fr. Wm. Anderson, a/ias Ignatius Sheffield, S.].,
came to Kingerby, and stayed till his death, Aug. 25, 1764. He was
succeeded by Fr. Joseph Johnson, S.J., who left about 1780, and his place
was taken by Fr. Jas. Leslie, S.J. In 1782, Fr. Rich. Knight, of Lincoln,
built a chapel at Market Rasen, to which the mission at Kingerby was
removed, and Fr. Leslie continucd to serve it till 1793. Meanwhile,
Kingerby was sold, in view »f which the mission was no doubt removed to
Market Rasen, and in 1785 was purchased by the Youngs, a Catholic family
long connected with the neighbourhood ; but the chapel was not reopened.
The Rev. Francis Alaine, a French refugee, took cnarge of Market Rasen
in 1793, and stayed till Dec. 1796, when he became chaplain at York Bar
convent. He was succeeded by Fr. Francis Willoughby Brewster, a Car-
melite, who erected a new chapel in 1823, a view of which is given in the
London and Dublin Orthodox Journal,xi. 145. After being in charge of the
mission fifty-two years, Fr. Brewster died at Market Rasen, Jan. 11, 1849,
the last survivor of the Carmelites in England. At the time of Catholic
Emancipation he thus filled up a return required by the Government : * No
superior, no inferior, the last man.” In 1838 he opened a chapel in the old
manor-house at West Rasen, belonging to the Herries family (engraved in
the Orthodox Journal, vii. 145), which was served from Market Rasen every
fourth Sunday in the month. Shortly before his death, in 1845, the Rev.
John Gosford came to assist him, but left in 1848, and his place was taken
by the Rev. James Walker, who stayed till 1850. The Rev. Thomas
Clarke also came in 1848 and remained till 1859, when the Very Rewv.
Thos. Canon Sing took sole charge of the two missions. In 1864 he was
succeeded by Rev. Edw. Smith and the Rev. Algernon Moore. The former
left in 1867, but the latter remained till 1875, having rebuilt the chapel of
the Holy Rood at Market Rasen in 1868, and that of Our Lady of the
Rosary at West Rasen in 1872. The Rev. Henry Cafferata succeeded,
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1875-6, and the present pastor of both chapels, the Very Rev. James
Canon Dwyer, came in 1876.

3. Portrait, photo., with memoir, in Z%e Oscotian, v., N.S., Dec. 1886.

Knight, Joseph, F.H.S., horticulturist, son of William
Knight and of his wife Elizabeth, of Hoghton, or the vicinity,
in the county of Lancaster, was born there in or about
1781. He was brought up as a gardener, and eventually
entered the service of George Hibbert, of Clapham, Esq.,
M.P., a gentleman eminently distinguished for his love of
plants and the liberality of his horticultural communications.
Early in this century, Knight settled in business as a nursery-
man in King's Road, Chelsea, having acquired his kind patron’s
botanical collections as a foundation. His success was rapid,
and he soon amassed considerable wealth. His business subse-
quently was carried on under the firm of Knight and Perry, which
now, as for many years past, is represented by Messrs. Veitch.

In 1820, Knight married Mary, only daughter of John
Powell Lorymer, Esq., of Perthyre, co. Monmouth, whose wife
was daughter to Thomas Langdale, of Holborn Bridge, son of
the distiller whose property was destroyed by the no-Popery
mob during the Gordon riots of 1780. Mr. Langdale was a
relative of Marmaduke, fifth and last Lord Langdale of Holme,
in Yorkshire, who stood sponsor to Mrs. Lorymer’s brother,
Marmaduke Langdale. Mrs. Knight, who was born Oct. 7,
1782, was at school at the English Augustinian convent at
Bruges when the French revolution broke out, and in conse-
quence finished her education with the refugee nuns at Win-
chester. Like her husband, she was endowed with a most
charitable and religious disposition, and their united benefac-
tions were considerable. The chapel at Chelsea is much
indebted to them, and they were also benefactors to Knares-
borough and other missions. The Catholic schools at Brindle,
near Preston, were built and given by Mr. Knight com-
memoratory of his being a native of that mission. He always
maintained a private chapel in his house at Chelsea. Some
time after the death of his wife at Chelsea, Jan. 11, 1843,
Mr. Knight went to reside with his nephew-at-law, Thos.
Aloysius Perry, Esq., of Bitham House, near Banbury, who in
1840 had married Helen, daughter of Mr. Knight's brother
William, of Hoghton, and sister of Canon Knight, of Hartle-
pool, and the Rev. Joseph Knight, of Hertford. There Mr.
Knight died, July 27, 1855, aged 74.
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Orthodox Journ., xx. 35, 48, 60 ; Zablet, vi. 102; Lamp, 1855, viii. 111 ;
Cath. Dir., 1856, p. 229 ; Britten, Journ. of Botany, xxiv. 296.

I. On the Cultivation of the Plants belonging to the Natural
Order of Protegw®, with their generic as well as specific charac-
ters and places where they grow wild. By Joseph Knight,
F.H.S. London, Wm. Savage, 1809, 4to, pp. xix.-127, and at end Index
Generum, with coloured frontis., ded. to Geo. Hibbert, Esq.

Mr. James Britten, F.L.S., 1n his article “On the Nomenclature of some
Proteacex” (Journal of Botany, xxiv. 1886, p. 296 seg.) says—*‘ We have
no evidence that Knight had the slightest claim to be considered a botanist,
and there can be little doubt that the whole of the botanical portion of
his work was written by Salisbury [a co-religionist], though this is denied
by Johnson (Hist. of Gardening, 1829, p. 282). This, indeed, may be
inferred from the preface to his work, where it is stated that ‘ for the names
only of the different genera, their various authors have been quoted, except
those of R. A. Salisbury, Esq., whose MSS. have been found so useful in
every sheet” From internal evidence it is clear that this preface was, at
any rate, in great part written by Salisbury. It is a nice point in nomen-
clature as to whe:her Salisbury or Knight should stand as the authority
for the many species here first published ; but it will be easy to show that
the names themselves have priority over the generally accepted ones of
Robert Brown.”

Knight, William, layman, venerable martyr, was the son
of Leonard Knight, a wealthy yeoman of South Duffield, in
the parish of Hemingworth, co. York. His father would
appear to have left him a minor, for upon coming of age, the
youth went to his uncle and namesake to demand his inherit-
ance. The uncle, knowing his nephew to be a Catholic, took
him before the authorities, who committed him to prison, where
he remained till he received his crown of martyrdom. On
Oct. 5, 1593, he was removed from the Palace to York Castle
by Colyer, the pursuivant, in consequence of his having no
money to pay his fees, and after five days’ confinement amongst
the felons, was brought up with other Catholics for examina-
tion. Three years later he was arraigned at the York Assizes
with George Errington, William Gibson, and Henry Abbot,
for endeavouring to persuade a treacherous and disgraced
parson, confined for some misdemeanour in York Castle, to
amend his life and reconcile himself to the Church. For this
they were sentenced to die, as a treasonable offence under
the statute of 23 Elizabeth c. 1, and executed at York, Nov.
29, 1596.

In Lady Babthorpe’s “ Recollections” is recorded the re-
markable judgment which overtook the martyr's wretched
uncle. In the parish of Hemingworth there was a Catholic
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who had been permitted to return home after many years
imprisonment for his faith in York Castle. He went to visit
an old man of his acquaintance, whose time to live was short,
and used persuasions to move him to provide for death and
the salvation of his soul by reconciling himself to the Church.
This came to the knowledge of the martyr’s uncle, William
Knight, and he determined to bring the Catholic within danger
of the statute of persuasion. For that purpose he took along
with him the minister of the parish, named Knighton, and some
others to be witnesses of the old man’s affidavit that the
Catholic had used persuasion with him. On the road Knight
seriously strained himself and was obliged to turn back, so the
minister and the rest, entertaining no such malice, likewise
returned home. Knight's rupture grew worse, and within a
short time he died. Even the minister declared it to be God’s
just judgment upon him.

Challoner, Memoirs, ed. 1741, 1. 353; Morris, Troubles, First Series
Foley, Records S.J., iii. 759.

Knight, William, priest, born Dec. 22, 1808, was the
second of the eleven children of Mr. William Knight, shop-
keeper, of Hoghton Iane, Walton-le-Dale, Lancashire, a
member of a Catholic family settled at Hoghton for some time.
His eldest brother studied at Old Hall College, Herts, and
received minor orders, but in consequence of ill-health set sail
for Lisbon, and died on the passage out. A younger brother,
Joseph, was ordained priest by Cardinal Wiseman in 1851, and
after remaining for some little time at Old Hall, was sent to
Hertford, where he died Sept. 6, 1852, aged 26, William was
sent as a boy to the English College at Lisbon. One who
knew him there for a short time, says: “ That he was distin-
guished amongst his school-fellows for his amiable and genial
disposition, and was consequently most popular throughout his
whole course. He was also noted for his zeal in every good
work, and for his great musical talent. He was the college
organist, and the head and soul of the musical department, and,
even at that early age, a composer.”

On his return to England as a priest in 1833, he was sent
temporarily as assistant to the Very Rev. Richard Thompson,
V.G., at Weld Bank, and thence to Poulton-le-Fylde, both in
his native county. Within a year of his ordination, however,
he was given charge of the new mission at Hartlepool, Durham,
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where he arrived on horseback, Jan. 18, 1834, ten days after
the chapel had been opened by Bishop Briggs. Here he spent
the long missionary career of forty years. He found Hartle-
pool a small fishing village with but a handful of Catholics,
some twenty communicants, though his charge stretched over a
wide district. He lived to see missions founded in all the out-
lying districts of which he had the care, and his own con-
gregation so largely increased that he was enabled to raise a
beautiful church and leave it free from debt and incumbrance.
It was opened with great solemnity in 1851 by Cardinal Wise-
man, and bishops, priests, and distinguished laymen gathered
from all parts to share in the great event. In the following
year Mr. Knight became a canon of the diocese of Hexham.
After a life of unremitting toil and labour, and a long and
tedious illness patiently borne, he died at his presbytery ITarch 4,
1874, aged 65.

Canon Knight was highly popular with his fellow-townsmen,
who marked their respect by attending in large numbers at his
funeral, and closing the shops along the route of the procession.

Cath. Opinion, xv. 282 ; Northern Cath. Cal., 1875, p. 44 ; Personal Rem:-
niscence.

1. Sacred Music : amongst many pieces may be noted an “ Agnus Dei,” a
very beautiful and simply constructed treble solo and chorus for four voices ;
Dr. Lingard’s translation of the “ Ave Maris Stella” ; an “ O Salutaris Hos-
tia,” a duet for two trebles; and a “ Sanctus” for four voices ; the whole of
‘which, though composed for the use of his choir, he published in 1842.

Knipe, John, Captain, was the son and heir of James
Knipe, of Rampside, in the parish of Dalton, co. Lancaster,
.gent., who died in 1615. In the reign of Elizabeth his grand-
father, William Knipe, had taken from the Crown long leases of
lands in that neighbourhood. The family had always remained
staunch to the faith, and their names for a long series of years
appear in the recusant rolls. In 1649, John Knipe, of Ramp-
side, gent., was a papist under sequestration. Shortly after-
wards he joined the royal forces, and was slain at Brindle,
four miles from Preston, Aug. 23, 1651.

His son and heir, James Knipe, of Rampside, gent., married
Susan, daughter and co-heiress of Henry Butler, of Hackinsall,
gent. He died in 1665, and his wife in 1676, leaving a son,
James Knipe, of Rampside, who died in 1694. There were
-other branches of the family settled at Hawkshead, Burble-
thwaite-in-Cartmel, and two in Broughton-in-Cartmel. One
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of the latter and also the Burblethwaite branch were Catholic,
and suffered heavily in fines for their religion.

Castlemain, Cath. Apol. ; Gillow, Lanc. Recusants, MS.; West, Antiq. of
Furness, p. 177; Abram, Hist. of Blackéourn, p. 180.

Knipe, Edward, Father, S.J., vzde Matthew Wilson.

Knowles, Gilbert, O.S.B,, born in Southamptonshire in
1667, was professed at St. Gregory’s Monastery, Douay,
Feb. 24, 1692, and ordained priest in 1700. He was sent to
the mission in the Benedictine north province in 1705, and
was stationed at Newborough, in the North Riding of York-
shire in 1710. In the beginning of 1719 he succeeded Fr.
Hen. Thos. Crosland, O.P., at Whenby, where he remained till
1721. Then or later he returned to his monastery at Douay,
where he died, Sept. 8, 1734, aged 6.

Snow, Bened. Necrology ; Dolan, Weldorw's Chron. Notes ; Oliver, Collec-
tions, p. 519.

1. Materia Medica Botanica, in qua Symptomata variorum
Morborum describuntur, Herbeque iisdem depellendis aptis-
simge apponuntur . ... Octingentis, preeter propter, carminibus
Latinis hexametris totum opus constat. Londini, 1723, 4to., prepared
for the press in 1717, and approved by his superiors.

Knowles, Richard Brinsley, barrister-at-law, born at
Glasgow in 1820, was the only surviving son of the eminent
dramatist, James Sheridan Knowles. For some years he studied
law in the Middle Temple, and was called to the bar, but his
natural tastes inclining to literature, he relinquished the active
work of his profession and devoted himself entirely to literary
pursuits. In 1845 a comedy from his pen, entitled ¢ The
Maiden Aunt,” was produced at the Haymarket Theatre, in
which the chief parts were sustained by Farren and Mrs. Glover.
From that time Mr. Knowles became a diligent contributor to
many leading journals and reviews. In 1849 he became a
convert. In 1871 his historical attainments, added to his.
literary power, led to his engagement under the Royal Com-
mission on Historical MSS., as an inspector of family muni-
ments, and many valuable collections, chiefly belonging to
Catholic families, were entrusted to his examination. Feor
some time before his death Mr. Knowles was in ill-health, and:
one morning he was found dead in bed, at his residence North
Bank, Regent’s Park, N.W., Jan. 28, 1882, aged 62.

Though leading a somewhat retired life, his amiable dis-
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position had endeared him to his friends and acquaintance, and
his unexpected death came to them as a severe blow.

Weekly Reg., 1xv. 145, 153, 471 ; Tablet, lix. 181 ; Cath. Directory, 1850.

1. The Maiden Aunt: A Comedy. Lond. 1843, 16mo, in five acts
and in verse.

2. “The Illustrated London Magazine.” Edited by Richard Brinsley
Knowles. Lond. 1853, &c., 4to.

3. Reports of the Royal Commission on Hist. MSS., embracing those on
the collections belonging to the Marquis of Bute, Earl of Denbigh, Earl of
Ashburnham, Colonel Towneley, &c.

4. Besides mary of the leading journals of the day, he was a contributor
to The Weekly Register, and other Catholic reviews.

5. “ The Life of James Sheridan Knowles, &c.” Revised and edited by F,
Harvey. Lond. 1872, 4to, privately printed.

Knowles, William, layman, confessor, was a yeoman
residing with his wife at Kidware, in Staffordshire. He was a
staunch Catholic, and, in consequence, was persecuted by
Nicholas Thornes, the pursuivant, who seized his cattle and
other effects, took possession of his house, turned his family
out, and had poor Knowles committed to Stafford gaol. There
his sufferings were terminated by death, after about a year’s
imprisonment, and his body, being refused burial in the church-
yard, was interred in the old Franciscan Friary in 1587.

Foley, Records S.J., ii\.; Morris, Troubles, Third Series; Gillow, St.
Thomas’s Priory.

Knox, Thomas Francis, D.D., Oratorian, born Dec. 24,
1822, was the eldest son of the Hon. John Henry Knox, third
son of Thomas Knox, second Viscount Northland and first
Earl of Ranfurly, and of LLady Mabella Josephine, daughter of
Francis, Earl of Kilmorey. He was educated at Cambridge,
where he obtained a scholarship at Trinity College, and took
his degree in 1845, when he was placed third in the first class
of the Classical Tripos and among the Senior Optimes of the
Mathematical Tripos. On Nov. 17 of the same year he accom-
panied Fr. Faber to Northampton, and was received into the
church on the evening of the same day by Bishop Wareing.
At the beginning of 1848 he was admitted into the Congrega-
tion of the Oratory by Fr. (Cardinal) Newman, at Maryvale,
and in the following year joined with Fr. Faber in the estab-
lishment of the London Oratory, in which he remained till his
death. In Sept. 1873, Pius IX. conferred upon him the
degree of D.D., Jwnoris causd,being at that time superior of his.
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community. At last he sank under a heart disease of long
standing on March 20, 1882, aged 59.

Fr. Knox was a sound theologian, a good canonist, and
an accurate historian. When the local process of the English
martyrs was opened in 1874, he was appointed notary of the
court, which held its meetings regularly at the Oratory under
all the formalities prescribed by the Sacred Congregation of
Rites, and upon him devolved the greater part of the material
work. It was a great undertaking, yet to him it was a labour
of love, and he possessed special qualifications for the work.
Thus much of the praise due to the labours which led to the
decree of beatification of Dec. 29, 1886, was earned by Fr.
Knox. He also occupied much of his time in the work of
preserving and making known the memorials of the English
Catholics. Indeed, he was engaged within a few days of his
death in correcting the last sheets of his historical introduction
to “ The Letters and Memorials of Cardinal Allen.”

ZTablet, lix. 452, 471 5 1x. 7215 Cath. Opin. xviii. 233 ; Burke, Peerage.

1. College Life. By T. Whytehead. Edited by T. F. Knox.
Lond. 1845, 8vo. ; 4. 1856, 8vo.

2. Life of Blessed Henry Suso, by himself. Translated from
the German by T. F. Knox, of the Oratory. Lond., Burns & Co.,
1865, 8vo.

3. When does the Church speak Infallibly ? or, the Nature and
Scope of the Church’s Teaching Office. By T. F. Knox, of the
London Oratory. Lond., Burns, Oates & Co., 1867, 8vo; 2nd edit., re-
written and considerably enlarged, 74. 1870, 8vo ; translated into German,
Italian, &c.

This little work attracted much attention, and the first edition was speedily
out of print. It summarises the doctrine of the Church as to what are the
organs by which she teaches infallibly, what are the subjects about which
her teaching is infallible, what is the mode of her teaching, and what the
obligation in conscience that it lays upon the faithful. It is a lucid exposi-
tion of sound doctrine for the use of the laity, agreeably written, and free
from scholastic terms and disquisitions.

When a committee of learned and pious theologians at Rome had met
together for the purpose of drawing up a popular treatise, to be published in
many languages, on the absorbing subject of the day—Infallibility—these
eminent personages decided unanimously, after mature investigation, that
the work of Fr. Knox, small in its apparent size, but great in its theological
completeness, was precisely what was wanted to meet the necessities of the
time. Accordingly, instead of compiling any new treatise, they issued trans-
lations of the original pamphlet of our English Oratorian (Zublet, xxxv.
774). Pius IX,, through his secretary, sent the author a special letter of
commendation in July 1870 (Zablet, xxxvi. 146).
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4. The Last Survivor of the Ancient English Hierarchy.
(Thomas Goldwell, Bishop of St. Asaph.) In two Parts. Lond.
(1876), 8vo, pp. 40, repr. from The Month, vol. vii. 3rd series, 1876. A most
carefully written biographical sketch, displaying immense research.

5. The First and Second Diaries of the English College, Douay,
and an Appendix of Unpublished Documents, Edited by Fathers
of the Congregation of the London Oratory, with an Historical
Introduction by Thomas Francis Knox, D.D., Priest of the same
Congregation. Lond., D. Nutt, 1878, 4to, pp. cviii.—447, forming vol. 1. of
“Records of the English Catholics under the Penal Laws. Chiefly from
the Archives of the See of Westminster.”

The Diarium Primum contains a succinct account of the foundation of
the College in 1568, followed by two catalogues, the one of students ordained
priests, 1573 to 1632, and the other of priests sent on the English mission,
1574 to 1644. Besides these there are lists of the students who took the
College oaths from 1627 to 1780. The Diarium Secundum is a day by day
narrative of events, more or less full, relating to the history of the College
from 1575 to 1593. It is followed by letters and documents of the same
period. The Appendix of inedited documents comprises a variety of lists,
reports, and letters from different sources, relating to the early history of
the College and the persons connected with it during the first thirty years
of its existence. The whole work was transcribed and carried through the
press by the joint labours of several Fathers of the Oratory, FF. Knox,
Rich. Stanton, T. G. Law (who also compiled the Index), E. S. Keogh, &c.
The historical Introduction is entirely by Fr. Knox, and is one of the most
learned and valuable contributions to our ecclesiastical history.

The diaries remaining unpublished are as follows :—Third, 1598 to 1633 ;
Fourth, formerly known as Ireland’s Diary, 1641—47 ; Fifth, 1647 to 1654 ;
Sixth, now lost, 1676 to 1692, with a few occasional entries to 1695 ; Seventh,
1715 to 1778, with memoranda by Pres. Witham of events between 1689
and 1715. There is also in the Westminster archiepiscopal archives a small
diary extending from 1770 to 1781, which, unlike the others, is in English.
Besides these there is evidence of another MS. called ‘“ The Rheims Diary
for 1579-80,” existing in the time of Canon Tierney.

At the time when the First and Second Diaries were being edited, the
whereabouts of the third, fourth, fifth, and seventh Diaries was unknown to
the editors, the volumes having been borrowed by the late Bishop Goss and
misplaced. Having been permitted by the late bishop to make some
extracts from them, the present writer informed Fr. Knox of the fact in
1876, who wrote—* Until your letter came we could get no clue to these
missing volumes, for I can hardly believe that they are lost or destroyed,
considering how recently they were in existence.” Further inquiries by
the writer at the request of Fr..Knox led to the finding of the volumes at
St. Edward’s College, Liverpool.

In their account of the diaries, the editors have entirely overlooked that
kept by Bishop Edward Dicconson, then procurator at the college. This
valuable MS. in folio details everything of importance which happened in
the College, with lists of the professors and students in the various schools.
A portion, extending from July to Oct. 1704, Jan. to Nov. 1705, July to Dec.
1706, Feb. to March 1707, and July to Aug. 1714, is now preserved in the

WOIL, IO I
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Ushaw Collections, vol. i. pp. 181 to 202. It is most probable that Dr.
Dicconson commenced this diary upon his appointment as procurator in
1701, and continued it till his leaving the college for Paris in Dec. 1719.

Another MS. which might well have been noticed is now in the Burgundian
Library, MS. 17,594,  Collegium Anglo Duacenum.” It contains a list of
the presidents to 1714, fourteen bishops from the college to 1727, doctors of
theology and writers, martyrs, and an account of remarkable alumni and
their writings, all, with the exception of the last, by the Rev. Gregory Mark-
ham, professor of philosophy in the college in 1730.

6. The Letters and Memorials of William Cardinal Allen
(1532-1594). Edited by Fathers of the Congregation of the
London Oratory. With an Historical Introduction by Thomas
Francis Xnox, D.D., Priest of the same Congregation. London,
D. Nutt, 1882, 4to, pp. cxxii.—480, forming vol. ii. of *“ Records of the English
Catholics.” '

Fr. Knox, as we have seen, did not live to see the publication of this
important work. The Introduction displays his scholarly and masterly pen
equally with that of the previous volume. The Index was compiled by Fr.
Keogh. Much might be added, however, to the history of the Allen family.
A very good account with a pedigree will be found in Colonel Fishwick’s
“History of Poulton-le-Fylde,” Chetham Soc., New Series, vol. viii., 1885,
pp. 123-157 ; vide also “ Cardinal Allen’s Defence of Sir William Stanley’s
Surrender of Deventer, Jan. 29, 1586-7. Edited by Thomas Heywood, Esq.,
F.S.A., Cheth. Soc., vol. xxv. 1851; and W. A, Abram’s “ Sketches in Local
History,” Preston Guardian, June 6, 1874, Feb. 28 and April 15, 1876.

7. “The True Story of the Catholic Hierarchy Deposed by Queen Eliza-
beth ; with Fuller Memoirs of the Last Two Survivors. By the Rev. T. E.
Bridgett and the late Rev. T. F. Knox, D.D.” London, Burns & Oates, 1889,
8vo, pp. xili-263.

Though Fr. Bridgett has generously divided the honour of authorship
with Fr. Knox, the latter’s share in the work is comparatively small, and
the credit of this very important contribution to the history of the hierarchy
must chiefly rest with Fr. Bridgett.

Kynton, John, O.8.F.,a man of singular ability, and noted
for his knowledge in sacred learning, was elected reader of
divinity at Magdalen College, Oxford. In this office he
acquired a great reputation, and after some years, being already
D.D,, was chosen Margaret-professor with the general approba-
tion of the University. He was the third occupant of this chair
after its foundation in 1496, and succeeded John Roper, but at
what date is not known. In 1521 he was one of those selected
by the University to reply to Luther. On Oct. 5, 1530, he
resigned his chair, and a few years later was buried in the
chapel attached to Durham College, now Trinity College,
Oxford, where his gravestone in Wood’s time bore the in-
scription—Obijt Johannes Kynton, Frater Minor, S. Theol.
Professor, 20™% Januarij, Anno 15353.
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Bliss, Wood’s Athene Oxon., i. 94; Parkinson, Coll. Anglo-Minor,
PP- 236-7.

1. At the command of Henry VIII. he wrote a work against the doctrine
of Martin Luther, which probably appeared in print.

Lacy, Brian, layman, venerable martyr, was brother to
Richard Lacy, of Brockdish, in Norfolk, gent. In 1584 the
latter was apprehended for recusancy, and in his ‘ confession,”
probably extorted under torture, and taken on March 13, before
Sir Wm. Heydon and William Blenerhaiset, gave information
respecting Montford Scott and other priests. Moreover, he
betrayed his brother Brian, who he said was in the service of
Sir John Arundell, and related sayings of Robert Hartley and
others, that “if Sir William Heydon and Mr. John Stubbes
could get hold of Brian Lacey, they would rack him, even till
the nails should start from his fingers.” However, it is doubt-
ful if these two persecuting justices found an opportunity of
satiating their cruelty, though a recusant of the name of Lacy,
who very possibly may be Brian, appears in a list of prisoners
in Newgate in 1586. Anyhow, Brian Lacy was not to escape
torture, and at still more brutal hands, the infamous Topcliffe
and Young. In 1591 a warrant for banishment was issued
against Montford Scott, a priest held in great veneration, who
was a kinsman to Brian Lacy. In the time that should have
been allowed the priest to take leave of his friends, he was
accompanied by Brian Lacy. They were both apprehended,
and the priest was put to death on July 2, 1591, in Fleet
Street. Mr. Lacy was detained in Bridewell, where a priest of
the name of Eustace Wayte, or White, had just been sent from
Blandford. On Oct. 235, 1591, the Privy Council sent the
following order to “ Doctor Fletcher, Richard Topclyffe, Richard
Branthwayte, and Richard Yonge, Esquers . . . . Whereasone
Eustace Wayte, a Semynarye priest, was of late taken, and
there was also one Brian Lassey, a dispenser and distribiture
of letters to papysts and other evyll affected subjects, appre-
hended in like sorte; Theise shall be therefore to will and
require you to take the examynacions and confessions of both
the said persons, and verie straightly to examyn them uppon
soche articles as you, Richard Topclyffe, shall administer unto
them ; and if they shall not declare their knowledges, and
answer directly to all soche matters as you shall think meet
and necessary to be propounded unto them, then shall you by
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vertue hereof, for the better boulting forthe of the truthe, cause
them to be put into the manacles and soche other tortures as are
used in Bridewell, to th’end they may be compelled to utter soche
things as shall concern Her Majestie and the Estate: And their
Examynations so taken by you, we pray you to send the same
to us.” Notwithstanding all the torturing for which the in-
human brute Topcliffe was so notorious, Mr. Lacy, we are told,
declined to tell at whose houses he had been with Fr. Scott.
On Nov. 8, the venerable martyr, Edmund Genings, and another
priest with others, were taken in the house of Mr. Swithin
Wells. The martyr’s brother, Fr. John Genings, was mistaken
in stating that either Mr. Lacy or Fr. White were present on
that occasion. It would seem, however, that the former’s
servant was there and knocked Topcliffe downstairs, about
which he was very wrath at the trial. On Dec. 4, Mr. Lacy
and Fr. White, with those arrested at the house of Mr. Wells,
were arraigned before the Lord Mayor of London, Webb by
name and a salter by occupation, at the Sessions House in the
Old Bailey. Writing in Feb., 1595, James Younge, who was
present in court, thus describes the proceedings, after referring to
the Lord Mayor : “ Others who were present I do not now remem-
ber, except Young, the arch-persecutor; he [Lacy] was con-
demned quickly and in such sort, that in truth I thought they
but jested with him. Such ridiculous matter was laid to his
charge, as also to all the others aforenamed, that in good truth
I was persuaded that they would never make so small account
of men’s lives as to take them away on such slender and
childish accusations, as they must needs seem to any man of
judgment, who heard them. But yet it proved good earnest.”
On the following day the prisoners were brought to the bar
and all condemned to death. After pronouncing sentence the
judges endeavoured to persuade the prisoners to conform to the
Protestant religion, assuring them that by so doing they should
obtain mercy. But the martyrs with one accord replied that
they would live and die in the true Catholic faith, which they
and all antiquity had ever professed, that they would under no
circumstances join in Protestant worship, and that they could
not conceive the Queen to be head of the church in spirituals.
Five days later they were executed, the venerable Brian Lacy
being hanged at Tyburn, on Friday, Dec. 10, 1591.

The priests were quartered, and their members distributed in
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various parts of the city, but the bodies of the laymen were flung
into a pit dug for that purpose by the side of the highway.

Challoner, Memoirs i.; Genings, Life of E. Genings; Jessopp, One
Generation of a Norfolk House; Pollen, Acts; Foley, Records SJ., i ;
Morris, Troubles, 3rd series.

Lacy, John, gentleman, was the son and heir of Richard
Lacy, of Cromwellbotham, in the West Riding of York, Esq.,
by Alice, daughter of Laurence Towneley, of Barnside, co.
Lancaster, Esq. He married first, about 1579, Alice, daughter
of Martin Birkhead, Queen Elizabeth’s attorney at York, by
whom he had three daughters. It would appear that she
accompanied her husband into exile, and died before 1588, if
she be the lady referred to by Bridgewater in his list of those
who suffered for the faith. Mr. Lacy’s second wife was a
daughter of Michael Lister, of Frierhead, co. York, a younger
son of the Listers of Midhope. By her he had two sons, John,
who died young, and Thomas, who married Anne, daughter of
Roger Winckley, of Winckley Hall, co. Lancaster, Esq., by
Martha, daughter of John Wrightington, of Wrightington Hall,
in the same county. Thomas Lacy sold the ancient family
possessions in Yorkshire, and settled at Longworth Hall, in
the parish of Bolton, co. Lancaster, the Longworths having
disposed of the estate and removed to St. Michael's Hall,
Upper Rawcliffe. His son and namesake, who some time
resided at Winckley, married Anne, daughter of Adam Hulton,
of Hulton, and had issue, four sons and two daughters living at
Longworth in 1664. One of the sons, Roger, tenanted Hack-
ing Hall, on the opposite side of the river to Winckley, and in
1688 was elected a governor of Blackburn Grammar School.
The Hacking estate belonged to the Catholic family of Wal-
mesley of Dunkenhalgh, and probably Lacy was their steward.
In the brief reign of James II. it was possible for a Catholic to
be a governor of a grammar school. Roger Lacy was still
living at Hacking Hall in 17035, when he had a son and name-
sake baptized at Great Harwood Church. After this the family
is lost in obscurity. The date of Mr. Lacy’s withdrawal into
exile has not been ascertained. He was living in Douay at the
beginning of the seventeenth century.

When James I. succeeded to the throne, it was generally
expected that Catholics would be relieved from the sanguinary
laws, and be permitted to exercise their religion in peace.
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The lay-Catholics presented an address to his Majesty in July,
1604, in which they expressed their loyalty and prayed for
toleration. A copy of this petition was sent over to Mr. Lacy,
who edited it, with a preface, dated from his study in Douay,
Oct. 16, 1604, and appended a copy of the letter from the
banished priests to the Council dated Sept. 24. He appears
to have returned to Cromwellbotham before his death, which
is said to have occurred about the year 1638.

Lacy, Petit. Apol.; Foster, Visit. of Yorks; Bridgewater, Concertatio,
ed. 1594 ; Dugdale, Visit. of Lanc.

1. A Petition Apologeticall, presented to the Kinges most
excellent Majesty, by the Lay Catholikes of England, in July
last. Doway, John Mozar, 1€04, 4to, pp. 40.

In his preface the editor says he has received two copies of this petition,
“all one in sence and substance,” but not equally “so ample and com-
pleate” Butler, AZst. Men:., 3rd ed., ii. 84-s5, falls into the same error,
and confounds two distinct petitions. The substance of the smaller one
is given in ZZerney’s Dodd, iv. lxxxii., bearing the title—*“ A Supplication
to the King’s most Excellent Majestie, wherein several reasons of state and
religion are briefly touched: not unworthy to be read and pondered by
the lords, knights, and burgesses of the parliament, and other of all Estates.
Prostrated at his highness feete by true affected subjects. Nos credimus,
propter quod et loquimur, Cor. iv. 13,” 1604, 8vo. This was answered in a
pamphlet entitled “ The Supplication of certain Masse Priests, falsely called
Catholicks. Directed to the King’s most Excellent Majesty, now this time
of parliament, but scattered in corners, to moove malcontents to mutinie.
Published with a marginall glosse, and an answer to the libellors reasons,
againe renewed and augmented, and by sections applied to the several
parts of the supplicatory defamation.” Lond., Wm. Apsley, 1604.

Both of these petitions were treated with disregard ; the penal laws were
ordered to be more rigorously enforced, and, in Sept., twenty-one priests and
three laymen, taken out of various prisons, were transported across the
Channel. From the seaside they addressed “ The Banished Priestes Letter to
the Lordes of his Majesties'most honourable privy Councell,” dated Sept. 24,
1604, which Lacy appended to the “Petition Apologeticall” The latter,
according to a document in the Record Office (7Zerney’s Dodd, iv. 1xxxvil.),
was drawn up by John Colleton, a priest confined in Southampton House (vide
Bibl. Dict., 1. 538), and answered in the following year by the bigoted puritan,
Matthew Sutcliffe. Perhaps his reply is the same with “ Briefe Examination
of a certaine Peremptorie Menacing and Disleal Petition presented, as is
pretended, to the King’s most excellent Majestie by certaine Large Papists,
calling themselves the Lay Catholikes of England, and now lately printed
and divulged by a busie compagnion called John Lacey.” Lond., 1606, 4to.

Lacy, John, comedian and dramatist, is said to have been
born near Doncaster, though he was undoubtedly a member of
the family of his name seated at Folkton-in-Dickering, for it
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is known that he was a relative of Fr. Wm. Wolfe, alzas
Lacy, S.J., whose mother, Eleanor, wife of John Wolfe, of
Scarberough, was daughter of Brian Lacy, of Folkton, in
the East Riding of Yorkshire, by Elizabeth, daughter of
George Conyers, of Whitby. Brian’s only son Robert suc-
ceeded him in the estate, and by his wife Katharine, daughter
and co-heiress of Marmaduke Thirkeld, of Haysthorp, in the
same county, and his wife Elizabeth, sister of William, Baron
Hilton, had an only son John Lacy, who could hardly have
been the comedian, as he is said to have died without issue at
an earlier date. His father Robert, a staunch Catholic like all
his family, was a visitor at the English College at Rome in
1613. But Brian Lacy had two brothers, Ralph, a priest in
Preston, co. Lancaster, in the reign of Queen Mary, and
Robert, of Scarborough, the father of John Lacy, from whom
it is most probable the comedian descended.

During the civil wars, John Lacy served as a lieutenant in
the royal army, and was appointed quartermaster under Colonel
Gerard, subsequently Earl of Macclesfield. After the Restora-
tion he was encouraged by his former companion in arms, John
Ogilby, to adopt the stage as a profession. His noble form,
handsome features, and natural humour were thus displayed to
advantage, and he soon became the most popular actor on the
boards of the King’s play-house. Indeed, Charles II. was so
much attracted by his acting that his Majesty ordered Sir Peter
Lely to portray him in several of his characters. His friend,
Ogilby, also persuaded him to test his powers as a dramatist,
which proved so successful that two of his comedies were
printed in his lifetime, and two others subsequently found their
way into the press. He died at London, and was buried in
the graveyard across St. Martin’s Lane attached to St. Martin-
in-the-Fields two days after his death, Sept. 17, 1681.

Dodd, Ch. Hist. iil. ; Wood, Athene Oxon., ed. 1691, ii. ; Harl. Soc.,
Visit. of Yorks,; Foster, Visit. Yorks; Foley, Recovds S.J., vi.

1. The Dumb Lady; or, The Farriar made Physician. A
Comedy. Lond., 1672, 4to, in five acts and in prose, altered from
Moliere’s “ Médecin malgré lui.”

2. The Old Troop ; or, Monsieur Raggou. A Comedy. Lond,
1672, 4t0 ; id. 1673, 7d. 1698, in tive acts and in prose.

3. Sir Hercules Buffoon ; or, The Poetical Squire. A Comedy.
Lond., 1684, 4to, in five acts, and in prose, prologue by T. Durfey, epilogue
by J. Haynes.
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4. Sauny the Scott; or, The Taming of the Shrew. A Comedy.
Lond,, 1698, 4to ; 7. 1708 ; in five acts, and in prose, altered from Shake-
speare’s “ Taming of the Shrew.”

5. “The Dramatic Works of John Lacy, . ... with prefatory memoir
and notes.” Dramatists of the Restoration. Lond., 1875, 8vo, pp. xvii.—398.

6. Portrait. Wood says that Sir Peter Lely drew him in several of
his impersonations, and that the sketches in his time were preserved at
Windsor or Hampton Court. Dodd mentions that he had seen an original
or copy of one of Sir Peter’s drawings at Slindon, in Sussex, the seat of the
Kemps, in which Lacy was represented in three different characters, a
harlequin, a nonconformist minister, and some other.

Lacy, Richard, Father S.]., confessor of the faith, wzde
Prince.

Lacy, Wm., Father S.J., vide Wolfe.

Lacy, William, priest and martyr, beatified by papal
decree on the Feast of St. Thomas of Canterbury, Dec. 29,
1886, was a resident, if not a native, of Great Houghton, in
the parish of Darfield, in the West Riding. His parentage is
not recorded in his memoirs, but he is described as of good
family and moderate means, and therefore would certainly be
allied to one of the four families of his name then seated in
Yorkshire, Most probably he would belong to the Lacys of
Sherburn and Beverley, for in his memoir it is said that he had
relations residing at the latter place. Mr. Lacy was twice
married, his second wife being the widow of Mr. Cresswell, a
younger son of the ancient family of that name seated at
Nunkeeling, in the East Riding, and her two sons, FF. Arthur
and Joseph Cresswell, joined the Society of Jesus in 1583.

Mr. Lacy was a lawyer, and as such for fifteen years filled an
office of considerable honour and emolument in his native
county. Indeed, he might have been promoted to a post of
greater dignity if he would have taken the oath of the Queen’s
spiritual supremacy. Like the majority of the gentry in the
northern counties, Mr. Lacy seems to have temporised during
the early years of Elizabeth’s reign, inasmuch as he conformed
to the Establishment so far as attendance was compulsory.
Missioners coming from the colleges abroad had ever met with
hospitality at his house, and never failed in obtaining such
service or assistance as he was able to afford. About 1563,
after Dr. Allen had been in the northern counties persuading
‘the people that they could not in conscience attend Protestant
service, Mr. Lacy discontinued his nominal conformity, and was
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most careful that his family should do likewise. This absten-
tion was soon noticed, and one day when about to take his
seat in court for the hearing of cases, he was made aware that
an application had been made to the Archbishop of York to
have him arrested on account of recusancy. In order to avoid
the innumerable troubles and dangers which he saw impending,
Mr. Lacy at once resigned his office. Notwithstanding, so
many means were found to distress him, and such heavy
monthly fines were imposed upon him and his household for
recusancy, that his money became exhausted and he was obliged
to leave his home with his wife and children. He had scarcely
departed when his house was invaded by a mob of fanatics,
who appropriated his goods, and hurried off to prison the
domestics he had left in possession. He was then declared a
rebel, on the sole ground that he did not attend Protestant
service. From this time he was hunted about from place to
place, like a hare pursued by hounds, for fourteen years.
During this period he certainly suffered incarceration, for his
name appears in Archbishop Sandys’ list of recusants im-
prisoned at Hull in 1577. He managed, however, to escape
from gaol, and one day, being at Beverley, called on a relation.
He did not dare to stay with him, but leaving behind his
horses and servant proceeded to the house of a friend at some
distance. He had scarcely got out of sight when local justices
of the peace presented themselves at the door, surrounded the
house with pursuivants, and instituted a careful search for him.
Disappointed in their object, they took possession of his horses,
and carried off his servant to prison. The man was closely
questioned about his master, as to what houses he frequented,
for he was related to many of the leading gentry of the county,
and where he had then gone. Whilst these things were
happening to Mr. Lacy at Beverley, his devoted wife, weighed
down with suffering, became dangerously ill. In this state,
and confined to her bed, she was discovered and reported to a
magistrate, who cited her to appear before him. This adulter-
ous wretch, without any regard for her sex or infirmity, desired
" to obtain custody of the pious lady, and would have effected
his purpose had not God intervened by releasing her from her
earthly troubles and taking her to Himself.

Upon the death of his wife, though advanced in years,
Mr. Lacy resolved to devote the remainder of his life entirely
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to religion. With this intention he went to Rheims, and
obtained admittance at the English college, lately transferred
from Douay, June 22, 1580. There this venerable, grey-
headed man commenced to study theology, attended the
schools with the young divines, took down the dictates of the
masters, and imbibed learning with youthful ardour, himself the
while, in his old age, setting the young students such an
example of humility and virtue as to be really giving more
than he was receiving. On Sept. 23, in the same year, he was
sent to Pont-a-Mousson in Lorraine to pursue his studies, and
thence went on a pilgrimage to the holy places at Rome.
There he obtained a dispensation, for otherwise, having been
married twice, once to a widow, he could not have been
ordained, and, having made the spiritual exercises in the
English college, he received all his orders, and shortly after
returned to England to cultivate the vineyard of the Lord in
his native county. He did, indeed, work strenuously and with
much fruit for over a year, and in this short time gained many
souls to Christ and His Church. His apprehension took place
in the following manner. He had gone on July 22, 1582,
along with some other priests, to York Castle, as was his
custom, to visit and console those imprisoned for conscience.
Amongst these priests was blessed William Hart, who was
shortly afterwards martyred at York, March 15, 1583. Ithad
been arranged that in the early hours of the morning, before
break of day, a venerable confessor, named Thomas Bell, should
sing Mass with solemn rite in the cell of one of the prisoners.
This holy confessor had been in prison many years, and had
been subjected to most atrocious cruelties. He must not be
confused, as he too frequently has been, with his namesake, the
apostate, who only came to England from Rome in this very
year, 1582. Many of the prisoners had secretly assembled
to hear this Mass, and one of them, whose quarters were in a
distant part of the castle, hurried off towards the close of the
ceremony. It was still dark, and the good man, being but
imperfectly acquainted with the intricacies of the prison,
stumbled over some obstacle, and made such a noise that he
roused the warders, who came rushing to the spot under the
belief that one of the prisoners was trying to escape. Mean-
while the Mass was finished, the lights extinguished, and most
of the priests, retiring into a dark part of the chamber, waited
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with anxiety the result of the alarm. But Fr. Lacy, thinking
that he had a better chance of escape at the beginning of the
confusion than if he waited till it was over, slipped out of the
castle, and was seized under its very walls, with a number of
other Catholics who had attended the Mass, The priests and
other prisoners who had remained behind all got off to their
cells, with the exception of Fr. Bell, who escaped from the
castle. Upon the discovery of his flight the authorities were
so keen about his capture that they had all the gates of the
city closed, and made diligent search for him. Notwithstand-
ing he found many Catholics ready to assist him, and even-
tually was let down from the walls like the Apostle St. Paul,
and so evaded the hands of the persecutors for this time.
Later on he fled to Lancashire, whete he was reported to be
living by a spy in 1586. There the house in which he was
staying was searched one night by a party numbering about
fifty. Bell sprang out of bed and fled with bare feet and little
on him during a most severe frost. In his flight not only were
the soles of his feet cut, but his flesh was so terribly lacerated
that he was unable to stand for two months. But to return to
Fr. Lacy. When he saw that escape was impossible he threw
_away his pouch containing his ordination papers. It was found
on the following day, and was made the ground for dealing
with him summarily. Upon his arrest he spent the remainder
of that night with the governor of the prison. In the morning
he was taken before the lord inayor and Cheek, a notorious
member of the council of the north. After a close examination
he was sent back to the castle, and loaded with heavy chains,
which he devoutly kissed when brought to him by the gaolers
Thus manacled he was shortly after dragged with much indignity
to inspire terror amongst others, before the archbishop at his
palace at Thorpe, a distance of about two miles. What passed
between the blessed martyr and the arch-persecutor was kept
very secret, and after the interview the prisoner was consigned
'to an underground dungeon, where no one could communicate
with him. Nevertheless, in spite of the darkness, he managed
I to write and send a letter to a certain gentleman, whom he had
theard was in imminent danger of falling away, adducing argu-
rments from holy scripture and the fathers sufficient to dispel
'the doubts of any one caring at all for his salvation. Notwith-
‘standing, to the great sorrow of the martyr and all Catholics,



92 BIBLIOGRAPHICAL DICTIONARY I:LAC.

the man sold his faith and conformed to the Establishment.
During his confinement the martyr was summoned frequently
before the council, and first questioned as to certain pretended
conspiracies against the queen and the realm. Of these he
disavowed any knowledge, either before hLe left the country or
after his return. He was then asked if he was a priest, which
he resolutely averred, apparently to the astonishment of the
examiners, who inquired how that could be, as he had been
married twice. The martyr explained that this impediment
had been removed by a dispensation from his holiness, Then
in anger the presiding councillor ordered him back to prison,
saying that it was no use examining him further, for he had
said enough to prove how much he had wronged her Majesty.
On the following Aug. 11th he was brought to the bar at
the York Assizes, and arraigned for having taken holy orders
at Rome. His ordination papers, found in his pouch, were
produced, as likewise a little box containing some articles
supposed to be indulgenced, which the martyr acknowledged
to be his. The judge then asked him why he left his native
land and betook himself to foreign parts. Fr. Lacy answered
that he had forsaken his country because his country had for-
saken him ; he had gone abroad that he might worship God
properly. Being asked further why he had brought his ordina-
tion papers back with him, he said that it was to prevent any
doubt as to his having been lawfully ordained. Finally, the
fatal question was put to him, what he thought about the
primacy of the Queen, and did he acknowledge her to be the
supreme head of the Church? He replied: “ With regard to
this and everything else, I hold the same belief as the Catholic
Church of God and all goed men.” Upon this the judge
instructed the jury to bring in their verdict of “guilty,” and
condemned him to death. Upon hearing the sentence, the
blessed martyr, with undisturbed countenance and courage
unshaken, exclaimed : “ God be for ever blessed. I am old,
and I could not expect to live much longer. This will be
nothing else than to pay the debt of nature a little before the
time. I rejoice, therefore, at the things which have been said.
We shall go into the house of the Lord, and so shall be with
the Lord for ever.” He said much more to the same effect.
On the day appointed for his execution, the venerable old
man was stretched upon a wicker hurdle with another priest,
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blessed Richard Kirkman, and both securely bound with ropes.
Thus, side by side, the two martyrs were drawn from the
prison to the place of execution. On the way, they heard
each other’s confessions, notwithstanding the jolting of the
hurdle, and in spite of the clatter of the ministers, who sought
to interrupt this last sacred office. When they arrived at the
scaffold, Fr. Lacy, after preparing himself by prayer for the
coming strife, ascended the ladder and began to address the
people, as was customary with those about to be put to death,
and earnestly exhorted them to abjure their heresy. The
ministers, fearing from these words that he would follow up a
prayer that he had begun with an attack upon themselves,
urged the hangman to throw the blessed martyr off the ladder,
and so death put an end to his words at York, Aug. 22, 1582.

Bridgewater, Concertatio, ed. 1594, ff. 96 seg., 292, 407-8 ; Records of the

Eng. Caths., i. and ii. ; Dodd, Ch. Hist. i\.; Challoner, Mem., ed. 1741,
1. 110 ; Jessopp, One Generation of a Norfolk House, p. 226.

Laing, Francis Henry, D.D., born in London, April 9,
1816, graduated B.A. at Queen’s College, Cambridge, in 1843,
and was curate of Tewkesbury till his reception into the Church
in 1846. On May 5, 1849, he was admitted into the Jesuit
novitiate at Hodder, commenced philosophy at the Seminary
in 1851, and from 1852 to 1855 went through a course of
theology at St. Beuno’s College, St. Asaph. In the latter
year he received priest’s orders, and commenced his missionary
career at Rhyl. In 18356 he was stationed at Lowe House,
St. Helen’s, Lancashire, whence he went for his tertianship to
Fourvieres (in domo B.M.V. Fori-Veteris in prov. Lugdun.),
and then returned to Stonyhurst College. In 1858 he was
placed at St. Ignatius’, Preston, and in 1859 was recalled to
St. Beuno’s to teach Hebrew, in which office he continued till
1862,

In the latter year, owing to his eccentricity and peculiar
views, his connection with the Society ceased, and Cardinal
Wiseman gave him charge of the mission at North Hyde, near
Southall, W. There he remained until 1864, when he was
finally placed at Our Lady and St. Joseph’s, Hanwell, W.,
where he continued till his death, Dec. 17, 1889, aged 73.

In 1868 the Roman College conferred upon him the degree
of D.D., at the instance of the General of the Society of Jesus,
on account, it is said, of his having passed the examinations of
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the professed fathers, but more probably on account of other
theological examinations in view of his teaching at St.
Beuno’s.

No obituary notice having appeared in the papers at the
time of his death, a “ Scottish Recusant ” paid him the follow-
ing tribute of praise and admiration in the columns of the
Tablet of Jan. 11, 18g0: “Laing was a man of profound
learning and many attainments. His thought was deep and
strong, at times altogether outstripping his powers of expres-
sion ; and the great value of his writings to the Catholic cause
in England is perhaps lessened by the peculiarities of a some-
what involved and over-vehement style. Still the fact remains,
that, amidst the prevailing timidity and ‘trimming’ of so
many, he was the most conspicuous and intrepid of the
unbending champions of the Church’s rights. His courage was
great, his patience indomitable. Sneered at, boycotted, and
ignored by those who should have been the first to second him,
he kept a firm grip upon the sword of truth, and died in
harness. With no uncertain sound he denounced the adoption
by Catholics of the political heresies of the age. He declared
that they should be distinct and different from the Protestant
world around them ; that their politics should be Catholic,
their social life Catholic, their journalism Catholic. To those
who, faithful to the memory of the great Pontiff, Pius IX,
strive to make the °Syllabus’ their rule of conduct and
opinion, his loss will hardly be replaced by any living English
Catholic writer. All praise and honour that a Catholic can
give him is summed up in saying that—what Venillor was to
France, what Sarday Sylvany is to Spain, Francis Henry
Laing, though not their equal in genius, was to England.”

Apart from this extravagant outpouring of a disconsolate
disciple, Laing, though undoubtedly a clever and brilliant
writer, was deficient in the power of “making himself all things
to all men,” and was generally regarded as extremely eccentric.

His brother, the Rev. William Laing, an Anglican clergy-
man retired from duty, was received into the Church five days
before his death, the result of convictions which had been
developing in him, more especially during the preceding five
months, but which had really their origin in his adhesion to
the Tractarian Movement of more than forty years earlier. He
died at Exmouth in Oct. 1889, aged 79.
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Browne, Tract. Movement, ed. 1861, p. 130 ; Graduati Cantab. ed. 1373,
p- 240 ; Gorman, Converts to Rome, 1885, p. 43 ; Tablet, Ixxiv. 1032, Ixxv. 62 ;
Cath. Directories ; Notes from St. Beuno's Reg. MS.; Wkly. Reg., Ixxx. 535.

1. Letter to the Archbishop of Canterbury. Lond. 13848, 8vo.

2. Catholic the same in meaning as sovereign, in which the
genuine nature of Catholicity is relieved from the false notions
with which the Protestant usurpation of the word has embar-
rassed it. Lond. (Derby pr.), Richardson, 1848, 16mo.

3. An Attempt to assign the square roots of negative powers;
or, What is ,/—/? Lond. 1863, 8vo, considered clever.

4. On Bishop Colenso’s Objections tothe veracity of Holy Writ.
Lond. 1863, 8vo.

5. A reassuring thought at the Ape’s encroachment on our
likeness. Darwinism brought to book. [Lond. 1863, 8vo.

6. The Knight of the Faith. Lond. 1857, &c., 8vo, continued for some
years.

7. Rationale of the Mass. Lond. 1867, 8vo.

8. A Challenge. Lond. 1867, 8vo.

9. Catholic not Roman Catholic. Lond. 1868, 8vo.

10. The Blessed Virgin’s Root traced in the Tribe of Ephraim.
Lond., Washbourne, 1871, 8vo, a volume of considerable size.

11. Whence does the Monarch get his right to Rule? Lond. 1872,
8vo, which displays his strong monarchical sympathies.

12. Descriptive Guide to the Mass, considered . . . . as being
the priestly act of offering up Christ’s Body. Lond. 1873, 8vo, from
his “Knight of the Faith,” No. 3.

13. Protestantism against the Natural Moral Law. Lond. 1873,
8vo.

14. Lord Bacon’s Philosophy examined. Lond. 1877, 8vo, a strong
attack on Baconism.

15. The Shortcomings of the English Catholic Press. By F. H.
Laing, D.D. Political Chastity the Fundamental Principle of"
Catholic Politics. Lond., Burns & Oates, 1879, 8vo, pp. 49.

He was a strong advocate of the policy of Catholic non-attachment to
either the Conservative or Liberal party. In this he was warmly supported by
his friend and fellow religious politician, Fr. A. Christie, S.]J. ; both thought
it sinful to read the Z7mes /

16. A Plea for Tyranny. Lond. 1882, 8vo.

17. The Catholic Freethinker’s Fly-Sheet. Edited by Dr. Laing,
&c. Lond., R. Washbourne, 1883, &c., 4to, No. 1, ¢ English Catholic Poli-
tics,” pp. 6 ; “ Mr. Bradlaugh, the model Protestant. By a Catholic Free-
thinker,” 2nd edit. (1883), &c. “The Catholic Freethinker. The only pub-
lication in which Catholic interests are maintained frankly on their natural
basis of Ckrisitan Right, instead of the usually adopted one of Atheistic suf-
ferance :—What Sort of Intolerance is Righteous ? answered from the prin-

* ciple that ¢ Negation has'no Rights’ By Rev. F. H. Laing, D.D.” Lond,,
R. Washbourne, 1886, 8vo, pp. 64.

18. Authority and Obedience (by J. A. J. Johnstone) . ... Re-

vised by the Rev. F. H. Laing, D.D. Lond., 1883, 8vo.
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19. The Two Evolutions; the Real and the Mock. Lond., Elliot
Stock, 1888, 8vo, pp. 48.

20. Literary Contributions, &c., amongst which may be noted—Zamp,
1860, i. 284 ; Tablet, very frequently ; Readings, 70. xxxi. 341 ; Lecture, Z&.
xxxiil. 545 ; Academia lecture, Wkly. Reg. Ixxiil. 647.

Lake, James Lewis, O.P., was professed at the Dominican
Convent at Bornhem, Sept. 14, 1736. Thence he proceeded
to the college of his order at Louvain, was ordained priest in
Aug. 1738, and successively held the chairs of philosophy,
theology, and scripture. Shortly before his death he was re-
called to Bornhem to teach, and was also appointed procurator,
March 28, but died on the following Oct. 21, 1748, aged 39.

Palmer, Obit. Notices, O.P.

1. Theses Theologicee de Actibus humanis et legibus, cum
appendice ad tres mundi setates historice ac chronologicé deduc-
tas. Lovanii, 1746, 8vo, pp. 24.

2. Theses Theologice de jure et justicia, cum appendice ad
quartam mundi setatem historice ac chronolcgice deductam.
Lovanii, 1747, 8vo, pp. 24.

Laken, Thomas, priest, born in Ireland in 1791, spent his
childhood in Dublin till 1804, when he was sent to Sedgley
Park School, in Staffordshire. There he made considerable
progress in Latin, Greek, and French, and developed a taste
for drawing. In Jan. 1810, having decided to embrace the
ecclesiastical state, he was admitted into Oscott College.
There he distinguished himself in all his studies, and acquired
such reputation by his discourses, called prones, during his
course of divinity, that one of them, delivered before the whole
college in 18135, was published at the unanimous request of
superiors and students. During this time he taught classics
in the college, and was considered an excellent master. He
received the subdiaconate from Bishop Milner, March 30, 1816,
the diaconate in the following year, and was ordained priest,
Oct. 8, 1817, in the chapel of the Benedictine nuns at Cavers-
wall Castle.

After his ordination he went to reside with the Rev. Fris.
Martyn at Bloxwich, and thence attended to the mission and
said Mass at Stourbridge, in Worcestershire, on Sundays and
holidays. But in Jan. 1819, he removed to Sedgley Park to
teach Latin and Greek, with the duty of attending to the
mission at Moseley on Sundays and holidays, of which he was
appointed pastor in succession to the Rev. Wm. Wareing.
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After some years, Mr. Laken became subject to fits of an
hysterical and epileptic character which eventually necessitated
his leaving the Park, and in 1827 he was appointed to the
mission of Glossop, in Derbyshire. The continued decline of
his health, however, obliged him after a few months to withdraw
to London, at the end of June, 1828. For a short time he
lived at Baddesley Green, but finally died in the Island of
Guernsey, Sept. 22, 1832, aged 41.

Mr. Laken was an excellent classical scholar, an acute
reasoner, and a deep student in both moral and dogmatical
theology.

Husenbeth, Memoirs of Parkers, MS., ii.; Cath. Mag., ii. 778 ; Oscotian,
vii. N.S.

1. An Address to Young People ; By an Ecclesiastical Student ;
delivered at St. Mary’s College, Oscott, 1815. Wolverhampton, 1815,
8vo.

This was the prone delivered at Oscott ; it was considered admirably cal-
culated to benefit students upon leaving college.

2. A Sermon preached at St. Peter’s Chapel, Cobridge, on
Monday Evening, Nov. 10, 1817. By the Rev. T, Laken. Pub-
lished for the use of the Chapel. Wolverhampton, 1817, 8vo.

3. He had a taste for poetry, and wrote some greatly admired pieces. Most
of these were circulated in MS., but some few were printed in Catholic
periodicals, amongst which were—* To the Memory of a School-fellow,” and
“The Distressed Monk’s Lamentation,” Orthodox Journal, Oct. and Nov.
1814. The former referred to the death of Richard Moylan at Oscott, Jan. 4,
1811. They are full of affection and tenderness, expressed in strains of
genuine poetry.

4. “Tribute to the Memory of the Rev. Thomas Laken,” verses composed
by Dr. Husenbeth, Catk. Mag. ii. 8or.

Lambert, Francis, apparently a schoolmaster in Norwich,
and a friend of William Eusebius Andrews, to whose periodical
press he was an occasional contributor, died at Norwich,
June 29, 1849, aged 57.

Dolman’s Mag., N.S. ii. 124 ; Orthodox Journal.

1. Treatise on Dancing. Norwich (1820?), 8vo.

2. Lessons for Children ; or, An easy Introduction to the French
Language. . . . . Second edition. Lond. (Norwich, pr. 1858), 12mo.

Lambert, Sir John, K.C.B., born Feb. 4, 1815, at
Bridzor, near Wardour Castle, Wilts, was the youngest and
surviving son of Daniel Lambert, surgeon, of Hindon, and
afterwards of Milford Hall, Salisbury, by Mary Muriel,
daughter of Charles Jinks, of Oundle, Northamptonshire. At
five years of age he was sent to the village school at Bridzor,

VOL. 1IV. G
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and at eight, in 1823, he began his course as the last boy at
St. Gregory’s College, Downside, and ended it, seven years
later, in the second place of all. In 1831 he was articled to
an eminent solicitor at Salisbury, with whom he remained
until 1837, when he commenced practice in that city on his
own account. He soon began to take an active part in local
affairs, and within a few years, having been elected a member,
succeeded in changing the political complexion of the town
council, which at that period was almost exclusively Conser-
vative, and securing for the Liberal party a majority in the
representation. In 1854 he was elected mayor, the first
instance of a Catholic filling such an office in a cathedral city
since the overthrow of the ancient faith. During his term of
office it fell to him to receive Bishop Hamilton upon his
entrance into the See of Salisbury.

Lambert took a leading part in the parliamentary elections
for the city and neighbourhood, and was chairman of several
committees. IHe was actively engaged in the Anti-Corn Law
agitation, and carried a resolution in favour of free trade at the
first large open-air meeting held in Wiltshire, at which Richard
Cobden and John Bright delivered addresses. In 1857 he
was offered by the Right Hon. Edw. Bouverie, President of
the Poor Law Board, an inspectorship under that department,
which he accepted, and the large district of the North and
East Ridings of Yorkshire, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire,
Derbyshire, and Nottinghamshire, containing sixty-two unions,
was placed under his charge. The cotton famine gave him
the opportunity to show his great administrative power, and
the way in which he mastered the intricacies of the very
difficult problem that the calamity presented to those who had
to carry out the poor laws won him his spurs, and the gratitude
of the then President of the Poor Law Board. At the com-
mencement of the famine in 1862 he assisted Mr. Manwaring
in the manufacturing districts, and in 1863 he was summoned
to London by the Right Hon. C. P. Villiers, to advise on the
measures necessary to meet the distress amongst the cotton
operatives due to the American Civil War. In conformity
with Lambert’s recommendations the Union Relief Acts and
Public Works (Manufacturing Districts) Act of that year were
prepared, and the Government authorised to advance nearly
two millions sterling for their execution, the administration of
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which was placed under Lambert’s superintendence. In the
same year, 1863, he undertook, at the instance of Lord
Palmerston, to arrange for the disbandment of a detachment of
armed Poles that had been landed at Woolwich during the
threatened Polish insurrection. On this occasion he received a
letter from the Treasury on behalf of the Government ex-
pressing their warm approval of the very satisfactory manner
in which he had performed the difficult task entrusted to him.

In 18635 he was called upon by the Cabinet of Earl Russell
to prepare the voluminous statistics for the Reform Bill of
1866. On the introduction of that measure, Mr. Gladstone
referred in particular to the labours of Mr. Lambert, who had
been the person principally concerned, and who had proved to
be in point of ability and assiduity everything that could be
desired.

Prior to the resignation of Lord Russell’s Administration in
1866, Lambert was offered the post of Financial Minister for
the Island of Jamaica by Mr. Cardwell, then Colonial Secre-
tary, which, however, he declined. In the autumn of the same
year he was requested to inquire into the dispensary system in
Ireland, and drew up a report on the subject, which was
afterwards circulated as a parliamentary paper, and formed the
basis of the poor law dispensary system now established in the
metropolis. The scheme for the Metropolitan Poor Act, which
equalised to a great extent the poor rate over the whole
metropolis, and has effected such extensive and beneficial
alterations in the administration of poor relief, was prepared by
him in the following year, at the request of Mr. Gathorne
Hardy, by whom he was afterwards appointed receiver of the
Common Poor Fund. In the same year he was consulted by
Mr. Disraeli in the preparation of the Representation of the
People Act, and was in almost daily attendance upon him
whilst the Bill was passing through committee. Immediately
after it had received the royal assent, in 1867, Mr. Disraeli
addressed to him a highly complimentary letter for the assist-
ance he had given to the writer in accomplishing what he
termed ‘“a great and happy event” At the same time he
received from the Earl of Derby, the Prime Minister, a letter
expressing his sense of the valuable services he had
rendered in passing the Bill through both Houses. It was
during 1867 that the Fenian attempt to blow up Clerkenwell
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Prison occurred, and on that occasion Mr. Disraeli deputed
Lambert to visit the spot, in conjunction with Mr. Montagu
Corry, afterwards Lord Rowton, and compensate the sufferers
by that explosion. He was afterwards attached to the
Parliamentary Boundary Commission of 1867, and the Com-
missioners in their report expressed the strong sense they
entertained of the assistance they had derived throughout the
whole of their inquiries from the remarkable accuracy and
knowledge of statistics of Mr. Lambert.

Lambert was next appointed a member of the Royal
Sanitary Commission, which sat for two or three years. In
1869 and 1870 he went to Ireland at the request of Mr.
Gladstone, then Prime Minister, to obtain information upon
several difficult points in connection with the Irish Church and
Land Bills, upon both of which subjects he prepared special
reports for the information of the cabinet. In the latter year,
on the recommendation of Mr. Gladstone, he received the
distinction of C.B. His appointment as the first permanent
secretary to the Local Government Board on the formation of
that department in 1871 was the direct outcome of his labours
on the Sanitary Commission, and it may be said that the
present high position which that office takes among adminis-
trative departments of the State is almost wholly due to the
keen insight which Lambert brought to bear on every question.
The scheme of dividing the country into urban and rural
districts, and the extension of the Government audit to the
accounts of all these authorities were due to his initiative, and
he was the first to draft a scheme of county government
reform. On this latter subject his views were at variance with
the scheme for the establishment of county boards which was
introduced by Mr. Sclater-Booth in 1878, but Mr. Ritchie’s
plan, which culminated in the Local Government Act of 1388,
was almost from beginning to end the work of Sir John
Lambert. In 1872, he undertook to prepare a digest of the
sanitary laws, which was issued in the following year. Con-
siderable misapprehension having arisen as to the number of
landowners in the United Kingdom in consequence of the
return in the census of 1861 having given the number as
under 30,000, a discussion on the question took place in the
House of Lords in 1872, which resulted in the Government
undertaking to obtain from the valuation lists of each parish
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the number of persons entered as owners, together with the
extent of the land held in each case and its annual value.
The superintendence and direction of this very extensive and
troublesome undertaking was assigned to Lambert, and the
returns in two large folio volumes, which were completed and
laid before Parliament in 1875, are now known as “The
Modern Domesday Book.”

In 1879, at the instance of Lord Beaconsfield, Lambert was
created K.C.B. In that year he prepared the report for the
Select Committee of the House of Lords on the conservancy of
rivers, and also reorganised the audit staff of the I.ocal Govern-
ment Board. During the whole of his official career, which
terminated in 1882, by his resignation of the secretaryship of
the Local Government Board, in consequence of failing health, a
large amount of official work connected with other departments
of the Government was undertaken by him at the request of
various members. In consideration a special pension was
granted to him on his retirement.

Notwithstanding his retirement, Lambert did not lead an
inactive life. On questions connected with the franchise he
was regarded as the most trustworthy adviser to whom the
Government could turn. Hence, in December, 1883, Mr.
Gladstone applied to him for assistance in dealing with the
proposed Reform and Redistribution of Seats Bills. Sir John
prepared an elaborate paper on the subject, and his suggestions
with respect to the franchise formed the basis of the Represen-
tation of the People Act of 1884. In the July following, he
was associated by the Cabinet with Sir Charles Dilke in
formulating a scheme for the redistribution of seats, which
occupied his exclusive attention until the month of October,
when it was brought to a completion, This is the celebrated
scheme which was surreptitiously obtained and published by
the Standard, and which created so much public interest and
commotion. In November following the scheme was discussed
and agreed to, with some amendments, at a conference of the
chiefs of both political parties, and Sir John was appointed
chairman of the three Boundary Commissions for England,
Scotland, and Ireland, entrusted with the difficult task of
determining, subject to parliamentary revision, the boundaries
of the several new electoral areas constituted by the scheme.
The work was commenced on Dec. 1, 1884, and the printed
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reports for the three countries, with their illustrative maps,
were in the hands of the members on the 2oth of February
following. The recommendations of the commissioners were
adopted in almost every case, and their work received the
warm commendations of both political parties. In the House
of Lords, the leader of the Opposition, Lord Salisbury, after
praising the extraordinary exertions of Sir John Lambert and
his fellow commissioners, said that the work had been done
more rapidly and at less cost than any previous work of a
similar character. The satisfactory manner in which Sir John
had conducted the proceedings of the commissions, and the
rapidity with which he had brought them to a close, together
with the assistance rendered by him in devising and preparing
the other measures referred to, induced Mr. Gladstone to
recommend that he should receive the high distinction of being
sworn in of the Privy Council.

After his retirement Sir John also acted on two depart-
mental commissions—one relating to the readjustment of the
salaries and duties of the clerical staff, and another to the
reorganisation of the medical and engineering officers of the
Local Government Board. In both instances the reports were
drawn up by Sir John, and the recommendations of the com-
missioners adopted by the President of the Board and the
Treasury.

Sir John was a sterling Radical at heart, but he was suffi-
ciently diplomatic as an official not to ally himself with either
party, but to serve the Minister who, for the moment, was his
departmental chief with the loyalty which is characteristic of
the English Civil Service. His sympathies were strongly de-
mocratic, and perhaps he dreamed that the time might come
when the condition of the people would be so far improved as
to render all poor laws unnecessary. Anyhow, he was deeply
interested in the extension of the suffrage, the improvement of
the sanitary condition of the dwellings of the people and of
our towns and villages, and also in the development of the
great system of public education inaugurated by Mr. Forster’s
Act of 1870. Sir John was looked upon by all with whom he
came in contact as the greatest authority on these questions.
Though by no means a rich man, he was a regular contributor
to the funds of many charitable institutions, and he was on
terms of intimate friendship with Cardinal Manning, whose
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gaunt, majestic figure was very frequently to be seen at the
offices of the Local Government Board. Hard work won for
Sir John the flattery of imitation by his staff, and it may be
truly said that by his example he created and trained an able
body of officials to carry on the good work he had himself
begun. As a lawyer he was most unerring in his instinct, and
his decisions on points of principle laid the foundation for most
of what is now the every-day work of the staff he led so long.
He had been a great sufferer from a disease in the upper jaw,
and it was from sheer exhaustion, brought about by the pain
caused by this terrible affliction, that he ultimately succumbed,
at his residence, Milford House, Clapham Common, Jan. 27,
1892, aged almost 77.

The long list of his works in the improvement of the social
and political order of the kingdom, and the eulogy in- the
obituary notices of the public journals of the “ wisdom,” the
“counsel ” exercised, and the “ much experience ” accumulated
by Sir John during his long and active life, show at once the
trust reposed in him by statesmen, and the multiplied proofs
that their trust was justified. The great influence that he
acquired in later years, and the general recognition of his prac-
tical wisdom, were due, not merely to the quickness of his
mind and the lucidity of his reasoning, but to the great
courtesy and moderation with which he would either enforce
his opinions or discuss the problems on which he was con-
sulted. The public never had a better or more useful servant.
The worst thing ever said of him was by a colleague who could
not emulate his gigantic industry—* If you were to cut Lambert
he would bleed ink!”

Like all sensible men, Sir John had his hobby to serve as a
relief to severer labours and a cheerer of his leisure hours.
Music—the music of the ritual above all—was his delight.
At the age of fourteen he was organist in his college chapel,
and throughout his life he often spoke and wrote upon church
music, his organ accompaniments to the Gradual and Vesperal
being still in use. Whether people share his musical views or not,
he undoubtedly gave an impetus to the practice of the music of
the ritual in this country, and has exercised an influence upon
it. In recognition of his services in promoting the plain chant,
he was elected a member of the Academy of St. Cecilia at
Rome, and was presented by Pius IX. with a large gold medal.
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Sir John was also very fond of flowers, and wrote and pub-
lished some papers on the cultivation of orchids.

In 1838 Sir John married Ellen Reade, youngest daughter
of Henry Shorto, of Salisbury, Esq., by whom he had three
sons and four daughters. His eldest son, Henry, died in con-
sequence of an ice accident at the age of fourteen, Feb. 2,
1856 ; Osmund (g.7.) died in 1893; Ellen, his second
daughter, Jan. 21, 1855, aged 14 ; and his wife, Lady Lam-
bert, Feb. 21, 1891, aged 80; and all were interred at St.
Osmund’s, Salisbury, of which Sir John was the founder, and
where he himself was laid to rest.

Str John's Correspondence with the Author, and his autobiograplhy, M.S. ;
Downside Review, v. 19, viil. 17, xi. 1, 81 ; Bridgett, Words Spoken; Man-
chester Guardian, Jan. 26, Jan. 29, and Feb. 2, 1892 ; Tablet, Ixxix. 231, 243 3
Wkly. Reg., Ixxxv. 184 ; Times, Jan. 29, 1892.

1. A Set of Quadrilles. Lond., Goulding & D’Almaine, 1832.

2. The Psalms usually sung at Vespers, arranged so as to
secure uniformity in the practice of Chanting. Lond., Simpkin &
Marshall, 1843.

3. “Come where the daylight westward far.’’ A serenade.
Lond., Chappell, 4to, the words by Edward Athy, a fellow-student at St.
Gregory’s College.

4. The True Mode of Accompanying the Gregorian Chant.
Lond. 1848.

5. An Essay on Harmonising and Singing the Ritual Song.
Lond., Burns, 1849, 8vo.

6. A Grammar of Ritual Music; or, a Method of teaching the
Church Song, suited for the Use of Missions, Schools, and Church
Choirs. Edited by John Lambert. Lond., Burns, 1849, 16mo.

7. Vesper Psalter, with Organ Accompaniments, containing the.

Eight Psalm-Tones, &c. &c.; and the Office of Compline, the
Common Commentaries, and the Antiphons of the B. Virgin.
With a Preface on the True Method of Harmonising and Singing
the Ritual Song. By John Lambert. Lond., Burns, 1849, 16mo.
.. 8. The Vesper Psalter, containing the VIII. Psalm-Tones, with
their several endings ; the Vesper Psalms for Sundays and Fes-
tivals, and the Magnificat, pointed for chanting to each of the
above tones; followed by the order for the Vespers of Sunday,
the office of Compline, with the musical notation. The whole
accompanied with an English translation. Lond., Burns, 1849,
16mo ; edited with Rev. Hen. Formby, 1850, 18mo.

9. The Little Vesper Book; being an elementary introduction
to the Chanting of Vespers, for schools and congregations.
Lond., Burns, 1849, 16mo, Latin and English.

At this period Lambert was the principal exponent and champion in
England of the Mechlin system of plain chant, which he abandoned in his
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later years for the new theory expounded by Dom Pothier, of the Solesmes
Congreg., O.S.B. ”

10. Totum Antiphonarium Vesperale Organistrarum in eccle-
siis accommodatum, cujus ope cantus Vesperarum per totum
annum sono Organi comitari potest. Lond., Burns, 1849, 4to.

11. Hymnarium Vesperale, Hymnos Vesperales totius anni
complectens, ad usum Organistrarum accommodatum. Lond,
8vo, which not only were adopted in many churches in this country, but
found favour on the Continent, especially in Belgium.

12. Ordinarium Miss®e e Graduale Romano in usum Organis-
trarum adaptatum, Lond., Burns, 1851, 8vo.

13. Missa pro Defunctis e Graduale Romano, cum discantu pro
Organo. Lond., Burns, 8vo, edited in conjunction with Rev. Henry
Formby.

14. Officium Defunctorum usui Cantorum accommodatum.
Lond., 8vo, edited in conjunction with Rev. H. Formby.

15. First Series of Hymns and Songs for the use of Catholic
Schools and Families, &c. Lond., 1853, 32mo, 3 pts., edited in con-
junction with Rev. H. Formby, frequently repr.

16. Catholic Sacred Songs. Lond., 1853, 32mo, edited in conjunction
with Rev. H. Formby, as likewise several brief collections of hymns and
songs for children.

17. Benediction Book, containing Hymns and Litanies, and
other pieces. Lond., Burns, 18mo.

18. An Address at the opening of the Salisbury and Wilton
Exhibition of Juvenile Industry. Salisbury, Brown & Co., 1854, 8vo,
delivered during his mayoralty.

19. Te Deum. Lond., Burns, 1856, 18mo, Gregorian chant.

20. Duleis Jesu Memoria; a Medieval Sequence from the
Sarum Graduale, reduced to Modern Notation and Time ; with
an Accompaniment for Organ or Piano-forte. By John Lambert.
Lond., Addison & Hollis, 1856.

“ A beautiful and taking Gregorian hymn of the cast most pleasing to
modern ears. It harmonises also easily, as Mr. Lambert has shown in his
judicious accompaniment. He has printed both Latin and English of St.
Bernard’s exquisite hymn.”—Razmbler, vi. 474.

21. Music of the Middle Ages, especially in relation to its
Rhythm and Mode of Execution, with Illustrations. A Lecture
delivered before the Wilts Arch@eological Society. Devizes, H.
Bull, 1857, 8vo.

22. Modern Legislation as a Chapter in our History. A Lecture
delivered to the Members of the Salisbury Literary and Scien-
tific Institution. Lond., Eyre & Spottiswoode, 1865, 8vo.

23. “Report on the System of Medical Relief to the Outdoor Poor in
Ireland under the Dispensaries Act.” Lond., Pr. by Order of the House of
Commons, 1867.

24. Vagrancy Laws and Vagrants. A Lecture delivered to the
Members of the Salisbury Literary and Scientific Institution.
Salisbury, Brown & Co., 1868, 8vo.

25. “ A Digest of the Statutes relating to Urban Sanitary Authorities. The
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like relating to Rural Sanitary Authorities. Presented to both Houses of
Parliament by command of Her Majesty.” Lond., Eyre & Spottiswoode,
1873.

25. “Return of Owners of Land in England and Wales in 1873 (exclusive
of the Metropolis),” known as “ The Modern Domesday Book,” with intro-
ductory statement. Lond., Eyre & Spottiswoode, 1875, 2 vols. folio. Pre-
sented to both Houses of Parliament by command of Her Majesty.

The accuracy of this work in certain particulars was attacked in some
quarters ; but it was distinctly pointed out in the Introduction that the
returns were simply a compilation from the parish records which were the
only documents available for the purpose, and nobody ever ventured to assert
that these records were not faithfully transcribed in the Return. There was
no power, as there ought to have been, to require returns from the owners
themselves, or, as in the case of the Great Survey in the Conqueror’s time, to
send commissioners to make local inquiries. The proximate accuracy of
the New Domesday Book is now, however, so far acknowledged that it is
quoted as an authority even by those who at first attacked it.

26. “Report of the Boundary Commissioners for England and Wales,
1885.” Lond., Eyre & Spottiswoode, 1885. Presented to both Houses of
Parliament by command of Her Majesty.

There are numerous other parliamentary papers bearing the signature of
Sir John Lambert, and prepared by him, but the foregoing have been selected
from the more important ones. )

27. Contributions to periodical literature, &c. : “ On Conversions,” Tublet,
1845, vi. 661 ; “ On the Admission of Seculars into Chancels,” ix. 627, 643 ;
“ Music as a Part of Education,” x. 51 ; “The Old Farm House,” Downside
Review, 1887, vi.; *“Music and Musicians at Downside, 1823-1831,” vii. ;
““ Round about Downside—the Old House,” viii. ; “ Days o’ Lang Syne,” ix. ;
““Bishop Brown and Pope Gregory XVL1.,” 7. ; “ Parliamentary Franchises,
Past and Present,” Nineteentl Century, Dec. 1889 ; &c. &c.

28. Saint Osmund’s Church, Presbytery and Burial-ground,
Salisbury. Lond. 1881, 4to, pp. 10.

This interesting historical statement of the mission at Salisbury, including
financial accounts relative to the sale of the old chapel property, the build-
ing of the church, and the purchase of the presbytery and burial-ground,
was drawn up by Sir John Lambert at the request of the Hon. and Rt. Rev.
Dr. Clifford, Bp. of Clifton.

There were several old missions in the vicinity of Salisbury, but there is no
record of one in the city before the latter half of last century. At this period
some of the Arundell family resided in the Close, and their domestic chapel
was attended by the Catholics of the city. Their chaplains belonged to the
Society of Jesus, and as far as at present known were as follows : Fr. Jas.
Porter, some time after 1763, Fr. Rich. Haskey, Fr. Jno. Swarbreck, a/ias
Edisford, who was here in 1771, Fr. Edw. Church, and Fr. Rich. Murphy,
alias Turner, who came from Stella in 1774 to reside with the Hon. Everard
Arundell in the Close, and continued to serve the mission until his death,
May 14, 1794, aged 78, when he was buried on the east side of the cathedral
cloister.

Shortly after Fr. Turner’s death, two French emzgré priests settled in
Salisbury, resided together, and, whilst attending to the wants of the mission,
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partly maintained themselves by teaching French. Their names were Pere
Nicolas Bejin and Mons. Marest. After a few years the latter was given
charge of the mission at Wardour Castle. The Arundells had then left the
Close, and Mass was said in a room of an old house in Brown Street, but
the gth and 10th Lords Arundell continued to contribute £20 a year to the
mission. In 1811, certain premises, situate in St. Martin’s Street, formerly an
inn known as the “ World’s End,” were purchased for a chapel and priest’s
residence : /£600, half the amount of purchase-money, was provided by the
sale of an investient in the funds given as an endowment for the mission by
Lady Anastasia Mannock. This lady, born in 1749, second daughter of
Mark Browne, of Eastbourne, Esq., and widow of Sir Thomas Mannock, of
Giffard Hall, 8th baronet, died at Windsor in 1814. There is nothing to in-
dicate in what manner she became a benefactor to Salisbury. M. Bejin, the
priest in charge, was a remarkable man. He managed to attain an excellent
position in Salisbury, and was highly respected by the Anglican clergy. He
was in the habit of giving a Christmas party to his numerous friends, both
Protestant and Catholic, and Mrs. Davis, the wife of the vicar of St. Martin’s
parish, always undertook to arrange and superintend the preparation of the
supper for him on these occasions. He maintained himself chiefly by teach-
ing the French language, and succeeded in obtaining a considerable number
of pupils. Through his exertions, a small chapel was built upon the newly
acquired property, which continued to be used until 1848, when St. Osmund’s
Church was substituted for it. He continued to serve the mission till his
death, March 16, 1826, and was buried in the churchyard of St. Martin’s,
where a headstone erected on the south side of the church still preserves his
memory. Fr. John Holme, a/ias Howard, S.]., succeeded M. Bejin, but
died a few months later, July 8, 1826, when the Jesuit connection with the
mission ceased. On Oct. 31, 1826, the Rev. Maurice Connor took charge of
the mission and remained until 1831. In that year James Everard, Lord
Arundell, handed over a sum of £300, described as “a sum bequeathed for
the benefit of the Salisbury congregation.” The name of the testator is not
recorded, but there can be no doubt that it was that of some member of the
Arundell family, possibly Thomas, brother of Henry, 8th Lord Arundell, who
resided at the Close and died in 1781, for from the date of the payment of
this bequest the Arundells discontinued their annual support. M. Bejin in
1821 referred to an Hon. Mr. Arundell and the gth Lord as “principeaux
bienfaiteurs de l'etablissement de Salisbury.” In the spring of 1831, the
Rev. James Butterfield was appointed to the mission, but left in Aug. 1833,
when his place was filled by some other priest. Rev. Charles Cooke came
March 28, 1835, till July 1840, when the Rev. Thomas Lynch succeeded, and
during his time the new church was erected. In 1846 Sir John Lambert
called a meeting at his residence in Salisbury, at which the Vicar-Apostolic
of the Western District, Bishop Ullathorne, was present, and produced plans
and specifications for a new church which had been prepared for him by
Augustus Welby Pugin. The church was erected on a new site in Exeter
Street, and Sir John Lambert from the beginning undertook the whole of
the pecuniary responsibility, aided by such assistance as might be afforded
by subscriptions and collections. Altogether the site, church, presbytery,
and burial-ground cost £4039 16s. 24., of which sum Sir John paid out of his
own pocket £3367 125. 10d., the balance being provided by the sale of the
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old chapel property £292, and subscriptions £380 3s. 44. The church was
dedicated to St. Osmund, consecrated by Bp. Ullathorne Sept. 6, 1848, and
solemnly opened on the following day.

In 1868, mainly through the munificence of Elizabeth Lady Herbert of
Lea, a poor school was erected on land purchased by her near the church.

29. “Words Spoken at the Funeral of the Rt. Hon. Sir John Lambert,
K.C.B., at St. Osmund’s Church, Salisbury, by the Rev. T. E. Bridgett,
C.SS.R., February 2nd, 1892.” (Sherborne, Sawtell, 1892) 8vo, pp. 8.

This very beautiful panegyric—a model of its kind— was delivered by one
whom Sir John chose as his most intimate friend and confident.

30. Portrait, vignette, etching, Downside Review, xi., No. 1, 8vo.

Lambert, Osmund, solicitor, born at Milford Hall, Salis-
bury, Nov. 6, 1847, third son of Sir John Lambert, K.C.B.
(g.v.), was educated at the Benedictine College at Downside,
which he entered Sept. 5, 1859. In 1869 he accompanied
his father to Ireland, and assisted him in his inquiries relative
to the appropriation of the revenues of the Irish Anglican
Establishment. In 1873 he was admitted a solicitor, and
practised with Messrs. Witham and Roskell, in Gray’s Inn
Square, until his® death at his residence at Clapham, Surrey,
Nov. 26, 1893, aged 46.

In 1876 he married Mary Josephine Anne, elder daughter
of Thomas Segrave, Esq., barrister-at-law, of Dublin, by whom
he left two sons and two daughters. His widow died April 22,
1894.

Tablet, Ixxxil. 896 ; Downside Rev., v. 20 ; Wkly. Reg., vol. 89, p. 529.

1. Angling Literature in England, and description of fishing by
the ancients ; with a notice of some books on other piscatorial
subjects. Lond., Sampson Low, 1881, 8vo.

Lambton, Joseph, priest, venerable martyr, born in 1569,
was the second son of Thomas Lambton, of Malton-in-Rydall,
co. York, gent., by Katherine, daughter of Robert Birkhead, of
West Brandon, co. Durham, gent. His father was the third
son of John Lambton, of Lambton Hall, co. Durham, ancestor
of the Earls of Durham, and of his wife Agnes, daughter and
co-heiress of Roger Lumley, of Ludworth, uncle of Richard,
fourth Baron Lumley, grandson of Edward IV. At the age of
fifteen Joseph Lambton was admitted into the English College
at Rheims, and on Aug. 18, 1589, was sent to pursue his
studies in the English College at Rome, where he arrived on
the 22nd of the following month. Before he had completed
his full course of theology he was filled with such missionary
zeal that he begged permission to shorten his studies and to
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return to his native land. Accordingly he was ordained priest,
and left the College April 22, 1592.

About Midsummer the young missionary was met in
Newcastle-upon-Tyne by the town-clerk, Christopher Lewin,
who suspecting him to be a stranger and a priest, took occasion
to examine him. He was then placed in custody in Mr.
Anderson’s house, with another priest, Edward Waterson,
arrested about the same time. After the latter had been
re-examined by Toby Matthew, the Dean of Durham, the two
prisoners were committed to prison in the Newgate, the town
prison for felons, and there closely confined in separate cells
till the next assizes.

The Lord President of the North, the Earl of Huntingdon,
the Dean of Durham, besides the Mayor and Corporation, were
present at the assizes, and Clinch and Snagg were the judges.
The two priests were brought to the bar, and their indictment
read by the clerk of the court, to the effect that they, being
subjects of her Majesty and born in England, did depart the
realm, were ordained priests in the seminaries at Rome or
Rheims by authority of the Bishop of Rome, and so returned
and resided in England without conforming to the Established
Church, contrary to the statute of 27th Elizabeth. The trial
then proceeded, during which the Dean of Durham interro-
gated Mr. Lambton. The jury, as instructed, brought in their
verdict of guilty, and the two priests were condemned to death.
They were then offered a compromise, but the martyrs
answered that they did not doubt any point of their religion.
The sentence was pronounced on Thursday, and it was
expected that the execution would be on Saturday, but, in
order to avoid a crowd of people, it was decided that Mr.
Lambton should suffer alone on the following Monday, while
Mr. Waterson received a reprieve for the time being, in the
hope that his constancy might be broken down. Early on
Monday morning the sheriff came to the prison, placed Mr.
Lambton on a hurdle, and so dragged him to the place of
execution before sunrise. Kneeling upon the lowest step of
the ladder the venerable martyr made the sign of the Cross
upon it and devoutly kissed it. After some minutes spent in
prayer, he mounted, turned to the assembled people, and, after
some opposition, addressed them in terms declaring his inno-
cence and the cause for which he suffered. The rope was now
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adjusted, and he was turned off the ladder. Then the hang-
man, thinking he was dead, cut him down, but the martyr
began to revive. This man had been condemned for felony
at the same assizes, but had been granted a reprieve on
condition that he would perform the odious office of hangman
and butcher on this occasion. To save his life he had con-
sented, but now was seized with such horror that he absolutely
refused to execute the butchery, though he should forfeit his
reprieve. The sheriff was therefore obliged to seek another
executioner, whilst the martyr, with invincible patience and
courage, endured sufferings which shocked even the most
barbarous of the spectators. No butcher in the town could be
induced to undertake the ghastly office, but at length an old
Frenchman, practising as a surgeon in the neighbouring village
of Kenton, under pretence of studying anatomy, ripped the
martyr open and disembowelled him, thus releasing his soul.
Yepez, in his Historia, assigns the date of this martyrdom to
June 23; Dr. Worthington, in his Catalogus Martyrum, to
July 23; and the Cat. Mart. Coll. Angl. Duac. in the Exemplar
Literarum, 1617, p. 54, to July 27, 1593, which last is
followed by Challoner. Commenting upon Fr. Richard
Holtby’s MS., Fr. Morris says that the year is plainly
errcneous, and should be 1592. He also questions the day of
the month assigned by Challoner, for July 27, 1592, was a
Thursday, and in 1593 a Friday, whereas Fr. Holtby distinctly
says that the execution took place on a Monday. Mr. Rich.
Welford, in his recently published Municipal Accounts of New-
castle, places the charges for the execution under August 1592,
but in a private communication to the writer says that this is
incorrect and should be 1593, as the accounts date from
Michaelmas previous. On this assumption Dr. Worthington’s
date is correct, and the execution took place in the sight of
the martyr’s friends and relations, when he was but in his
twenty-fourth year, on Monday, July 23, 1593.

The following ghastly reckoning is extracted from the
Municipal Accounts published by Mr. Weldon: “Paid to a
Frenchman which did take forth the Seminary Priest’s bowels
after he was hanged, 20s.; for coals, which made the fire at
the execution of the Seminary Priest, 6., and for a wright’s
axe, which headed the Seminary, 4s. 64.=5s.; for a hand
axe and a cutting knife which did rip and quarter the Seminary
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Priest, 144. ; and for a horse which trailed him from off the
sledge to the gallows, 124.=2s. 2d.; for four iron stanchels,
with hooks on them, for the hanging of the Seminary’s four
quarters on the four gates, 3s. 84.; for one iron wedge for
tiving wood to make the fire on the moor, 184.; and for a
shovel to the fire, 2s.; to a mason for two days’ work, setting
the stanchels of the gates fast, 104. a day, 20d. ; for carrying
the four quarters of the Seminary Priest from gate to gate, and
other charges, 2s.; for fire and coals for melting the lead to
set the iron stanchels of the gate fast, 84.”

Fr. Holtby gives details of a wonderful vision which the
hangman declared he had witnessed in the venerable martyr’s
cell a night or two before his martyrdom. It is also stated
that the martyr’s uncle, John Lambton, who was an attendant
on Lord Lumley, lost his service because he spoke to him.

Morris, Troubles, Third Series; Challoner, Memwoirs,; Foley, Records S.J.
Vi. ; Doway Diaries,; Foster, Visit. of Yorks; Wilson, Eng. Martyrol. ;
Dodd, Ch. Hist. ii. ; Gillow, Church in Newcastle, p. 5, seq.

1. Portrait, a woodcut in the Weekly Orthodox Journal, July 13, 1833,
vol. i, is given professedly as a correct representation of the martyr just
before his execution.

Lampley, William, layman, venerable martyr, was a
glover by trade in Gloucester, and was arraigned at the
Sessions for persuading some of his kinsmen to become
Catholics. Only one witness appeared against him, a man
over head and ears in debt, who had basely obtained his wife’s
committal to prison for following the dictates of her conscience.
Judge Manwood, after passing sentence, offered him a pardon
if he would promise to go to the Protestant Church. Indeed,
the judge seemed so unwilling that the sentence should be
carried into effect, that he requested the martyr’s relatives and
friends to endeavour to persuade him to conform, and ordered
officers and preachers to try their influence upon him. Even
when persuasion had failed, and the time appointed for the
execution had arrived, they caused the passing-bell to be tolled
for him, thinking that the terror it would inspire would make
him acquiesce. Again and again, at the place of execution,
they made him the same offer, but all in vain. With fervent
constancy the venerable martyr yielded himself most willingly
to execution, which was carried out “ as butcherly and bloodily”
as any previous martyrdom, at Gloucester, in the course of the
year 1588.
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Oliver, Collections, p. 103 ; Morris, Troubles, Third Series; Challoner,
Memoirs, 1. ; Wilson, Eng. Martyrologe, ed. 1608 ; Dodd, Ch. Hist, ii.
172.

Lance, Abraham, captain, was the second son of Henry
Lance, of Abram Hall, in the parish of Wigan, co. Lancaster,
gent., by Constance, daughter and co-heiress of Thomas
Abraham, gent., of Abram or Abraham Hall, a moated brick
mansion existing in the time of Henry VI. The ancient
family of Abraham never lost the faith. The last represen-
tative, Thomas Abraham, was a recusant in 1599-1600, and
his daughters and co-heirs, Mary, wife of Philip Langton, of
Low Hall, in Hindley, Esq., and Constance Lance, both appear
in the roll for 1613. The latter’s husband, Henry Lance, was
the fourth son of John Lance, of Penneare, gent., by Mary,
daughter of John Polewheele, of Polewheele, Esq., both families
of antiquity in the county of Cornwall. Henry Lance died in
1629, leaving several children, of whom Susan Lance, gentle-
woman, of Abram Hall, was a recusant in 1635—6.

Abraham Lance was also a staunch recusant, and his name,
with that of his cousin Abraham Langton, appears in the
examinations sent to the Council, Nov. 28, 1625, by the
Bishop of Chester and two deputy-lieutenants of Lancashire,
respecting certain pretended treasonable meetings of recusants
in that county. An informer gave evidence that the two gen-
tlemen were present at a meeting of some of the leading
Catholics of the county, held at the house of Widow Knowles,
in Ashton, the day before Newton fair, July 30, 1623, at
which Sir Thomas Gerard is asserted to have made a treason-
able speech. In 1626 Abraham Lance, of Abraham, gent.,
and Emma his wife, are found in the recusant rolls. The
family in Lancashire was ruined and came to an untimely end
through the Civil Wars, during which Captains Abraham and
Robert Lance were slain in the service of their Sovereign at
Rowton, in Cheshire, in 1645, and their eldest brother, Capt.
John Lance, lost his life at Islip, Oxfordshire, in the same
cause, in 1644 or 1645. One of the brothers was taken pri-
soner, with Capt. Leyburne and other Catholic officers attached
to the Earl of Newcastle’s army, March 6, 1643.

Castlemain, Cath. Apol.; Gillow, Lanc. Recusants, MS.; Dodd, Ch. Hist.
Wi, ; Harl. Soc. Visit. of Cornwall; Hall, Memorials of the Civil War,
Record Soc., xix.

Lander, or Lauder, Anne, confessor, daughter of Robert
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Constable, of Easington, in Holderness, gent. (younger son of
Sir John Constable, of Burton Constable, Knt.), and his wife
Jane, daughter of Edmund Frodingham, of South Frodingham,
in Holderness, co. York, was the wife of John ILander, or
Lauder, of Naburn, an attorney practising in York. When the
Earl of Huntingdon, Lord President of the North, commis-
sioned the Lord Mayor and Aldermen of York to arraign and
condemn all recusants, Mrs. Lander was apprehended in one of
those cruel searches which were made to terrify Catholics into
submission to the new religion. She was consigned, with other
married ladies, to the Ousebridge Kidcote, and when brought
before the Lord Mayor, about Nov. 1576, absolutely declined
to renounce her faith or recognise the newly established religion.
She was consequently remanded, to appear before the Lord
President and the Commissioners, at a sessions established for
dealing with Catholics. She wrote to his lordship respectfully
begging to be represented by counsel, but received the reply
that there was no law for Catholics. At the sessions her
husband stood up and courageously maintained the right of
his wife and the other ladies to be defended. The Lord Pre-
sident, astonished at his boldness, granted them law, and asked
whom they would choose for counsel. They desired that a
barrister named Leonard Babthorpe, son of Sir Wm. Bab-
thorpe, of Babthorpe, and cousin to Mrs. Lander, should plead
their cause, and offered him his fees. The Lord President
then demanded of him if there was law for them, to which he
replied in the affirmative. His lordship reiterated there was
not, but the courageous counsel replied that he would prove
the right if permitted to speak. At length he obtained leave,
but no sooner had he commenced to plead than he was silenced
and committed prisoner to one of the sheriffs of York, and, at
the same time, Mr. Lander was placed in the custody of a pur-
suivant, his wife being given six weeks in which to consider
whether she would pay her fine or suffer the imprisonment
adjudged her. After great suffering in prison she was released
for a time, but was again apprehended about 1579, and com-
mitted to York Castle, where she did many charitable offices to
the other prisoners for religion, and encouraged their constancy
by the example of her holy life. Suddenly she was separated
from her husband and children, who were confined in the same
prison, and transferred to the custody of the covetous, cruel,
VOL. 1V. H
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and unmerciful keeper of Hull Castle, who had obtained a
horrible reputation for the way in which he used his Catholic
prisoners. Here she remained for five or six years, passed in
wonderful constancy, patience under her extreme affliction,
in works of mercy to the poor prisoners confined for conscience
sake, and in other virtues. At length a warrant came to convey
her to the Clink prison at London, where her husband was
confined. There she lingered for the remainder of her sorrow-
ful life in continence, till her death in the Clink in the year
1580.

Details of her sufferings and of her holy life and death have
been happily preserved, which give a vivid insight into the
dreadful means by which Protestantism was forced upon the
people of England.

Morris, Troubles, 3xrd Series ; Foley, Records S.J., iii.; Foster, Vistt. of
Yorks.

Lander, or Lauder, John, confessor, an attorney prac-
tising at Naburn and in York, was the husband of the lady
previously noticed. For the manly part he took in demanding
justice for his wife and her companions, he was committed to
the custody of a pursuivant. Subsequently he was induced
by threats to recall the defence of his wife, yet, notwith-
standing, was suddenly sent to London with the counsel, Mr.
Babthorpe, the former being committed to the Tower, and the
latter to the Counter. Shortly afterwards Mr. Lander was
brought to the Star Chamber, and severely rebuked for daring
to obtain counsel for his wife’s defence, The two gentlemen
were then sent back to York to be punished, Mr. Lander to be
set in the pillory, and Mr. Babthorpe to publicly recant on his
knees before the city council. Full of fears and shame for
the loss of his honest fame and reputation, he earnestly wrote
to his wife to yield a little in religion that he might escape
the odium of the pillory. But no, she persuaded him to be
true to the faith for the sake of Christ, and he patiently
suffered the punishment of the pillory, became a constant
Catholic, and so continued till his death. In 1588 his name
appears in a list of recusants who “ will not take the Queen’s
Part against the Pope’s Army, and yet have taken the Oath in
the Leete.” After suffering in the prisons at York, Hull, and
London for the space of twelve years, he died in the Clink,

Jan. 26, 1590-1.
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Morris, Troubles, 3rd Series; Foley, Records S.J.,1ii. ; Strype, Annals
iii., 260.

Lane, Henry Gregory, O.8S.B., born at Wardour, co.
Wilts, in 1818, was professed at St. Gregory’s Monastery,
Downside, in 1840, and ordained priest six years later, In
the following year, 1847, he was placed at St. Mary's, Liver-
pool, whence he removed to Bath in 18409, and in the same
year was recalled to St. Gregory’s to be prefect of studies.
From 1857—9 he served the mission at Wootton Wawen,
co. Warwick, 1859—64 at Stratford-on-Avon, 1864—5 at Old
Longworth and 1866 at Bartestree, both in Herefordshire, and
in the last year went to Mechlin to superintend the printing of
his new edition of the Breviarium, where he remained till his
death, Nov. 18, 1871, aged 53.

Snow, Bened. Necrology ; Downside Rev., iv. 216.

1. Breviarium Monasticum pro omnibus sub regula S.P.N.
Benedicti militantibus. Mechliniz, Dessain, 1860, 4 vols., 12mo ; 4.
1869 ; 5. 1871, 4to, 4 vols.

2. Missale Monasticum pro Ordine S. Benedicti. Mechliniz,
Dessain, 1862, 4to.

3. Horee Diurne Breviarii Monastici. Mechliniz, Dessain, 1865,
16mo.

Lane, Robert, priest, vide Bowes.

Lane, Thomas, layman, confessor of the faith, was com-
mitted for recusancy in or about 1579, and died within a
year’s imprisonment in the Ousebridge Kidcote, York.

Morris, Troubles, 3rd Series.

Langdale, Alban, D.D., Archdeacon of Chichester, a
native of Yorkshire, and probably a member of the family
seated at Houghton, was educated at St. John’s College,
Cambridge, and graduated B.A. in 1531—2. He was ad-
mitted fellow of his college on the foundation of Mr. Ashton,
March 26, 1534, and commenced M.A. in 1535. He was one
of the proctors of the University in 1539, and proceeded B.D.
in 1544. When the Royal Commissioners held their visita-
tion of the University in June, 1549, he defended on the
Catholic side at the disputations concerning transubstantiation.
In 1554 he commenced D.D., and was incorporated in that
degree on April 14 of the same year at Oxford, on the occa-
sion of his going there to dispute with Cranmer, Ridley, and
Latimer. On May 26 of that year he was made prebend of
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Ampleforth in the church of York, and on April 16, 1555, he
was installed Archdeacon of Chichester, being at that time
rector of Buxted, in Sussex. The deanery of Chichester
falling vacant by the death of Wm. Pye it was offered to Dr.
Langdale, who refused to accept it. He was zealous in his
efforts to curb the fanaticism of the so-called Reformers, and
is mentioned as taking part in the final examination of Richard
Woodman at St. Mary-Overy's church in Southwark, in the
presence of a large assembly, June 15, 1557. Anthony,
Viscount Montague, to whom he was chaplain, writing to the
Queen May 17, 1558, says that he had appointed Dr. Lang-
dale to preach in places not well affected to religion. On
Jan. 19, 1558-9, he was collated to the prebend of Alrewas
in the church of Lichfield, and in the following month was
admitted chancellor of that church.

When it was determined to change the religion of the
country, after the accession of Elizabeth, an ingenious ex-
pedient was devised in order to neutralise opposition. Five
bishops and three doctors, of whom Dr. Langdale was one,
were appointed March 31, 1559, to dispute at Westminster
with eight Reformed divines on certain controverted points.
But it was so arranged that the advantage should lie with the
Reformers, and upon remonstrance by the prelates the con-
ference was declared to be at an end. Two of the bishops
were at once committed to the Tower, and the other Catholic
disputants bound in their own recognisances to make their
appearance daily till judgment should be pronounced. Shortly
afterwards Dr. Langdale was presented with the oath of the
Queen’s spiritual supremacy, which he declined, and was in
consequence deprived of all his preferments. In a list of
recusants made in 1561 (P.R.0. Dom. Eliz., Addenda, xi. 4%),
he is described as ‘learned and very earnest in Papistry.”
He was ordered to remain with Lord Montague, or where his
lordship should appoint, and to appear before the Commis-
sioners within twelve days after monition given to the Viscount
or his officers. In a document written in or about 1560, for
the purpose of supplying the Holy See with information which
might be of service in the event of the Pope filling the vacant
Sees in England, Dr. Langdale, then a prisoner, is declared to
be worthy of promotion to the vacant See of Chichester. He
seems to have resided with Lord Montague till his death,

AR
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which probably took place at Cowdray, in Sussex. He was
still living in great esteem for his virtue and learning in 1584.

Cooper, Athene Cantal.i. ; Pitts, De Illus. Angl. Scrip., p. 784 ; Dodd,
Ch. Hist. i\. ; Lewis, Sanders Anglican Schism ; Brady, Epis. Succ., ii. ;
Maitland, Reformation,; Wood, Athene Oxon. . ; Strype, Life of Cranmer,
335, app. 183, 185 ; Strype, Annals, i. 87, 277 ; Lingard, Hist. of Eng.,
ed. 1849, vi. 15 ; Bp. Smith’s Life of Lady Montague, p. 12.

1. Catholica Confutatio Impise cuiusdam Determinationis D.
Nicolai Ridlei, eo tempore, sedem episcopalem apud Roffam
occupantis, post disputationem de Eucharistia, in Academia
Cantabrigiensi habitee, in tres libros divisa. Parisii, 1556, fol., ded.
to Anthony, Viscount Montague. The ‘‘privilegium regium ” of Henry II.
of France is dated March 7, 1553.

In this learned work the author unravelled the captious sophistries of
Ridley, who, aiter the disputation at Oxford in 1554, published “ A Brief
Declaration of the Lordes Supper,” 1555, 16mo.

Foxe, in his “ Acts and Monuments ” gives an unreliable version of this
disputation, held at Cambridge in June 1549, as also of his colloquy with
Richard Woodman, May 12, 1557.

2. “ A treatise to prove that attendance at the Protestant church was in
itself no sin, and therefore might be lawfully submitted to for the purpose of
avoiding a persecution so intolerable at present, and threatening to grow so
much more so.” 1580, MS,, attributed erroneously to Dr. Langdale.

Mr. Sheldon’s copy of this tract, which was circulated in MS. by Mr.
Clitheroe, a lawyer's clerk, is in the S.P.0. Dom. Eliz., vol. xliv., No. 69.
Previous to Dr. Allen’s visit to England in 1562-5, the majority of the laity
evaded the penalties for non-attendance at the Anglican service by making
periodical appearance, more or less under protest. In 1562, Dr. Thomas
Darbyshire, Dean of St. Paul’s, subsequently a Jesuit, went to Trent in order
to obtain an authoritative decision from the council on this question. A
committee of bishops and theologians was appointed to consider it, and
pronounced against the practice. The decision, however, was either not
widely made known or disregarded. In 1580, when the persecution was
becoming more intense, the question again arose, and the hard pressed
Catholics were not unwilling to believe the scholastic argument on the case
set forth in the tract circulated anonymously by Mr. Clitheroe. The ques-
tion was fully discussed in a synod of priests, convened by FF. Persons and
Campion, in July 1580, when the papal decision was promuigated anew. Fr,
Persons, therefore, wrote a refutation of the tract, * A Brief Discours con-
tayning certayne Reasons why Catholiques refuse to goe to Church,” Doway,
1580, 8vo, which bore the running title, “ A Treatise of Schisme,” and was
really printed in London by William Carter, for which he was executed in
1584. 1t was reprinted, Douay, 1601, 24mo. It was attacked by Wm. Fulke,
John Field, &c., but this part of the controversy will be more appropriately
placed under its author. Persons also wrote another refutation in Latin at
a later period, entitled “ De Sacris alienis non adeundis, Questiones duz,
ad usum, praximque Anglia, breviter explicate,” which was printed at St.
Omer, 1607, 12mo, after the question had been again raised by some of the
‘“ appellant ” priests, and the original decision confirmed by Paul V.’s brief
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dated Sept. 22, 1606. At the time of writing Fr. Persons did not know who
was the author of the tract ; he and Blackwell subsequently thought they
discovered it in the doctor’s library from marks he had left in the book
(Szmpson’s Campion, 131, 191) ; but, on the other hand, Dodd (Hist. of the
Cl.y 11, 141), citing a ““ Treatise against frequenting Protestant Churches,”
MS.,, 1584, says that Dr. Langdale has been confounded with Thomas Lang-
dale, probably second son of Thomas Langdale, of Houghton, by Ann,
daughter of Sir Peter Vavasour, of Spaldington, Kent. He became a Jesuit
in 1562, and for twenty years was held in esteem by his brethren. This
Langdale was penitentiary both at Rome and Loreto, and held other impor-
tant offices. Afterwards he came to the mission in England, and joined with
those who maintained that occasional conformity to the Established Church
was permissible, which ultimately ended in his becoming a Protestant. Now
Dr. Alban Langdale, Dodd says, never countenanced this practice, “though
some in those days quoted him falsely to that purpose.” Moreover, Fr.
Heywood, writing to Dr. Allan in 1583, says, “ Tho. Langdale, formerly of
our Society, and now, I believe, an apostate, gives us much trouble, and in
the county of York seduces crowds,” Law, Conflicts of Jesuits and Seculars.
For this subject, vide Butler, Hist. Mem., 3rd ed.,i. 312 ; Tierney’s Dodd,
iv. 74 ; Law, Vaux's Catechism.

Thos. Hyde, a learned divine, wrote a dissuasion against frequenting Pro-

testant churches, in 1579 (vide vol. iii. 527), and Ralph Buckland (vol. i. 332)
is credited with a similar production.

3. “Carmina diversa ; Tetrastichon,” at the end of John Seton’s Dialec-
tica, Lond., 1572, 8vo.

Langdale, Hon. Charles, born Sept. 19, 1787, was the
third son of Charles Philip, 16th Baron Stourton, by the Hon.
Mary ILangdale, second daughter and co-heiress of Marmaduke,
fifth and last Baron Langdale, of Holme, co. York. In Jan.
1799, he was sent to Oscott, a college established near Bir-
mingham by a number of Catholic gentlemen, including Lord
Stourton, and placed under the direction of the Rev. John
Bew, D.D,, late president of St. Gregory’s Seminary at Paris.
After remaining there five years and a half, he left the college
in Aug. 1804, and on the following Oct. 10 was admitted at
Stonyhurst College, where he finished his studies. In 1813,
in compliance with the testamentary injunction of Mr. Philip
Langdale, of Houghton Hall, Yorkshire, representative of the
senior branch of the family of the Barons ILangdale, he
assumed the name of Langdale. On Jan. 27, 1817, he
married Charlotte Mary, fifth daughter of Charles, 7th Lord
Clifford of Chudleigh, and his wife Eleanor Mary, danghter of
Henry, 8th Lord Arundell of Wardour, by whom he had two
daughters. She died March 31, 1819, and Mr. Langdale
married secondly, May 1, 1821, Mary, eldest daughter of

1)



LAN.] OF THE ENGLISH CATHOLICS. 119

Marmaduke William Haggerston Constable-Maxwell, Esq., of
Carlaverock Castle, Dumfries, and Everingham Park, co. York,
in the person of whose eldest son the ancient Scottish barony of
Herries of Terregles was restored in 1858. By this lady, who
died in 1841, Mr. Langdale had six sons and six daughters.

Throughout his career Mr. Langdale was in every way, in
his public as in his private capacity, a worthy representative of
Catholicism in England. There was no Catholic institution
in want of support that did not find in him a friend; no
Catholic interest which he was not ready to promote. In the
struggle for emancipation, and in defence of Catholic rights, he
was ever in the front ranks. Conciliatory, but determined, he
knew what was due to others and what was due to himself, or
to the cause which he had to defend.

From 1832 to 1835 Mr. Langdale sat in the first Reformed
Parliament as member for Beverley, having been returned at
the head of the poll in the Whig interest. Previous to the
Emancipation Act, Catholics could not sit in Parliament, but
afterwards, in priority to Mr. Langdale, the following gentle-
men were returned for English constituencies ;—The Earl of
Surrey for Horsham ; the Hon. H. V. Stafford Jerningham,
Pontefract, 1830; P. H. Howard, Carlisle, 1831 ; Sir Fris.
Vincent, Bart., St. Albans, 1831; the Hon. E. R. Petre,
Iichester (disfranchised), York City, 1832 ; Sir T. A. Clifford-
Constable, Hedon; Edw. Blount, Steyning; Robt. Throck-
morton, Berks, 1832. In 1837 Mr. Langdale was returned for
Knaresborough, but after a few years his parliamentary career
came to a close. He was always attentively listened to in the
House. Meanwhile Mr. Langdale became the acknowledged
leader in every public matter in which the interests of English
Catholicism was concerned, and even the most timid of
Catholics, in days which are now happily passed, had such
implicit reliance in his prudence and skill as never to be under
any apprehension that he would in any way compromise their
names. In 1838 he presided at the first meeting of the
Catholic Institute of Great Britain, a society which originated
with himself, and was mainly established for the diffusion of
Catholic literature, whereby the falsehood of the Protestant
charges made against the Catholic religion would be exposed,
and the real interests of Catholicity would be defended. He
was also foremost in allaying the tumult raised by the bigoted
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letter of Lord John Russell to the Bishop of Durham upon the
restoration of the Catholic hierarchy in 1850. On Nov. 22,
in that year, a county meeting, attended by 2000 persons, was
held at York, to protest against “Papal aggression.” On this
occasion Lord Fitzwilliam ridiculed the invocation of the
Blessed Virgin by the Pope, before appointing the English
hierarchy, and the characteristic resolution proposed by him
was seconded by Lord Harewood. The mover of the resolu-
tion challenged any gentleman on the hustings to stand forward
and say in words incapable of another interpretation that he
believed in the patronage of the Virgin and the Saints. In the
face of the angry and prejudiced multitude, Mr. Langdale rose
and tranquilly avowed his own confidence in the patronage
and protection of the Blessed Mother of God and of His
Saints. And then, after the cries of disapprobation had died
away, he turned to his challenger and asked him if he had
answered the question with sufficient distinctness, to which his
lordship replied, ““Certainly, quite plainly.” When Mr. Lang-
dale added, “If I am a Roman Catholic, I suppose you will
allow that I must practise the principles of the Roman
Catholic religion?” a loud cheer announced that the meeting
appreciated both his courage and his sincerity. Such was the
staunch and fearless character of this venerable man both in
public and private life. He was eminently foremost in the
foundation and extension of Catholic education throughout
England, and presided till his death over the Poor School
Committee, which he induced the bishops to form.

In his private as in his public life, Mr. Langdale was a
worthy representative of Catholicism in England. If he spent
his strength and activity in the toils which consumed so large
a part of his existence, it was at the foot of the altar, and in
the austere discipline of his own heart, that he prepared
himself for the mission to which that pure existence was
devoted. He was no idle talker, no busy philanthropist,
courting the public eye, and soliciting popular applause. His
first aim was to be acceptable to God, and every other motive
of action throughout his long career was subordinate to this.
Some years before his death he earnestly begged to be
admitted into the Society of Jesus, but yielded to earnest
solicitations and advice from the highest ecclesiastical quarters
to continue his valuable and necessary services in the Catholic
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cause, especially as chairman of the Poor School Committee.
Though living in the world, he lived in spirit the life of a
religious, and was accustomed in his annual retreat at the
Jesuit novitiate house, to renew his fervour in all practices
of piety, which he carried on in his own house after the model
of the exercises of the novitiate. Upon his death-bed his
prayer was granted ; he was formally admitted to the Society
as a temporal-coadjutor, Nov. 11, soon after pronounced the
simple vows of religion, and died a holy death a few days
later in his town house in Queen Street, Mayfair, Dec. 1, 1868,
aged 81.

In the sermon at Mr. Langdale’s funeral the Archbishop of
Westminster said : “ He has been the far-sighted and inflexible
defender of the religious character of education, and of the
strict denominational system. His character was singularly
masculine, outspoken, disinterested, and fearless, and at the
same time perfectly and spontaneously submissive to the
authority and direction of the Church, which to him was not a
society of men whose personal character, faults, and failings he
was free to criticise, but a divine institution, endowed with an
authority and a jurisdiction equally divine. His submission to
the Church had in it no tinge of subserviency or of weakness,
but was masculine and energetic, arising from the dictates of
his conscience and the light of faith. . . . . He was one of
those who held that true courage consisted in standing alone,
if need be, on the side of unpopular truth, in the face of
popular and dominant error, and that the reproach of cowardice
belongs to those who, when the Church has declared its mind,
make peace, by ingenious qualifications, with the popular
opinions of their contemporaries. Such was the ultramontanism
of Mr, Langdale, or, as we should rather say, such is the
character, without which no man has any claim to the name
of Catholic.”

Tablet, xxxiil. 147, 162, 183, 201, 269, 435, 439 ; Cath. Opin., iv. 196, 345»
362 ; Gallwey, A Discourse; Crosby, Gen. Polit. Refer. Book, 1838 ; Cath.
Mag., N.S., 1838, 192, 214, 426 ; Burke, Peerage and Extinct Peerage ;
Foley, Records S.J., vii. ; The Oscotian, N.S., ii. 198, iv. 2, vii. appx. 29.

1. Memoirs of Mrs. Fitzherbert; with an Account of her
Marriage with H.R.H. the Prince of Wales, afterwards King
George the Fourth. By the Hon. Charles Langdale. Lond., R.

Bentley, 1856, 8vo, pp. 202, with portr. of Mrs. Fitzherbert, ded. to his
nephew, Lord Stourton, Dec. 25, 1855.
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This is a disappointing book ; it is not, as its title would imply, a detailed
account of the most celebrated woman of the times. Indeed, it is not even
an interesting picture of a notable period, which might be looked for in the
life of one moving amongst those whose actions have become history. The
volume was elicited by an article in the Dubdlin Review for Oct. 1854, “On
the Memoirs of the Whig Party, by the late Lord Holland, edited by his
son, Henry Edward, Lord Holland.” His lordship made an ignorant and
flippant attack on the character of Mrs. Fitzherbert, which Mr. Langdale
tediously, yet conclusively, refutes. He proves the validity of the marriage
in the sight of God and by the judgment of the Church, as declared by the
Pope, and shows its nullity in the eye of English law. Whilst vindicating
the exemplary character of the lady, her virtues are placed in contrast with
the heartless libertinism, meanness, and unmanliness of the “first gentleman
of England.” Almost a third of the volume is taken up by a narrative left
by Lord Stourton ; the residue consists of letters from various personages,
of no great interest and of much repetition, and illustrations drawn from
debates in the House of Commons and the memoirs of R. Brinsley Sheridan
and Sir W. Wraxall.

2. “A Letter to the Hon. Charles Langdale, chairman of the Catholic
Poor School Committee. By Lord Edward Howard.” Lond., Dolman,
1855, sm. 8vo, pp. 23.

3- “ A Discourse Preached in the Chapel of Houghton at the Funeral of
the Hon. Charles Langdale, S.J. By Father Gallwey, S.J.” Lond., Burns,
Oates & Co., 1868, 8vo.

This affecting discourse draws an admirable picture of Mr. Langdale’s
hidden and domestic life, from which many a valuable lesson may be
learned.

4. It is probable that the mission at Sancton and Houghton, or at North
CIiff in the same parish, was regularly served from the commencement of
Elizabeth’s reign, for Ant. Langdale, Esq., of Houghton, was an exile on
account of his faith, and died at Rome, April 10, 1577. The names of the
earlier priests are not on record. In or about 1652 the Rev. John May came
to Houghton Hall, and though he usually resided there was always an itine-
rant missioner, and served the district formany miles around. He was born
in or about 1622, apparently in Yorkshire, and after passing through the
schools at St. Omer’s College, 1640-4, proceeded in the latter year to the
English College at Valladolid, where he studied for seven years, was ordained
priest, and thence came to the mission as stated. He was still at Houghton,
residing with Philip Langdale, Esq., in 1690, being at that time the oldest
missionary in Yorkshire. When hedied, or who was his immediate successor
does not appear. The next chaplain on record was Fr. Edw. Ant. Hatton,
O.P., who lived with Jordan Langdale, Esq., at Cliff, one of the residences
of the family in the Sancton and Houghton parish, 1730-9. In the latter
year he seems to have been succeeded by Fr. John Holme, a/Zas Howard,
S.J., who accompanied Jordan Langdale upon his removal to Houghton some
time before 1752. Probably he remained at Houghton till 1766, when Dom
Archibald Benedict Macdonald, O.S.B., succeeded. In 1770 Fr. Edw. Holme,
alias Howard, S.J., took the latter’s place, and was still here in 1780, but
seems to have left soon afterwards, his successor not being named. From
1787 till his death, Aug. 31, 1801, Dom Thos. Slater, O.S.B., was chaplain ;
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he commenced the registers Nov. 11, 1787. Dom Jno. Bede Rigby was here
1803-5, when the Benedictine connection with Houghton ceased, and the
mission was handed over to the seculars. The Rev. James Wrennall was
here for some years until 1827, when he was succeeded by Rev. Jno. Ball.
On Feb. 25, 1829, a new chapel adjoining the hall was opened, having been
erected by the Hon. Charles Langdale, and the Rev. Fris. Martyn preached
the dedication sermon. Mr. Ball left shortly afterwards, and was succeeded
by the following priests : Rev. John Glover till 1836 ; Rev. Hen. Newsham,
1836-8 ; Rev. Geo. Keasley, Dec. 1838—42 ; Rev. Jno. Glover again, 1842-60 ;
Very Rev. Robt. Canon Thompson, 1860-1 ; Rev. Lau. McGonnell, 1861-2 ;
and the Very Rev. Jas. Canon Wills, the present rector, who came in 1862.
From 1871-3 the Rev. Wm. Wills, D.D., assisted in the mission.

Langdale, Marmaduke, first baron, of Holme, born 1598,
was son of Peter Langdale, of Pighill, near Beverley, co. York,
by Anne, daughter of Michael Wharton, of Beverley Park, and
sister of Sir Michael Wharton, of the same place. His father,
Peter, was the second son of Anthony Langdale, of Houghton
Hall, who died at Rome, in 1577, an exile for his faith.
Though most of his relations were Catholics, it would appear
that Marmaduke’s father was a temporiser, and brought up his
son in, at any rate, nominal conformity with the Establishment,
and this in spite of the fact that the boy's uncle, Christopher
Wharton, was martyred at York, for being a priest, in 1600.
Nevertheless his education seems to have been carefully attended
to, and when he had attained manhood he “was esteemed,” says
Banks, “a serious and wise man, of most scholar-like accom-
plishments, and of good husbandry.” In 1627, Charles I
conferred upon him the honour of knighthood at Whitehall.
He married Lenox, daughter of Sir John Rhodes, of Barl-
borough, co. Derby, Knt., and by this lady he had surviving
issue two sons and three daughters—Marmaduke, his successor,
! Philip (probably the captain slain at Greek-hovel in Wales),
Lenox, wife of Cuth. Harrison, Esq., Mary, and Anne.

In 1639 Langdale opposed the levy of ship-money on
‘Yorkshire. “I hear,” writes Strafford, “my old friend Sir
\Marmaduke Langdale appears in the head of this business.”
‘Nevertheless, when the civil wars broke out, Langdale became
one of the king’s most distinguished adherents and generals.
In 1642, about the time that the king retired into Yorkshire,
Langdale, in September, was sent to persuade the Earl of
‘Newcastle to come to his assistance, and was one of the com-
‘mittee appointed to arrange the terms. Langdale, who was
“hen high sheriff of the county, exerted himself to the utmost
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in collecting aid, both in men and money for his royal master.
At the head of a corps raised by himself, consisting of three
companies of foot, and a troop of seventy horse, he encountered
and routed a considerable body of Scots at Corbridge, in
Northumberland, Feb. 19, 1644 ; and next, being commander-
in-chief of the troops sent by the king into Lincolnshire,
defeated the rebels under Colonel Rossiter at Melton Mowbray
on Feb. 25, 1645. Thence marching against Lord Fairfax,
and putting that general to the route, he relieved Pontefract
Castle on March 1, then beleagured by the northern insurgents.
Sir Marmaduke was in many engagements, notably at Naseby,
June 14, 16435, when he was in command of the left wing of
the royal army. In the following September he gallantly
fought against superior forces at Rowton Heath, near Chester,
but through want of support was driven into the city. Shortly
afterwards he was in the battle of Sherburn in Yorkshire,
Oct. 15, and marched with Lord Digby through Cumberland and
Westmoreland towards Dumfries in Scotland, but being de-
feated at Carlisle Sands, and his troops completely scattered,
he sailed over to the Isle of Man in a cock-boat, thence to
Ireland, and finally landed in France in May, 1646. Subse-
quently he returned to England, and visited the king while
under restraint at Hampton Court. Thence he journeyed to
Scotland to endeavour to obtain the assistance of the Scots,
and on his way through Yorkshire planned the capture of
Pontefract Castle. He was well received at Edinburgh, and
the promise of assistance 'he obtained inspirited the royalists
to renew the conflict. Nevertheless, Sir Marmaduke had con-
siderable difficulty in coming to terms with the Scotch, who
insisted that he and his English followers should take the
covenant and that papists should be excluded from the army,
to which he declined to accede. In accordance with his
arrangement with the Scots he surprised and seized Berwick,
April 28, 1648, and also planned the capture of the strong
castle of Carlisle by Sir Philip Musgrave. The Scottish army,
under the command of the Duke of Hamilton, then commenced!
the forward march, Sir Marmaduke, with the four thousand’
cavaliers who had ranged themselves under his banner, leading|
the way at the distance of a day’s march. At Preston they
came into collision with the parliamentary army under Cromwell,.
Aug. 17, 1648, and the whole brunt of the battle was borne:
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by Langdale and his cavaliers, who, indeed, would have
prevailed had the Scots given due support. The duke, how-
ever, had not heeded Langdale’s warnings, and failed to send
reinforcements, the consequence of which was a disastrous
defeat ; Langdale was taken prisoner, and sent to Nottingham
Castle, Aug. 23, but fortunately effected his escape in the
beginning of November and withdrew to Flanders. In June,
1649, Charles II. sent him to assist the Earl of Derby in the
defence of the Isle of Man, whence he soon returned to
Flanders.

Shortly after his arrival in Flanders, Sir Marmaduke was
reconciled to the Church, as noticed by John Austin in his
Christian Moderator in 1651. Like many of the English
exiles, he placed his sword at the disposal of the continental
sovereigns, and served with honour in several of the armies
then afoot. He first entered the Venetian service, and dis-
tinguished himself in the defence of Candia against the Turks.
When war broke out between the Dutch and the English
commonwealth, Langdale went to Holland, and made a pro-
posal for seizing Newcastle and Tynemouth with the aid of the
Dutch, offering them in return the right of selling the coal.
Though the royalists in the north of England desired his
presence to head a rising, he was, through some intrigue, not
employed by his majesty in the attempted insurrection of
1655, and complained of this neglect. He was concerned,
however, in the plot discovered in the spring of 1658. In
that year, on Feb. 4, Charles II. created him a peer at Bruges,
by the title of Baron Langdale of Holme, in Spaldingmore.
His estates, however, had been sequestrated under the Act
passed by the Rump, July 16, 1651, as well as those of his
son, and hence he was reduced to great poverty during his
stay in the Low Countries, It is said that his losses in the
king’s cause amounted to #£160,000. Shortly before the
Restoration he is reported to have retired to a monastery in
Germany to live with more frugality. In 1660 he returned to
England, and in April 1661, begged to be excused attendance
at the king’s coronation on the ground that he was too poor.
He, however, took his seat in Parliament as Baron Langdale,
' and then, retiring to Holme Hall, died immediately afterwards,
Aug. 5, 1661, aged 63.

The austerity of Langdale’s manner is spoken of by several
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writers. Lloyd describes him as a lean, mortified man, so that
his enemies called him the ghost, and with some reason, con-
sidering that he haunted them so much. Speaking of the awe
and fear with which his children regarded him, William
Blundell, the cavalier, says in his note-book : “ His eldest son,
being then a father of many children, did observe him (even
till my lord’s death) with a childish awe. And though this
son was a man of a high spirit, yet finding it to be, as he
thought, ungrateful to his father, he durst not give him nor
procure any one to give him notice in his last sickness of the
apparent signs of his death, so that my lord (who did not
expect death) died without the help of a priest. His son, who
lived in the house and durst scarce visit him in his sickness,
did not so much as adventure to pray by his bedside till my
lord was in his last pangs and not able to observe what he did.
One of the family told me this, that was present at his death.”
Notwithstanding this character, Lloyd adds that his gravity in
converse, integrity and generosity in his dealings, strictness in
his devotion, experience, moderation, and wariness in counsel,
and weight in debate, “very much endeared strangers to his
royal master’s cause, and to his own person, in all the countries
he travelled, as he did in many.” Clarendon likewise speaks
of him in the highest terms of commendation.

He was succeeded by his son and namesake, the second
baron, who was governor of Hull in the reign of James 1I.,
where, upon the landing of the Prince of Orange, he was
surprised and made prisoner by Colonel Copley. He married
Eliz., daughter of the Hon. Thomas Savage, of Beeston, co.
Chester, and niece of John, Earl Rivers, and dying in Feb.
1702—3, the title continued for three more generations, all of
the same name, of whom the fifth and last baron, Marmaduke
Langdale, died April5,1778. Mary, one of the daughters of the
last lord, became the wife of Charles Philip, 16th Lord Stourton,
and she alone of the co-heiresses having issue, the Langdale
estates ultimately became vested in the Stourton family.

Dodd, Ch. Hist. iii. 241; Burke, Extinct Peerage,; Foster, Visit. of
Yorks; Hooper, Impartial Hist. of the Rebellion; Austin, Christ. Moder.,
p. 26 ; Castlemaine, Reply to the Ans., p. 284 ; Gibson, Crosby Records, p.273.

1. The Brit. Mus. catalogue gives a long list of publications connected
with Baron Langdale: Impartial Relation of the late Fight at Preston,”
1648, 4to ; *“ The Resolution of Sir M. Langdale, concerning the relieving of
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the Officers and Soldiers blocked up in Colchester,” 1648, 4to ; “ His Decla~
ration,” 1648, 4to, &c. &c., and letters of his are to be found among the
Clarendon MSS., the Nicholas MSS., and in the correspondence of Prince
Rupert.

2. The chaplaincy at Holme Hall probably existed some time before the
Rev. Edw. Booth, a//as Barlow, came from Lisbon in 1670. He seems to
have removed to Park Hall, Lancashire, the seat of the Hoghtons, in 1672,
and his place was taken by a Jesuit, Fr. Lau. Ireland, who accompanied Lord
Langdale to his house in York in the following year, and died there a few
months later, June 30, 1673, aged 39. The next chaplain on record, Fr.
Gervase Pius Littleton, a/zas Westcote, O.P., was here from 1698 to 1712,
and'again from Nov. 1714 till his death, June 10, 1723, aged 75. He seems
to have been succeeded by a secular priest, Mr. Price, who was here when
Bp. Williams made his visitation in June, 1728. The date of his departure
or death does not appear, but the next chaplain recorded was Fr. Arth. Pacif.
Baker, O.S.F., who was probably here some years, and left in 1743. About
this time Dom Jos. Jas. Le Grand, O.S.B., came to Holme for a short time,
but the permanent chaplain was Dom John Fisher, O.S.B., who was appointed
in 1743, and remained until his retirement to his monastery at Dieulward in
17838. He commenced to keep a register in 1743. For some time, in and
about 1753, he also served the mission at Willitoft, a former seat of the
Vavasour family. During his incumbency a new chapel was opened at
Holme, May 10, 1766. Dom And. Bern. Ryding, O.S.B., succeeded from
1788 to 1792 ; Dom Jno. Jos. Storey, 1792-5; Dom Thos. Jerome Marsh,.
1795 till death, Feb. 16, 1798, aged 54 ; Dom Edw. Alban Clarkson, 1798
till death, July 16, 1815, aged 48 ; Dom Jno. Turner, 1815-43 ; Dom. Edw.
Ans. Glassbrook, 1843-6 ; Dom Thos. Ans. Cockshoot, 1846-58 ; Dom Nic.
Maurus Hodgson, 1858, after which the mission was supplied by other Bene-
dictines, including Dom Thos. Maurus Shepherd, till the appointment of
Dom Chas. Stanislaus Holohan, in 1862. The latter left in 1864, and the
mission has since been served by the secular clergy—Rev. Gerald Shanahan,
1864-76 ; Rev. Jas. Dolan, 1876-81; Rev. Jno. Doud, 1881—4 ; and Rev.
Stephen O’Hare, 1884 to the present time.

The Canonesses of the Holy Sepulchre, expelled from Lidge in 1794, were
invited by Lord Stourton to take up their residence at Holme Hall, and
remained till 1796, when they removed to Dean House, near Salisbury.
They brought with them their chaplain, Fr. Fris. Clifton, a/Zas Fanning, S.].,.
who acted as missioner, Fr. Storey being very infirm, until the appointment
of Fr. Marsh.

Langhorne, Richard, layman, venerable martyr, was a
younger son of William Langhorne, Esq., barrister, of the
Inner Temple, by Letitia, daughter of Eustace Needham, of
Wymondley, co. Herts, Esq. The family was originally seated
at The Fryers, in Bedford, and several members were eminent

_ barristers in the Inner and Middle Temples. Benjamin Lang-
horne, of Bedford, matriculated at the University of Douay
' in 1602, and was ordained priest at Douay College in 1603.
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In that year he left the College for England, but, instead,
proceeded to Rome, where he was received into the English
hospice on Oct. 22, and on Nov. 5, 1604, was admitted to the
College gown, being about thirty-eight years of age. There he
gave great edification by his holy life, and departed for the
English mission April 22, 1606.

Richard Langhorne was admitted a member of the Inner
Temple in Nov. 1646, and was called to the bar in 1654.
The fact of his wife being a Protestant enabled him the more
easily to keep his own religion from being generally known,
and hence to practise his profession, which he did with consi-
derable success. Nevertheless, the fanatics suspected that he
was a Catholic, for when the great fire of London occurred in
1666, and a plot was hatched to make the Catholics suffer for
it, Langhorne was accused before the Parliamentary Committee
of having used threatening words respecting the pretended con-
spiracy. However, on this occasion he escaped the murderous
intent of the zealots. But the political intrigues of Shaftesbury
were more insidious, and the Popish Plot proved fatal to the
good barrister. The great esteem in which he was held by
Catholics was now a matter of notoriety, for his practice
amongst them was very extensive, and, moreover, he was
equally trusted by the Quakers, and was employed as counsel
by the celebrated William Penn. Hence he was pitched upon
by Oates and his accomplices as a leading character in their
plot against the Catholics. His case presented an instance of
‘extraordinary hardship, for he was one of the first victims of
the miscreants, who had him arrested on Oct. 7, 1678, and
committed to Newgate without any previous examination
before a magistrate or the Council. There he was kept for
more than eight months in solitary confinement and in com-
plete ignorance of every passing event. It was only the week
preceding his trial that he was called upon to plead for his life,
without any other knowledge of the facts to be charged against
him than he could hastily collect from the printed narratives
and the reports of his friends. On June 14, 1679, he was
brought to the bar at the Old Bailey, indicted with plotting the
murder of the king, the subversion of the Government and the
Established Church, and with other heinous offences. The
infamous perjurers, Oates, Dugdale, Bedloe, and Prance, were
the witnesses against him. The moment Langhorne appeared
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at the bar the infatuated crowd received him with hooting and
hisses ; his witnesses were abused, beaten, and intimidated ;
his objections to the credibility of the informers and his remarks
on the inconsistency of their evidence were overruled by the
Court ; and when the jury brought in their verdict of guilty by
direction of Lord Chief Justice Scroggs, it was received by the
audience with loud and repeated cheers. He was then con-
demned to death by the Recorder, after which, in the words of
the official report of the trial, there was very great acclamation.
But Shaftesbury’s schemes were not exhausted ; other arts
were employed to shake the condemned man’s constancy. He
received an offer of pardon, first, if he would confess himself
guilty, and then if he would make a discovery of the property
of the Jesuits with which he had become acquainted in his pro-
fessional capacity. To the last proposal he assented. His
books were restored to him, and from them he extracted a
statement which was forwarded to the king. But the amount,
a sum between twenty and thirty thousand pounds, fell short
of expectation. In a personal interview, Shaftesbury informed
him that this discovery was not thought of sufficient import-
ance to redeem his life; he must, in addition, disclose parti-
culars of a plot, and in return for that disclosure he should
receive any reward that he might ask. The honesty of Lang-
horne withstood the temptation, and he preferred to suffer the
death of a traitor, asserting his total ignorance of any conspiracy.
He was drawn on a hurdle from Newgate to Tyburn, and there
executed, July 14, 1679, aged about 44.

All writers unite in saying that the martyr was an upright
and religious Catholic. Bishop Burnet credits him with being
in every respect an extraordinary man, learned and honest in
his profession. It is, therefore, most probable, as it has been
suggested by Bro. Foley, S.J., that he had the consent of his
fellow-prisoner, Fr. Whitbread, the provincial of the Jesuits, to
the disclosure he made in regard to the property of the Society.
On the scaffold he delivered to the sheriff the speech which he
had prepared, containing an ample declaration of his allegiance
to the king ; a solemn profession of his innocency as to all the
charges against him ; a declaration that he died a member of
the Catholic Church, and that his religion was the sole cause
of the false charges through which he was adjudged to die.

It is noteworthy that Scroggs, the judge who condemned him,
VOL. IV. 1
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afterwards declared that he was convinced of his innocence,
for which he was taken to task by Oates and Bedloe.
Langhorne married Dorothy, daughter of Thomas Legatt,
of Havering, in Essex, Esq. She was a Protestant, and after
her husband’s martyrdom became the wife of Bernard Smith-
son. They had several children, Richard Langhorne, a
Catholic nonjuror, possessed of a fair estate at East Ham
Level, Essex, in 1717, who edited his father’s “Considera-
tions” in 1687, Charles, and Francis, The two last assumed
the name of Legatt at the English College at Madrid, whence
in 1677 they were sent to that at Valladolid, and there
ordained priests. Charles left the college for the Mission
Feb. 22, 1684 ; he wanted to have been permitted to enter
the Society. Francis left the college to return to London,
March 2, 1684. A daughter, Latitia Langhorne, of St.
Andrew’s, Holborn, was also a Catholic nonjuror in 1717.

Tryal, 1679 ; Smith, Account of the Behaviour; Burnet, Hist. of kis Own
Time, ed. 1724, 1. 230, 465 ; Dodd, Ch. Hist., iii. ; Challoner, Memoirs, ii. ;
Lingard, Hist. of Eng., ed. 1849, ix. 439 ; Foley, Records S.J., v.; Valla-
dolid Diary, MS. ; Harl. Soc., Visitations of Essex, Herts, and London;
Gibson, Crosby Records; 11tk Report Hist. MS. Com., pt. vil. 17.

1. Considerations Touching the Great Question of the King’s
Right in dispensing with the Penal Laws; written on the occa-
sion of his late Blessed Majesty’s granting the Free Toleration
and Indulgence. Lond,, 1687, folio, ded. to James I1., and edited by the
author’s son Richard.

Langhorne was employed to write this in defence of the declaration pub-
lished by Charles II., March 15, 1672, that “all manner of penal laws in
matters ecclesiastical, against whatsoever sort of nonconformists or recu-
sants, should be from that day suspended.” This declaration absolved
Catholics from prosecution for assembling for worship in their own houses.
The work was published in support of the two successive proclamations of
James I1., in 1687, granting full toleration of conscience.

2. A particular of all such estates as well reall as personall as
I do any ways know to be belonging unto the Jesuits within his
Majesty’s dominions. Humbly offered to his Majesty, in obedi-
ence to his Majesty’s order made in Councill on Friday ye seaven
and twentieth of June now past. MS., 1679, endorsed “ Mr. Lang-
horne’s discovery of Jesuits’ means,” in the Archives de PEtat, Brussels,
Carton, Varia, S.].

3. “ The Tryall of Richard Langhorn, Esq., Counsellor at Law : For Con-
spiring the Death of the King, subversion of the Government, and Protestant
Religion. Who upon Full Evidence was found Guilty of High Treason, and
received Sentence accordingly, at the Sessions in the Old Bayley, holden for
London and Middlesex, on Saturday, being the 14th of June, 1679. Pub-
lished by Authority.” Lond., 1679, folio, pp. 68 besides title.
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In “An Account of the Behaviour of the Fourteen late Popish Malefac-
tors,” by S. Smith, the ordinary of Newgate, vzde R. Green, No. 1, vol. iii.
p. 26, will be found the chaplain’s conference with Mr. Langhorne, and his
own ridiculous reflections.

4. The Speech of Richard Langhorne at his execution, July 14,
1679. Being left in writing by him under his own hand. (Lond.,
1679), fol.

He delivered it to the sheriff on the scaffold desiring that it might be pub-
lished. It was edited by a clergyman who attended at the execution. It
elicited “An Answer to Mr. Langhorne’s Speech, wherein he asserts his
loyalty and innocence contrary to plain evidence against him in open court,
the verdict of an impartial jury, and the declared sense of the late Parlia-
ment in relation to the late horrible Popish Plot.” (Lond. 1680°?) fol.

“ Harangue de . . . . 'Advocat R. Langhorne devant son exécution, &c.”
Paris (1679 ?), 4to.

“An Account of the Deportment and Last Wordsof . . . . R. Langhorne,
who was . . . . hanged . . .. at Tyburn for High Treason, July 14, 1679.”
Lond., 1679, fol.

‘“ The Confession and Execution of . . . . R. Langhorne . . . . who was
executed . . . . the 14th of this instant July, 1679,” &c. . . . . Lond,, 1679,
fol., without title-page.

5. Mr. Langhorne’s Memoires, with some Meditations and De-
votions of his during his imprisonment ; as also his petition to
his Majesty, and his speech at his execution. ILond., 1679, fol.

Bishop Burnet says that the martyr employed the time of his brief respite
in writing “ some very devout and well composed meditations.”

His ““ Amorous Ejaculations,” profession of his faith and innocence at the
place of execution, &c., were published by Dom J. M. Corker, O.S.B., in his
‘“ Remonstrance of Piety,” Lond., 1683, 12mo, pp. 51-75 and 102.

“ The Petition and Declaration of Richard Langhorne, a notorious Papist,
now in Newgate condemned for treason, presented to His Majesty in Coun-
cil . ... in which he avowedly owneth several Popish principles,” &c.,
Lond., 1679, fol.

6. Letters, &c., in the Add. MSS,, Brit. Mus,, to Lord Hatton, 1664,
1678, and to Dr. J. Lovel, 1670. Also to him from E. Woodroofe and others,
1664~1676, from Thomas Laurence to him and Lord Hatton, &c. There is
also a MS. by him at St. Gregory’s Monastery, Downside, on Ecclesiastical
History.

7. Portrait, in mezzotint, engr. by E. Lutterel, reproduced in Richard-
son’s “ Collection of Portraits in illustration of Granger,” vol. ii.

Langley, Richard, layman, venerable martyr, said to be
born at Grimthorpe, was the representative of an ancient and
wealthy Yorkshire family, being the son of Richard Langley,
of Rathorpe Hall, in Walton, Esq. Mr. Langley probably
inherited Rathorpe, but resided chiefly on his estate at Ouse-
thorpe, in the East Riding. He married Agnes, daughter of
Richard Hansby, of New Malton, co. York, Esq., and had a
son, Christopher, born in 1565, and four daughters.



132 BIBLIOGRAPHICAL DICTIONARY [LAN.

Mr. Langley was a man of large soul and remarkable piety,
and devoted his fortune to the succour of priests. IHe main-
tained two houses, distant about a mile from each other, one
of them, as already stated, being at Ousethorpe, and the other
at Grimthorpe. Perhaps the latter is the one alluded to in an
ancient manuscript, which says that “he built a very well
hidden house underground, which was a great place for priests
during the persecution.” This refuge was betrayed by a certain
Catholic, and the Lord President of the North, on the evening
of the Feast of SS. Simon and Jude, Oct. 28, 1586, despatched
a strong band of soldiers with their officers to invest and search
the two houses. They were accompanied by several justices,
Gates, Vaughan, and Bethell, and many fanatical ministers,
including the licentious Archdeacon .Ramsden and Henry
Wright. Two very learned priests, John Mush and Mr.
Johnson, were seized, apparently in the house at Grimthorpe,
and their host himself in the other house at Ousethorpe.
They were all carried to York, and committed to the castle by
the Lord President. At the following gaol delivery the three
prisoners were arraigned, the two priests on account of their
sacred office, and Mr. Langley for harbouring them. When
brought into court Mr. Langley threw himself upon his knees,
and begged a blessing from a priest named Alexander Crow
who was arraigned at the same time. At the bar he was
attacked with raillery and abuse, to which he replied that he
would never repent the relief he had given to priests, for they
were messengers sent by God, but he did regret that he had
not done more for them, and thanked God that he had the
opportunity to die for so good a cause. While he considered
his actions pleasing to God, he could not admit that he had
thereby done an injury to the queen. His firm attitude, and
his refusal to take the oath of the queen’s ecclesiastical
supremacy, or to curry favour with either the Lord President
or the Privy Council, was exceedingly irritating to the Earl and
those sitting with him on the bench. A jury had been
empanelled of honest neighbours of Mr. Langley, and it was
feared they would deal justly with him, for he stood in great
estimation and credit in the county as a most virtuous man, of
proven honesty, wisdom, and sobriety. This jury was therefore
discharged, and replaced with another, composed of such as
would do what was desired, and so Mr. Langley was con-
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demned to death, without any evidence being produced to the
fact of the persons taken in his house being seminary priests,
or that he knew them to be such. It is said that the Earl of
Huntingdon, the tyrannical Lord President of the North, gave
Mr. Langley’s brother Thomas a written assurance that the
martyr should be reprieved till the following Lent assizes, but
deceitfully gave instructions underhand that he should be
éxecuted without delay.

During the whole time of his imprisonment, the martyr was
so joyful that many were filled with wonder, for he had always
been shy at home. His manners were so pleasing that he
even won the friendship of the gaoler; who, in spite of his
being a malicious heretic, could scarcely refrain from tears when
his prisoner was led away. At the place of execution the
venerable martyr displayed such alacrity as to go to the
scaffold even before the sheriff, as if he were a bridegroom
going to his nuptials. And so he was hanged at York, Dec. 1,
1586.

The Lord President and judges had been so irritated by his
answers in court that they declined to favour the martyr with
an honourable burial, though his friends begged hard for it.
Permission was even refused for his corpse to be wrapped in
the linen shroud which he himself had prepared, and after his
body had been thrown into the pit, the bodies. of ten thieves
were cast over him.

His daughter Isabel married William Forster, of Earswick,
co. York, gent. Both she and her hushand fled from their
home upon the apprehension of her father, but she was shortly
afterwards apprehended, and died in prison Dec. 3, 1587, as
related in her life. The martyr’s son, Christopher Langley,
resided at Millington, and married Ursula, daughter of John
Rudston, of Hayton, gent. (who afterwards became the wife of
Marmaduke Dolman) by whom he left a son and heir Richard.

Challoner, Memoirs, i.; Morris, Troubles, 3rd Series; Foster, Visit. of
Yorks ; Dodd, Ch. Hist., ii. 172 ; Pollen, Acts of Eng. Mar.

Langley, William, controversialist, a respectable Catholic
at Bromsgrove, near Birmingham, and a wheelwright by trade,
had several controversies with dissenting ministers and others,
in which he was considerably assisted by the Rev. Edward
Peach, of Birmingham, and also corresponded with the 77ut/-
teller and other periodicals.
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Husenbeth, Memoirs of Parkers, MS., ii. 9.

1. A Letter to the Hon. Mr. Whitbread, M.P., in justification of
the Roman Catholic Church. To which is prefixed an Intro-
ductory Address to the Public. Lond. [1814], 8vo.

2. Letters on Religious Subjects, between a Dissenting Minister,
in Birmingham, and a Roman Catholic. Lond. 1816, sm. 8vo,
pp. v.—3-66, dated Bromsgrove, Sept. 2, 1814, to Dec. 25, 1815, all signed
William Langley.

Out of this controversy arose another correspondence between the Rev.
Edw. Peach and a Baptist, on infant baptism and original sin.

3. Remarks on the Rt. Hon. the Earl of Shrewsbury’s Reasons
for not taking the Test,commonly called the Declaration against
Popery, in a Letter, respectfully addressed to his Lordship, by
Mr. William Langley. Lond., 1828, 12mo.

4. Letters to W. E. Andrews’ Zruthteller, vols. ii. 797, &c., iv. 16, 84,
153, &c. &c.

Lanquet, Thomas, chronicler, born 1521, studied at
Oxford, but in what college was unknown to Wood. He was
an assiduous student of ancient history, and was possessed of
promising abilities, but unfortunately he was prematurely
carried off in 1545, aged 24.

Pritts, De Illus. Angl. Script., 733 3 Wood, Athene Oxon. .

1. The Conquest of Boulogne, referred to by Wood, but of which
nothing further is known.

2. The Epitome of Cronicles, conteining the whole Discourse
of the Histories as well of this Realme of England, as all other
countries, . . . . gathered out of most probable auctors, fyrst, by
T. L., from the beginnyng of the World to the Incarnation of
Christ, and now finished and continued to the reigne of . ...
Kynge Edwarde the Sixt by Thomas Cooper, Anno MDLXIX
[sic]. Lond., T. Berthelet, 1549, 4to, B. L. ; 7&. 1554, 4to.

It is divided into three parts, the two first having been finished by
Lanquet, who was proceeding with the third at the time of his death.
Cooper, successively Bishop of Lincoln and Winchester, undertook to finish
it, and his third part contains thrice as much as the others. In 1559,
greatly to Cooper’s annoyance, Robert Crowley surreptitiously edited the
work with additions under the title of “Lanquet's Chronicles,” 4to. In
1560 the former editor republished the work under the general title of
‘“ Cooper’s Chronicle,” with the running title of “ Lanquet’s Chronicle” on
the two first parts, and “ The Epitome of Chronicles,” to the death of Queen
Mary, on the third part ; and augmented to the 7th Eliz., Lond., 1565, 4to ;
continued to the reign of Edward VI., Lond., 1569, 4to.

Larke, John, D.D., priest and martyr, beatified by papal
decree of Dec. 29, 1886, was presented to the rectory of
Chelsea, on his resignation of that of Woodford, in Essex, by
Sir Thomas More, Lord-Chancellor, by virtue of a grant of the
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next advowson thereof from the abbot and convent of West-
minster, and was instituted March 29, 1530. He was on
most intimnate terms with his patron, Blessed Thomas More,
who frequently served his Mass. Like nearly all the Chan-
cellor’'s more immediate friends and relations, the rector of
Chelsea experienced the relentless persecution of his Sovereign,
was at length brought to the scaffold for his refusal to acknow-
ledge the king’s spiritual supremacy, and suffered at Tyburn,
March 7, 1544.

Dodd, Ch. Hist., i. ; Martin, Stapletorn’s Histoire de T. More; Faulkner,
Hist. of Chelsea.

Larkin, Charles Fox, surgeon, born at Ravensworth, co.
Durham, in 1800, eldest son of Charles Larkin, an innkeeper,
who subsequently retired to Newcastle-on-Tyne, was sent in
1810 with his brother John to Ushaw College, Durham, to
study for the priesthood, but though distinguished for industry
and scholarlike aptitude, disclosed no vocation for the ecclesi-
astical state. Leaving the college, therefore, he commenced to
study surgery, and having passed his examinations gradually
obtained an extensive practice in Newcastle.

For some years he remained comparatively unknown, except
as an able, polished, and distinguished-looking doctor, but the
efforts of the bigots to defeat Catholic Emancipation drew him
to the front, when he at once asserted his position as a debater
and an orator, and, moreover, as a brilliant and trencha<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>